

CELLULAR REGULATION OF THE NOREPINEPHRINE TRANSPORTER

Anne Vuorenpää

TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA - ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS Sarja - ser. D osa - tom. 1336 | Medica - Odontologica | Turku 2018



Turun yliopisto University of Turku

CELLULAR REGULATION OF THE NOREPINEPHRINE TRANSPORTER

Anne Vuorenpää

University of Turku

Faculty of Medicine Institute of Biomedicine Department of Pharmacology, Drug Development and Therapeutics Drug Research Doctoral Program

Supervised by

Professor Mika Scheinin, MD, PhD Department of Pharmacology, Drug Development and Therapeutics University of Turku Turku, Finland Professor Ulrik Gether, MD Department of Neuroscience and Pharmacology University of Copenhagen Copenhagen, Denmark

Reviewed by

Docent Ulla Petäjä-Repo, PhD Research Unit of Biomedicine University of Oulu Oulu, Finland Docent Petteri Piepponen, PhD Faculty of Pharmacy, Division of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Dr. Volker Eulenburg, PhD Institute of Biochemistry, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Medicine Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nürnberg Erlangen, Germany

The originality of this thesis has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

ISBN 978-951-29-7130-5 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-7131-2 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 (Print) ISSN 2343-3213 (Online) Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2018

To Mikkel and Siiri

ABSTRACT

Anne Vuorenpää

Cellular regulation of the norepinephrine transporter

Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Pharmacology, Drug Development and Therapeutics, Drug Research Doctoral Program, University of Turku, Turku, Finland

Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Turku, Finland 2018

The norepinephrine (NE) transporter (NET) mediates high-affinity uptake of the neurotransmitter NE in central and peripheral noradrenergic neurons. NET has a critical function in controlling the synaptic levels of NE and modulating several fundamental brain and body functions, including arousal, vigilance, attention, learning and autonomic functions. In this study, the cellular regulation of NET distribution, trafficking and function were investigated in sympathetic neurons, and compared to the related transporter of dopamine (DA), *i.e.* DAT, in neuronal cell models. In addition, a kinome-wide siRNA screen was conducted in heterologous cell models to investigate the possible roles of the regulatory kinases in the functions of NET, DAT and the serotonin transporter SERT.

NET was found to undergo marked constitutive internalization and sorting mainly to Rab 11 -positive recycling endosomes in sympathetic neurons. Direct comparison in neuronal cell models demonstrated that NET was sequestered from the plasma membrane to a significantly greater extent than DAT, and was subsequently largely recycled back to the plasma membrane, whereas internalized DAT was mainly targeted to degradation. The different trafficking itineraries of NET and DAT were found to be determined by non-conserved structural elements in the intracellular N-termini of the transporter proteins. The PDZ domain protein PICK1 was shown to associate with NET and to be important for stabilizing NET in the plasma membrane of noradrenergic neurons. RNA interference -mediated depletion of PICK1 reduced both total and surface-expressed NET and decreased NET uptake capacity, but had no effect on DAT that also binds PICK1. Furthermore, the results of the kinome-wide siRNA screen indicated that the functions of monoamine transporters are likely to be regulated by several kinases, such as the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)- dependent protein kinases, the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (Akt) and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK). In addition, protein kinase, X-Linked (PrKX) was identified as a novel kinase possible involved in the regulation of monoamine transporter function.

Keywords: transporter, norepinephrine, dopamine, serotonin, internalization, postendocytic sorting, trafficking, PICK1, PDZ domain, kinase, siRNA screen

TIIVISTELMÄ

Anne Vuorenpää

Noradrenaliinin kuljetusproteiinin säätely soluissa

Biolääketieteen laitos, Farmakologia, lääkekehitys ja lääkehoito, Lääketutkimuksen tohtoriohjelma, Turun yliopisto, Turku

Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Turku, Suomi 2018

Noradrenaliinin kuljetusproteiini (NET) vastaa hermovälittäjä-aineena toimivan noradrenaliinin takaisinotosta hermopäätteeseen keskushermostossa ja sympaattisissa hermosoluissa. NET:lla on täten tärkeänä tehtävänä säädellä noradrenaliinin pitoisuutta hermovälitilassa ja osallistua useiden keskeisten aivo- ja elintoimintojen, kuten tarkkaavaisuuden, vireystason, oppimisen ja autonomisen hermoston toimintojen säätelyyn. Tämän väitöskirjan tavoitteena oli selvittää NET:n säätelyä solu- ja molekyylitasolla noradrenergisissa hermosoluissa, ja verrata NET:n säätelymekanismeja vastaavaan dopamiinin kuljetunproteiiniin, DAT:in, hermosolumalleissa. Lisäksi ihmisen kinomin kattavalla geneettisellä seulonnalla pyrittiin tunnistamaan proteiinikinaasien vaikutuksia NET:n, DAT:n ja serotoniinin kuljetusproteiinin, SERT:in, toimintaan.

Sympaattisten hermosolujen solukalvolta NET:n osoitettiin internalisoituvan jatkuvasti solun sisäisiin kuljetusrakkuloihin, minkä jälkeen NET:n osoitettiin ohjautuvan lähinnä Rab11-positiivisiin kierrätysrakkuloihin. Hermosolumalleissa osoitettiin että NET internalisoituu solukalvolta huomattavasti suuremmassa määrin kuin DAT, ja että NET lajitellaan kierrätysrakkuloihin toisin kun DAT, joka ohjataan internalisoitumisen jälkeen lähinnä lysosomeihin hajotettavaksi. NET:n ja DAT:n erot soluliikennöinnissä osoitettiin riippuvan kuljetusproteiinien aminoterminaalisien osien eroista. Sympaattisissa hermosoluissa PDZ-rakenneyksikön sisältävä ankkurointiproteiini PICK1 paikantui yhdessä NET:n kanssa hermosolupäätteisiin, ja PICK1:n osoitettiin vakauttavan NET:n ilmentymiseen solukalvolla. PICK1:n ilmentymisen heikentäminen vähensi NET:n ilmentymistä ja toimintaa, mutta ei vaikuttanut DAT:iin, jonka on myös osoitettu sitoutuvan PICK1:en, ilmentymiseen. Lisäksi koko ihmisen kinomin kattava siRNA-seulonta osoitti, että monoamiinien kuljetusproteiinien ilmentymistä ja toimintaa solukalvolla säätelevät useat proteiinikinaasit, kuten syklisestä adenosiinimonofosfaatista (cAMP) riippuvaiset proteiinikinaasit, fosfoinositidi-3kinaasi (PI3K)/proteiini kinaasi B (Akt) ja mitogeeniaktivoitu proteiinikinaasi (MAPK). X-kromosomiin liitoksissa oleva proteiinikinaasi (PrKx) tunnistettiin uutena kinaasina, joka oletettavasti osallistuu monoaminiinien kuljetusproteiinien toiminnan säätelyyn.

Avainsanat: kuljetusproteiini, noradrenaliini, dopamiini, serotoniini, soluliikennöinti, internalisaatio, PICK1, kinaasi, siRNA seulonta

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A	BSTF	RACT		4	
Tl	IVIS	TELM	Ä	5	
٨		Γνιλτ	IONS	0	
A.	DDRI				
Ll	ST C	F ORIG	GINAL PUBLICATIONS	11	
1	INT	RODU	CTION	12	
2	REV	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE			
	2.1	2.1 Fundamental discoveries in noradrenergic neurotransmission			
	2.2	Norad	renergic pathways in the central nervous system	14	
		2.2.1	Noradrenergic cell bodies	15	
		2.2.2	Efferent projections	16	
		2.2.3	Afferent projections	17	
	2.3	Norad	renergic neurons in the sympathetic nervous system	17	
	2.4	2.4 Noradrenergic neurotransmission			
		2.4.1	Norepinephrine biosynthesis and storage	19	
		2.4.2	Neuronal firing and NE release		
		2.4.3	Pre- and postsynaptic receptors and reuptake	22	
	2.5	Norep	inephrine transporter (NET)		
		2.5.1	Physiological importance of NET		
		2.5.2	NET gene structure		
		2.5.3	NET localization in vivo		
		2.5.4	NET protein structure		
		2.5.5	Mechanism of transport		
		2.5.6	NET substrates and inhibitors		
	2.6	Cellular regulation of NET			
		2.6.1	NET gene expression and biosynthetic pathway		
		2.6.2	Lipid rafts		
		2.6.3	Constitutive internalization of NET		
		2.6.4	Stimulated internalization of NET		
		2.6.5	Scaffolding of NET		
	2.7	NET a	nd human diseases		

3	AIM	IS OF T	HE STUDY	41
4	MATERIALS AND METHODS			
	4.1 Outline of studies			42
	4.2 Molecular biology		ılar biology	42
		4.2.1	Plasmids and DNA cloning	42
		4.2.2	siRNAs and shRNAs	43
	4.3	Thiazo	lyl blue tetrazolium bromide assay	44
	4.4 Primary antibodies		44	
	4.5	5 Fluorescence polarization assay		44
	4.6	Cell lines and primary cells		45
		4.6.1	Cell cultures and transfections	45
		4.6.2	Dissociated sympathetic neurons in culture	45
	4.7	Lentivi	rus production and transduction	46
	4.8	Anima	ls	46
	4.9	Analys	is of monoamine transporter function	46
	4.10	Analys	is of NET localization	47
		4.10.1	Immunofluorescent labeling and confocal microscopy	47
		4.10.2	Surface ELISA	48
		4.10.3	Surface biotinylation	48
	4.11	Analys	is of NET trafficking	48
		4.11.1	JHC 1-64 live cell imaging	48
		4.11.2	Antibody feeding assay (internalization assay)	49
		4.11.3	Reversible biotinylation assay (internalization assay)	49
	4.12 Quantification of mRNA and protein levels			50
		4.12.1	qPCR analysis	50
		4.12.2	Western blot analysis	50
	4.13	Data a	nalysis	51
5	RES	ULTS		52
	5.1 NET trafficking			
		5.1.1	Motivation	
		5.1.2	Fluorescent cocaine analogue JHC 1-64	
		5.1.3	Constitutive internalization and postendocytic fate of NET	54
		5.1.4	Distinct trafficking properties of NET and DAT	55
		5.1.5	Role of N-termini for NET and DAT trafficking properties	
	5.2	Kinom	e-wide RNAi screen	
		5.2.1	Motivation	
		5.2.2	Primary, secondary and tertiary siRNA screens	

		5.2.3	Validation the effect of SIK3 and PrKX knock-down on	
			monoaminetransporter function in catecholaminergic cell lines	59
	5.3	Regulation of NET function by scaffolding protein PICK1		60
		5.3.1	Motivation	60
		5.3.2	NET expression and function in PICK1 KO mice	60
		5.3.3	PICK1 mediated plasma membrane stabilization of NET	61
		5.3.4	Differential regulation of NET and DAT by PICK1	62
6	DISCUSSION			
	6.1	6.1 Surface distribution and trafficking of NET		64
	6.2	2 Differential trafficking itineraries of NET and DAT		
	6.3 Protein kinases mediate regulation of monoamine transporter funct		n kinases mediate regulation of monoamine transporter function an	d
		surface	e distribution	65
	6.4	PICK1	mediated regulation of NET function	66
	6.5	Methodological considerations		68
		6.5.1	Cell models	68
		6.5.2	JHC 1-64	69
		6.5.3	RNAi screen	69
7	COl	NCLUS	IONS	72
A	CKN	OWLEI	DGEMENTS	73
RI	EFER	ENCES	5	75
0]	RIGI	NAL PI	JBLICATIONS	89

ABBREVIATIONS

ADHD	attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
Akt	serine-threonine protein kinase encoded by the Akt proto-oncogene
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CAD	CATH.a. differentiated cell line
CaMKII	Ca ²⁺ /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
CRE	cAMP response element
CNS	central nervous system
C-terminus	carboxyl-terminus
DA	dopamine
DβH	dopamine-beta-hydroxylase
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPI	epinephrine
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	extracellular stimulus-regulated kinase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FP	fluorescence polarization
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
G protein	guanine nucleotide binding protein
HA	hemagglutinin
HEK 293	human embryonal kidney cell line
Hic5	hydrogen peroxide-inducible clone-5
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
hNET-Ex15L	long form of the C terminal hNET splice variants
hNET-Ex15S	short form of the C terminal hNET splice variants
5-HT	serotonin
HS	horse serum
KD	knock-down
KO	knock-out
LC	locus coeruleus
LDCV	large dense core vesicle
LeuT	leucine transporter
LSM	laser-scanning microscope

L-dopa	L-dihydroxyphenylalanine
MAPK	mitogen activated protein kinase
MEK	MAP/ERK kinase
NE	norepinephrine
NRI	norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor
NSS	neurotransmitter:sodium symporter
N-terminus	amino-terminus
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PC12	rat pheochromocytoma cell line
PDZ	postsynaptic density protein 95 (PSD-95)/ Discs large homolog 1 (Discs
	large)/ Zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1)
PICK1	protein interacting with C kinase 1
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
ΡΚΑ C-α	cAMP-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit alpha
РКС	protein kinase C
PMA	phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
PrKX	protein kinase X-linked
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction
SCG	superior cervical ganglion
SEM	standard error of mean
shRNA	small hairpin ribonucleic acid
siRNA	small interfering ribonucleic acid
SIK3	salt-inducible kinase 3
SLC6	solute carrier family 6
SNARE	soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive attachment factor receptor
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
TH	tyrosine hydroxylase
TMD	transmembrane domain
VMAT2	vesicular monoamine transporter 2
WT	wild-type

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I Vuorenpää A, Jørgensen TN, Newman AH, Madsen KL, Scheinin M & Gether U. Differential internalization rates and postendocytic sorting of the norepinephrine and dopamine transporters are controlled by structural elements in the N termini. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 2016; 291:5634–51.
- **II** Vuorenpää A*, Ammendrup-Johnsen I*, Jørgensen TN & Gether U. A kinome wide screen identifies novel kinases involved in regulation of monoamine transporter function. Neurochemistry International 2016; 98:103-14.
- **III** Vuorenpää A, Newman AH, Scheinin M, Madsen KL & Gether U. The PDZ domain scaffolding protein PICK1 promotes surface availability and function of the norepinephrine transporter. Manuscript.

* Equal contribution.

The original publications (I-II) have been reproduced with the kind permission of the copyright holders.

1 INTRODUCTION

The catecholamine norepinephrine (NE) is an important neurotransmitter in the central and peripheral nervous systems that plays modulatory roles in several fundamental brain functions, including arousal, vigilance, attention, learning and autonomic functions. The norepinephrine transporter (NET) expressed in central noradrenergic neurons and peripheral sympathetic neurons mediates high-affinity reuptake of synaptically released NE and is the primary determinant of synaptic NE levels (Iversen, 1971; Pacholczyk et al., 1991). The significance of NET in noradrenergic homeostasis and normal physiology has been evidenced by studies on NET knock-out (KO) mice and patients with genetic defects in the gene encoding NET. Deletion of the NET gene in mice enhances extracellular NE levels, reduces tissue NE content and alters midbrain dopaminergic homeostasis. These neurochemical changes are accompanied with reduced behavioral despair and increased responsiveness to psychostimulants (Xu, 2000). Mutations of the human NET gene (SLC6A2) have been implicated in cardiovascular diseases and in some disorders of mood and cognition (Shannon et al., 2000; Kim et al., 2006). NET is targeted by therapeutic agents used in the management of depression and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), as well as by substances of abuse, such as cocaine and amphetamine.

Given the critical role of NET in noradrenergic homeostasis, cellular mechanisms regulating the plasma membrane availability or functioning of NET are likely to have impacts on physiology and behavior. The amount of functional NET present in the plasma membrane is variable and is tightly controlled to sustain NE homeostasis (Torres et al., 2003a), but the underlying molecular and cellular mechanisms are poorly understood. Several mechanisms have been suggested to regulate NET distribution, including protein kinase C (PKC) whose activation, e.g. by G_q -coupled muscarinic acetylcholine receptors, can increase NET internalization and reduce NE transport capacity (Apparsundaram et al., 1998a; Apparsundaram et al., 1998b; Jayanthi et al., 2004). Better understanding of the processes regulating the functioning and subcellular location of NET could provide a critical framework for deciphering the precise role of NET in neurotransmitter homeostasis and how this might be altered in diseased states.

The present series of studies was designed to characterize different aspects of the cellular regulation of NET distribution and function in neuronal cell models. Since NET is closely related to the corresponding transporter for dopamine, DAT, neuronal cell models were employed to directly compare the cellular regulatory mechanisms of the two transporters. Furthermore, the involvement of the entire ensemble of kinases in the regulation of monoamine transporter function was investigated with a kinome-wide siRNA screen. The research aimed to improve our understanding of the cellular regulation of noradrenergic signalling in the intact brain and entire organism, both in

physiological conditions and in different disease states, such as in depression, ADHD and anxiety disorders. Increased understanding of the cellular regulation of NET may ultimately be beneficial for the design and development of improved therapeutic agents.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Fundamental discoveries in noradrenergic neurotransmission

The nervous system consists of functionally and structurally distinct cell types, each of which is engaged in multiple cellular interactions to generate neuronal networks that process information. The concept that individual neuronal cells are the fundamental units of the brain (Ramón y Cajal, 1889) and that neuronal cells communicate with each other via chemical neurotransmission (Elliot, 1904) were first introduced at the turn of 20th century. Moreover, Langley proposed in 1905 that the "receptive substances" were the sites of actions for the chemical mediators released by nerve stimulation. In 1921 Dale and Loewi demonstrated that catecholamines released by sympathetic nerve endings transmit the effects of sympathetic stimulation to the effector organs. Several decades later, NE was identified as the physiological neurotransmitter of sympathetic nerves in mammals (von Euler, 1946) and the actions of NE on postsynaptic sites were suggested to be mediated by two types of adrenergic receptors, α and β (Ahlquist, 1948). Furthermore, Axelrod demonstrated in 1961 that intravenous administration of radioactively labeled NE resulted in selective accumulation of the neurotransmitter in the sympathetic nerve terminals innervating different organs. Thus, Axelrod postulated that following synaptic release, NE is recaptured by pre-synaptic nerve endings and recycled for later release. The early discoveries by Ahlquist, Axelrod and their colleagues, defining the essential processes in noradrenergic neurotransmission, have been the foundation for characterization of the fundamental concept of neurotransmitter actions and reuptake, which have led to the discovery of therapeutic treatments for several neuropsychiatric disorders (for review see e.g. (Iversen, 1971; Ruffolo and Hieble, 1994; Rubin, 2007).

2.2 Noradrenergic pathways in the central nervous system

The noradrenergic pathways in the central nervous system consist of NE synthesizing neurons and their fiber projections (Figure 1). The noradrenergic neurons are clustered in distinct nuclei in the lower brainstem, at the level of the pons and medulla oblongata. Noradrenergic neurons receive input from and send output to almost all parts of the brain and spinal cord (Cedarbaum and Aghajanian, 1978; Aston-Jones et al., 1991; Luppi et al., 1995; Robertson et al., 2013; Szabadi, 2013). Given the extensive anatomical distribution of the noradrenergic projections, it is not surprising that the noradrenergic system of the brain plays modulatory roles in virtually every aspect of brain function. NE has been shown to be involved in the regulation of cognition (Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977; Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005; Sara, 2009), arousal (Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005), attention and sleep-wake cycles (Roussel et al., 1967; Hobson et al., 1975; Aston-Jones et al., 1999; Arnsten and Li, 2005; Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005), stress (Benarroch, 2009), memory formation (Cahill and McGaugh, 1996), emotions, synaptic plasticity (Harley, 2007), sensory processing

(Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003), cardiovascular function (Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977) and neuroendocrine signaling (Simonneaux and Ribelayga, 2003).

2.2.1 Noradrenergic cell bodies

All noradrenergic cell bodies are located in the brainstem, clustered in seven cell groups, A1-A7 in the nomenclature of catecholaminergic cell groups (Hokfelt et al., 1984), based on the original designations described by Dahlström and Fuxe (Dahlstrom and Fuxe, 1964) (Figure 1). Anatomically, NE neurons can be divided into the pontine coerulear group, formed by the locus coeruleus (LC; A6) and subcoeruleus (A4), and to the lateral tegmental group, consisting of the A1, A2, A3, A5 and A7 neuron groups distributed as a series of loosely organized cell groups in the hindbrain (Moore and Bloom, 1979). Although the organization of the noradrenergic nuclei is conserved across different mammalian species, there are some species differences e.g. in the distribution and number of NE neurons within the nuclei (Grzanna and Molliver, 1980; Kemper et al., 1987).

It is well established that noradrenergic neurons of the brain are heterogeneous in terms of their morphology, electrophysiological properties, projectional organization, and molecular characteristics, such as patterns of gene expression (Gonzalez and Smeets, 1991; Grzanna and Fritschy, 1991; Guyenet, 1991; Robertson et al., 2013; Chandler et al., 2014). The largest and best known cluster of noradrenergic neurons in the central nervous system (CNS) is the LC. The LC is located near the lateral floor of the fourth ventricle at the level of the rostal pons and provides the principal source of noradrenergic innervations in the brain (Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977; Foote et al., 1983; Szabadi, 2013). The LC was originally characterized with Nissl staining (Russell, 1955) and later by formaldehyde-induced fluorescence (Dahlstrom and Fuxe, 1964), whereas immunohistochemical visualization of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) (Pickel et al., 1975a) and dopamine- β -hydroxylase (D β H) (Swanson and Hartman, 1975) are nowadays the most commonly used methods to identify the perikarya of noradrenergic neurons. The total number of noradrenergic neurons in the human LC (unilaterally) is estimated to be 60 000, and in the rat LC (unilaterally) approximately 1600. The LC of rats has been estimated to extend 900 µm rostro-caudally and to occupy a volume of approximately 0.8 mm³ (Swanson, 1976). The LC can be divided into a dorsal main component (LCd) containing mainly tightly packed fusiform cells, and a contiguous smaller ventral portion (LCv) containing primarily larger multipolar cells (Descarries and Saucier, 1972; Ross et al., 1975; Swanson, 1976). Delimitation of the subcoerulear area varies and in the simplest, it can be defined as the pontine noradrenergic cells that are immediately antero-ventral to the LC based on traditional Nissl staining (Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977). The pontine coerulear noradrenergic neurons are generally characterized by complex neuropil and high content of neuromelanin (Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977).

2.2.2 Efferent projections

The noradrenergic projections stemming from the LC innervate virtually all brain regions (Figure 1) and provide the bulk of NE to the entire neuraxis (Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977; Foote and Morrison, 1987; Grzanna and Fritschy, 1991; Aston-Jones, 1995). Various innervation mapping techniques, including retrograde tracing analysis and autoradiographic studies of receptor expression, have shown that the brain regions receiving noradrenergic inputs from the LC include the olfactory bulb, cerebral cortex, basal forebrain, hippocampus, hypothalamus, thalamus, amyglada, cerebellum, brainstem and spinal cord. The axonal projections originating from the LC can be divided into three major pathways: the ascending pathway (dorsal noradrenergic bundle), the cerebellar pathway and the descending pathway (Moore and Bloom, 1979). The main noradrenergic projection, the dorsal noradrenergic bundle, innervates structures in the midbrain (i.e. periaqueductal grey and dorsal raphe nucleus), thalamus, limbic system (i.e. amygdala, hippocampus, cingulate cortex and parahippocampal gyrus), and all areas of the cerebral cortex (Swanson and Hartman, 1975). The cerebellar pathway projects to the cerebellar nuclei and the cerebellar cortex, and the descending pathway sends projections to the lower brainstem and to the spinal cord (Figure 1).

The density of noradrenergic terminals varies in the target regions and the specific distributions of the projections within some of the target regions remain unclear. For example, in the rat cerebellar cortex, noradrenergic projections from the LC have been shown to target mainly the granular and molecular cell layers (Hokfelt and Fuxe, 1969), whereas some reports identify the Purkinje cells as the main targets of LC noradrenergic innervations in the cerebellar cortex (Hoffer et al., 1971; Schwarz et al., 2015). Due to extensive bifurcation and branching, an individual LC noradrenergic neuron can have ipsi- and bilateral projections to several brain regions (Ungerstedt, 1971). Thus, a single LC neuron can exert simultaneous influences on diverse target regions of the brain (Nakamura and Iwama, 1975), indicating that LC-NE neurons can integrate the activity of functionally different brain regions.

The projections from the lateral tegmental noradrenergic cell group can be divided into ascending and descending pathways. The ascending fiber system (also called the ventral noradrenergic bundle) innervates the midbrain reticular formation, the entire hypothalamus and parts of the limbic cortex. The descending projections from the non-coerulear NE nuclei form two bulbospinal bundles that terminate in the spinal cord (Szabadi, 2013). Thus, many of the brain regions receiving the LC-NE innervation are also targeted by non-coerulear NE neurons (Grzanna and Fritschy, 1991).



Figure 1. A schematic representation of the LC projections in the sagittal plane of a monkey brain. The illustration shows the noradrenergic A6 cell group located in the pons and its efferent projections throughout the central nervous system. Modified from Aston-Jones, G and Cohen, JD. 2005.

2.2.3 Afferent projections

The activity of brainstem noradrenergic neurons is regulated by afferent projections to their neuronal somata and dendrites. Many neurotransmitter receptors are expressed on the cell membranes of noradrenergic neurons and have been shown to regulate their firing or neurotransmitter release (Aston-Jones et al., 1991). Results of retrograde tracing studies indicate that neurons innervating noradrenergic neurons originate from wide regions of the brain, including the cerebellum, forebrain, hypothalamus, ventrolateral medulla, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, central nucleus of the amygdala and the spinal cord (Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977; Cedarbaum and Aghajanian, 1978; Clavier and Hinkley, 1978). Thus, noradrenergic neurons have been shown to receive reciprocal inputs from several brain regions (Conrad et al., 1974; Amaral and Sinnamon, 1977). The reciprocal arrangement of the NE systems in the brain was recently supported by the "tracing the relationship between input and output" (TRIO) method using viral-genetic tools, which also supported that LC noradrenergic neurons mostly receive inputs from the same brain regions where they send projections (Schwarz et al., 2015).

2.3 Noradrenergic neurons in the sympathetic nervous system

Outside of the CNS, NE is synthesized and released from postganglionic neurons of the sympathetic nervous system. The peripheral noradrenergic neurons cluster in the sympathetic ganglia located next to the spinal column and contain long axonal fibers that arborize extensively to create dense terminal networks that innervate smooth muscle and gland cells throughout the body. In addition, NE and epinephrine (EPI) are synthesized and released from the chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla, from where the catecholamines are released into the circulation. The sympathetic noradrenergic neurons transmit the body's fight-or-flight responses and maintain tissue homeostasis (Brodal, 2004).

The superior cervical ganglia (SCG) are clusters of NE synthesizing and releasing neurons located at the level of the second and third cervical vertebrae. The afferent sympathetic projections originating from SCG neurons innervate organs in the head, such as the pineal, lacrimal, salivary and thyroid glands as well as the blood vessels of the cranial muscles. The SCG projections, like other sympathetic noradrenergic fibers, contain axonal enlargements, "varicosities" and "boutons" that have the structure and function of presynaptic terminals, and conceivably represent presynaptic release and reuptake sites (Geffen and Livett, 1971; Livett, 1973; Matthies et al., 2009) (Figure 2). SCG neurons are commonly used as an experimental model of noradrenergic neurons (Schroeter et al., 2000; Savchenko et al., 2003; Brum et al., 2006; Matthies et al., 2009; Matthies et al., 2010).



Figure 2. Schematic representation of a typical sympathetic noradrenergic neuron with neuronal dimensions and estimated distribution of NE content. The norepinephrine transporter (NET) protein is synthesized in the neuronal soma and targeted to nerve terminals. Figure modified from (Geffen and Livett, 1971).

2.4 Noradrenergic neurotransmission

Neurotransmission allows the specific pairing of communicating cells in space and time and facilitates rapid responses to environmental stimuli (Mattson and Bruce-Keller, 1999). Noradrenergic neurotransmission follows the classical synaptic transduction paradigm that requires the synthesis of the neurotransmitter, its storage and transport, and its release upon stimulation from the presynaptic nerve terminal. The released neurotransmitter diffuses into the synaptic cleft (40 - 60 nm), interacts with post- and presynaptic receptors, and is subsequently removed from the synaptic cleft to restore the dynamics of neurotransmission. In addition to synaptic neurotransmission, NE is also released at sites that are distant from the synaptic cleft in a process called volume transmission (see chapter 2.4.2). The following sections will provide an outline of the different steps in noradrenergic neurotransmission.

2.4.1 Norepinephrine biosynthesis and storage

In both central and peripheral noradrenergic neurons, NE is synthesized from the amino acid tyrosine through three enzyme-catalyzed chemical reactions (Weiner, 1970; Axelrod, 1971) (Figure 3). Tyrosine, the common precursor of all three catecholamines, dopamine (DA), NE and EPI, is taken up from the circulation into catecholaminergic neurons and hydroxylated to form L-dihydroxyphenylalanine (Ldopa). This rate limiting step is catalyzed by the enzyme TH that is present in the catecholaminergic neurons of the brain, in sympathetic neurons and in the chromaffin cells of the adrenal glands. In the central noradrenergic neurons, TH is diffusely expressed in the perikaryon, whereas in the axonal and dendritic processes, its expression appears more compartmentalized (Pickel et al., 1975b; Pickel et al., 1975a). The activity of TH is controlled by post-translational modifications and through endproduct inhibition (Zigmond et al., 1989). The decarboxylation of L-dopa to DA is catalyzed by aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) present in the cytoplasm. DA is then rapidly taken up into synaptic vesicles via the actions of the H^+ -dependent vesicular monoamine transporter 2 (VMAT2) (Liu et al., 1992). In the synaptic vesicles of the noradrenergic and adrenergic neurons, DA is further converted to NE by DBH (Kaufman and Friedman, 1965) (Figure 3). In the central adrenergic neurons and in adrenal chromaffin cells, the synaptic vesicles also contain phenylethanolamine Nmethyltransferase (PNMT), which methylates NE to EPI. The NE-containing vesicles migrate down the efferent projections towards the axonal terminals (Dahlstrom and Haggendal, 1966; Geffen and Livett, 1971), providing a ready supply of NE available for release. The intravesicular concentration of NE in the presynaptic storage vesicles is estimated to be approximately 0.5 M (Geffen and Livett, 1971). Based on an estimation of the half-life of the synaptic vesicles (approximately 21 days) and the estimated turnover rate of NE (less than 24 h), it has been suggested that the synaptic vesicles may spontaneously leak NE into the cytoplasm and complement their NE content by reuptake and synthesis (Geffen and Livett, 1971).

Subcellular analyses of the proteins required for NE synthesis and storage (TH, D β H and VMAT2) have reported them to be localized in the membranes of both small synaptic vesicles (SSV; ø 40–60 nm) and large dense-core vesicles (LDCV; ø 80–120 nm) (Pickel et al., 1996). Furthermore, amperometric recordings of rat brainstem slice cultures have reported differential quantal sizes of the NE release events, i.e. small and large release spikes, suggesting that NE is stored and released from different vesicle populations (Chiti and Teschemacher, 2007). The frequency of the large release events was found to be lower than the frequency of the small release events, which could result from a limited pool size of the large vesicles and suggest that most NE is stored in small synaptic vesicles (Chiti and Teschemacher, 2007). In sympathetic neurons and in the chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla, NE is found within LDCVs as well as in small synaptic vesicles (De Potter et al., 1997). The LDCVs are found in the sympathetic cell body, dendrites and nerve terminals, and they undergo regulated exocytosis after stimulation (Kanner and Schuldiner, 1987).

Despite marked fluctuations in the activity of noradrenergic neurons, the tissue levels of NE remain remarkably stable. To a considerable extent, this is due to reuptake of synaptically released NE back into presynaptic neurons by the NE transporter (NET) and reincorporation of the transmitter into storage vesicles (Figure 3). However, long-lasting changes in the activity of noradrenergic neurons have been shown to affect the rate of NE biosynthesis. For example, prolonged stress has been shown to markedly increase the turnover of the NE pool in several tissues (Spector, 1966). Moreover, various drugs can modulate the biosynthesis and levels of endogenous catecholamines. For example, reserpine, an irreversible inhibitor of VMAT2 that was earlier used in the management of high blood pressure and for relief of psychotic symptoms, blocks the ability of the synaptic vesicles to concentrate monoamine neurotransmitters, resulting in profound catecholamine depletion (Henry and Scherman, 1989).

2.4.2 Neuronal firing and NE release

The noradrenergic neurons exhibit two main modes of firing, i.e. tonic firing, lasting seconds, minutes or even hours, and phasic firing, lasting a few hundred milliseconds. The basal, tonic activity of noradrenergic neurons provides the main bulk of synaptic NE in the different target regions (Foote et al., 1980; Williams et al., 1984; Alreja and Aghajanian, 1991). Intracellular recording studies of noradrenergic neurons in rat brainstem slices have identified the frequencies of these spontaneous action potentials to be between 1 and 5 Hz, depending on the age of the animals from which the slices were taken (Williams et al., 1984; Williams and Marshall, 1987).

Electrophysiological recordings from noradrenergic neurons in animals have shown clear changes in noradrenergic neuronal activity in response to environmental stimuli. During normal wakefulness, the noradrenergic neurons demonstrate regular, tonic firing, which is markedly decreased during sleep and is nearly absent during rapid eye movement (REM) sleep (Takahashi et al., 2010). The noradrenergic neurons exhibit phasic activation when animals are processing task-relevant stimuli, which is

associated with high levels of task performance (Aston-Jones et al., 1999; Bouret and Sara, 2004; Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005; Sara, 2009). The firing rate of noradrenergic neurons can markedly increase (high-tonic firing) in response to stressful or aversive stimuli, which has been associated with poor performance in tasks requiring focused attention and with increased distractibility (Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005; Gompf et al., 2010). Thus, the relationship of firing rate of noradrenergic neurons and performance in tasks follows an inverted U-shaped curve, where the performance of animals in most tasks is best with an intermediate level of arousal and is worse with too little or too much arousal (Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005).

When an action potential reaches the nerve terminal, NE is released from the synaptic vesicles into the synaptic cleft in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner. Typically, neurotransmitters and hormones can be released in response to stimuli by two different modes of exocytosis: by full fusion and in a so called kiss-and-run manner. Full fusion involves complete vesicle collapse and release of the entire vesicle content, whereas kiss-and-run release is a partial release mode, in which a vesicle rapidly forms a fusion pore in the plasma membrane and then retrieves. Thus, the size of the fusion pore limits the release of the contents of the vesicle (Wu et al., 2014). The kinetics of NE release events suggests that NE is mainly released through full fusion of storage vesicles with the presynaptic nerve terminal membrane (Chiti and Teschemacher, 2007). However, the NE release characteristics might vary in different compartments of the cells, i.e. in the somato-dendritic and axonal release sites, and between different noradrenergic cell populations (Chiti and Teschemacher, 2007).

Noradrenergic neurons also release NE from non-synaptic release sites in a process called volume transmission (or quantal NE release) that permits broad spatial and temporal effects of NE (Beaudet and Descarries, 1978; Pickel et al., 1996; Chiti and Teschemacher, 2007). Amperometric and path-clamp studies of quantal NE release from somato-dendritic sites in rat brainstem slices have only detected release events when the firing rate is high (15–20 Hz) (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003; Huang et al., 2012). Quantal NE release has long latency, low sensitivity to the Na⁺ ion channel blocker tetrodotoxin, and is Ca²⁺ -dependent (Huang et al., 2012). Somato-dendritic NE release has been suggested to produce negative feedback inhibition and to down-regulate neuronal hyperactivity via activation of presynaptic autoreceptors, which consequently inhibits synaptic NE release (Huang et al., 2012). Analogous volume transmission has been described in dopaminergic and serotonergic neurons (Descarries and Mechawar, 2000).

In addition to NE, noradrenergic neurons synthesize, store and release several different neuropeptides, such as neuropeptide Y, galanin and enkephalin, and non-peptide neurotransmitters, such as adenosine triphosphate. Moreover, LC noradrenergic neurons have also been reported to express glutamate (Otto and Nichols, 2011) and to express and to release DA (Smith and Greene, 2012; Kempadoo et al., 2016). The simultaneous release of co-transmitters is suggested to modulate the actions of NE both at pre- and postsynaptic sites (Kupfermann, 1991; Burnstock, 2004).

2.4.3 Pre- and postsynaptic receptors and reuptake

Synaptically released NE enters the synaptic cleft, binds to and activates pre- and postsynaptic α - and β -adrenoceptors located on the plasma membrane of the adjacent cells (Figure 3). The complex responses to receptor activation by NE in target regions are mediated through effects on cell membrane potentials, excitability and intracellular second messenger pathways. Thus, depending on the amount of released NE and the receptor composition in the target region, activation of adrenoceptors may result in either excitatory or inhibitory responses. Molecular cloning has identified 9 adrenoceptor subtypes (α_{1A} , α_{1B} , α_{1D} , α_{2A} , α_{2B} , α_{2C} , β_1 , β_2 and β_3), which all belong to the family of G-protein coupled receptors (Hieble et al., 1995; Gilsbach and Hein, 2008). All adrenoceptor subtypes are expressed in the CNS, but there are developmental and species differences in the receptor distributions and densities (Palacios et al., 1987; Williams and Marshall, 1987; Booze et al., 1989).

Adrenoceptors couple the binding of NE and their other ligands to the activation of certain heterotrimeric G-proteins, leading to the modulation of intracellular signaling pathways (Rosenbaum et al., 2009). α_1 -adrenoceptors mediate their intracellular effect via $G_{q/11}$ proteins leading to increases in intracellular inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) and intracellular Ca^{2+} concentrations, whereas α_2 -adrenoceptors are mainly coupled to $G_{i/0}$ -proteins that mediate inhibition of adenylyl cyclases. In addition, GBy subunits released from the activated inhibitory G_{i/o}-proteins activate G-protein coupled inwardly-rectifying potassium channels (GIRKs) and inhibit voltage-dependent calcium channels (Hein, 2006). Activation of β -adrenoceptors leads to activation of adenylyl cyclases through G_s-protein activation (Frielle et al., 1988). In addition, adrenoceptors have been shown to modulate some cellular functions independently of G-proteins. The multifunctional adaptor and scaffold proteins, β -arrestins, have been shown to be involved in agonist-induced adrenoceptor desensitization and signaling (Lefkowitz and Shenoy, 2005). The relevance of distinct intracellular signaling pathways for the physiological functions of adrenoceptors is not fully understood. A single amino acid mutation in the α_{2A} -adrenoceptor (α_{2A} -D79N) selectively disrupts the activation of GIRKs in response to receptor activation in vitro (Surprenant et al., 1992). Introduction of this point mutation into the mouse genome (α_{2A} -D79N mice) did not affect the α_{2A} -adrenoceptor mediated negative feedback of neurotransmitter release (Altman et al., 1999), indicating that α_{2A} -adrenoceptor-mediated control of NE release does not require the activation of GIRK K⁺ channels.

Studies on mice carrying deletions in the genes encoding individual adrenoceptor subtypes have been crucial for the knowledge regarding the specific functions of these receptors (MacDonald et al., 1997; Rohrer and Kobilka, 1998; Philipp and Hein, 2004). The G_i-coupled α_2 -adrenoceptors are essential feedback regulators of neurotransmitter release. Presynaptic α_2 -autoreceptors are located both in the somato-dendritic regions, where they inhibit neuronal firing, and in the noradrenergic nerve terminals, where they inhibit NE release (Norenberg et al., 1997; Starke, 2001; Trendelenburg et al., 2001). In isolated tissue preparations, the α_{2A} -adrenoceptor is the major receptor subtype inhibiting NE release, but also α_{2C} -adrenoceptors and possibly α_{2B} -adrenoceptors contribute to the regulation of neurotransmitter release (Altman et al., 1999; Hein et al., 1999;

Trendelenburg et al., 2003). In addition to their function as inhibitory autoreceptors, α_2 adrenoceptors can also regulate the release of other neurotransmitters in the central and peripheral nervous systems and thus operate as "heteroreceptors". For example, α_{2A} - and α_{2C} -adrenoceptors have been shown to inhibit dopamine release in the basal ganglia (Bucheler et al., 2002) and serotonin release in the mouse hippocampus and cerebral cortex (Scheibner et al., 2001). The importance of α_2 -adrenoceptors for normal physiology is evident from the observation that α_{2ABC} -deficient mouse embryos die during midgestation (Philipp et al., 2002a; Philipp et al., 2002b). Despite the wide distribution of α_1 adrenoceptors in the brain, the contributions of the α_1 -adrenoceptor subtypes to the neuronal functions mediated by NE are still partly unknown. α_1 -adrenoceptors have been suggested to be involved in many higher cerebral functions, such as regulation of attention and memory processes (Sirvio and MacDonald, 1999). Moreover, the specific functions of the different β -adrenoceptor subtypes differently expressed in the brain are not fully understood. NE acting at β -receptors has been found to be essential for memory retrieval (Winder et al., 1999; Murchison et al., 2004). The central noradrenergic neurons are also known to make contacts with non-neuronal cells, such as glia cells that express both α and β -adrenoceptors (Stone and Ariano, 1989; Hertz et al., 2004).

To terminate noradrenergic neurotransmission, NE is removed from the synaptic cleft by reuptake into the presynaptic neuron via NET located in the plasma membrane of the noradrenergic neurons (Kristensen et al., 2011) (Figure 3). This fast termination of synaptic transmission restores NE sensitivity and enables NET to exert accurate control over noradrenergic homeostasis. After reuptake, the NE molecules are either rapidly taken up from the cytoplasm into synaptic storage vesicles by VMAT2 or metabolized in the cytoplasm by the mitochondrial enzyme monoamine oxidase. Also glial cells that express both monoamine oxidase and catechol-O-methyltransferase can metabolize and deactivate NE and other catecholamines (Fillenz, 1990).



Figure 3. The noradrenergic synapse. NE is synthesized from the aromatic amino acid tyrosine in three sequential steps catalyzed by the enzymes tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC), and dopamine β hydroxylase (DBH). Following synaptic release, NE activates nine different subtypes of adrenoceptors; α_{1ABD} , α_{2ABC} , α_2 -adrenoceptors β_{1-3} . Presynaptic feedback mediate negative of the neurotransmitter release. NE is transported back into presynaptic neurons by the NE transporter (NET) and either restored into synaptic vesicles by a vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT) or metabolized by mitochondrial enzyme monoamine oxidase (MAO). Figure adopted from Hein, 2006.

2.5 Norepinephrine transporter (NET)

Termination of noradrenergic neurotransmission is critically dependent on the actions of NET (Axelrod and Kopin, 1969; Iversen, 1971; Pacholczyk et al., 1991; Bonisch and Bruss, 1994). NET mediates rapid re-uptake of synaptically released NE into presynaptic nerve terminals, and provides a mechanism to accumulate and conserve the transmitter within the noradrenergic neurons. It is estimated that 80-90 % of released NE is recaptured by NET (Schomig et al., 1989), while the remaining NE is either broken down in the extracellular space, spilled over into the blood circulation or taken up by an extraneuronal monoamine transporter (EMTs), also known as organic cation transporter 3. EMTs are widely expressed in the brain and other tissues and mediate low-level accumulation of NE in most tissues (Iversen, 1965; Trendelenburg, 1978; Grundemann et al., 1998; Wu et al., 1998; Breining et al., 2016).

NET belongs to the solute carrier 6 (SLC 6) family of sodium-coupled symporters, also referred to as the neurotransmitter:sodium symporter (NSS) family or Na⁺/Cl⁻ dependent transporters, which also includes the transporters of DA, serotonin (5-HT), acid (GABA) glycine. v-aminobutvric and These transporters utilize the transmembrane Na⁺ gradient to drive substrate transport across the plasma membrane (Kristensen et al., 2011). Members of this family show a high degree of structural similarity. The overall amino acid sequence identity of human NET and human DAT is greater than 75 %, whereas human serotonin transporter (SERT) and human NET share approximately 60 % sequence identity. SLC 6 family transporters consist of 12 hydrophobic transmembrane domains (TMD), intracellular N- and C-termini and a large extracellular loop connecting TMDs 3 and 4, which contains N-linked glycosylation motifs (Figure 4). This topology has been confirmed by several highresolution crystal structures including bacterial homologues of the mammalian SLC 6 transporters (Yamashita et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2007; Singh et al., 2008; Penmatsa and Gouaux, 2014), eukaryotic DAT from Drosophila melanogaster (Penmatsa et al., 2013a, b, 2015; Wang et al., 2015) and human SERT (Coleman et al., 2016). The following sections will provide a general introduction to the physiological importance, function. structure and regulation of NET.



Figure 4. Schematic structure of the human NET and the crystal structure of the *Drosophila melanogaster* DAT in complex with the tricyclic antidepressant drug nortriptyline (Penmatsa et al., 2013a). A, the human NET comprises 617 amino acids organized to 12 hydrophobic membrane spanning segments, intracellularly located N- and C-termini and a large extracellular loop connecting transmembrane domains (TMDs) 3 and 4, which contains three N-linked glycosylation sites. B, the tertiary structure of dDAT in an outward-open conformation with nortriptyline (green) bound to the central binding site formed between TMDs 1, 3, 6 and 8. Two sodium ions are shown in purple and one chloride ion is shown in yellow (modified from Penmatsa et al. 2013b).

2.5.1 Physiological importance of NET

Presynaptically located NET mediates the reuptake and re-storage of the released transmitter NE into presynaptic terminals and therefore plays an important role in finetuning NE neurotransmission, and exerts regulated control over NE-mediated behavioral and physiological functions. The significance of NET in normal physiology has been investigated with mice with targeted deletion of the NET gene. NET knockout (NET KO) mice demonstrate significant neurochemical changes characterized by enhanced extracellular NE levels and reduced tissue NE content, resulting in altered brain and autonomic functions (Xu et al., 2000). In the prefrontal cortex, NE tissue levels are decreased by 70 % and the unperturbed extracellular NE concentrations are approximately 3-fold higher in NET KO mice compared to wild-type (WT) mice (Xu et al., 2000). These observations strongly support the notion that termination of the NE transmission and maintenance of intracellular NE stores are critically dependent on NET function. In behavioral tests, NET KO mice exhibit significantly shortened immobility times both in the forced swim test and the tail suspension test indicating reduced behavioral despair, compared to their WT littermates (Xu et al., 2000). NET KO mice are also less sensitive to stress, as determined by blood corticosterone levels after a forced swim test (Solich et al., 2008) or by chronic restraint or social defeat stress tests (Haenisch et al., 2009). NET KO mice demonstrate also changes in their midbrain dopaminergic homeostasis. Both the tissue and extracellular levels of striatal

dopamine and its metabolites are significantly reduced in NET KO mice compared to WT mice, suggesting down-regulation of presynaptic dopamine activity in NET KO animals (Xu et al., 2000). These effects could be attributable to involvement of NET in the clearance of dopamine (Moron et al., 2002) and/or to enhanced activation of inhibitory α_2 -adrenoceptors located on dopaminergic neurons by increased extracellular NE levels in the NET KO animals (Grenhoff and Svensson, 1989; Yavich et al., 1997). Interpretation of the observations derived from NET KO mice should be cautious, since life-long complete deletion of a gene might well give rise to compensatory mechanisms. Indeed, both DAT and SERT have been reported to be upregulated in various brain regions of NET KO mice (Solich et al., 2011). Moreover, the expression of α_1 - and β -adrenoceptors have been shown to be decreased (Xu et al., 2000; Dziedzicka-Wasylewska et al., 2006), and the density of α_2 -adrenoceptors increased in several regions of the brain and spinal cord of NET KO mice relative to WT mice (Bohn et al., 2000; Gilsbach et al., 2006).

2.5.2 NET gene structure

Human NET (hNET) is encoded by a single gene, *SLC6A2* (solute carrier family 6 member 2), that is located on chromosome 16 in locus 16q12.2 (Pacholczyk et al., 1991; Porzgen et al., 1995). The hNET gene consists of 14 coding exons separated by 13 introns and spans approximately 45 kb. The structure of the mouse NET gene, located on chromosome 8 (homologous with 16q12.2 of the human genome), is similar to the hNET gene (Fritz et al., 1998). Moreover, the organization of the hNET gene is highly homologous to other neurotransmitter transporter genes. However, several NET gene variants arising from alternative mRNA splicing during gene expression have been identified in a human neuroblastoma cell line and in some mammalian tissues (Burton et al., 1998; Porzgen et al., 1998; Kitayama et al., 1999).

2.5.2.1 Alternative splicing

Two alternatively spliced hNET transcripts differing only in the distal residues within the C-termini have been identified from cultured human neuroblastoma SKN-SH-SY5Y cells (Porzgen et al., 1998). The original hNET transcript terminates after exon 14, encoding the last seven amino acids (LQHWLAI) of the hNET C-terminus, whereas the two alternatively spliced transcripts join exon 13 to a new exon (exon 15), skipping exon 14. The alternatively spliced exon 15 encodes for 3 (LSF) or 18 (MKTRQGRRRATNSCQISC) amino acids, resulting in short and long forms of the Cterminal hNET splice variants (hNET-Ex15S and hNET-Ex15L, respectively) (Porzgen et al., 1998). The C-terminal hNET splice variants have been shown to accumulate as immature proteins, and thereby display diminished transport capacity due to inefficient cell surface targeting (Kitayama et al., 2002). In addition, C-terminal splice variants of NET have been identified from rat (Kitayama et al., 1999) and bovine (Lingen et al., 1994; Burton et al., 1998) tissues. Also these splice variants are retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) when expressed in heterologous host cells, resulting in almost complete loss of transport function (Burton et al., 1998).

2.5.2.2 Single nucleotide polymorphisms

Human genome sequencing efforts have identified approximately 20 non-synonymous single nucleotide variations, called single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), in the promoter, intronic and coding regions of the hNET gene. NET SNPs may affect protein expression, trafficking, substrate transport, ligand selectivity or give rise to total loss of NET function (Hahn and Blakely, 2007). Several studies have investigated the association between *SLC6A2* SNPs and neuropsychiatric as well as cardiovascular diseases (Tellioglu and Robertson, 2001; Hahn and Blakely, 2002).

The first disease-associated transporter variant in the SLC6 family was a nonsynonymous SNP of hNET in exon 10, where an alanine residue is replaced with a proline residue (A457P) in the highly conserved TMD 9 (Shannon et al., 2000; Hahn et al., 2003). The A457P mutation results in 98 % loss of transporter function compared to the WT transporter (Hahn et al., 2003); thus, this genetic defect in the NET protein was suggested to contribute to the tachycardia and increased plasma NE levels of a pair of identical twins suffering from a familial form of orthostatic intolerance (Shannon et al., 2000; Robertson et al., 2001; Hahn et al., 2003). The loss of NET-A457P transport activity was reported to result from impaired biosynthetic processing of NET-A457P to the fully glycosylated form and reduction in surface expression to 30 % of normal. Furthermore, hNET-A457P was shown to exert a dominant negative effect when co-expressed together with WT NET (Hahn et al., 2003).

In addition, another SNP in the promoter region of the hNET gene was shown to alter the binding of transcription factors and to lead to loss of *SLC6A2* promoter function, and was suggested to associate with ADHD (Kim et al., 2006). A polymorphism in the non-coding region of the hNET gene has also been suggested to associate with anorexia nervosa (Urwin et al., 2002). Nonetheless, there is no direct evidence that these *SLC6A2* variants are causally related to these psychiatric disorders.

2.5.3 NET localization in vivo

The regional expression of NET *in vivo* has been investigated with radioligand binding techniques employing selective NET inhibitors, such as $[{}^{3}H]$ -nisoxetine, with NE uptake studies and by immunocytochemical approaches. $[{}^{3}H]$ -nisoxetine has high affinity for NET (K_d 0.7 nM) and low affinity for both SERT and DAT (K_d 1 mM) (Tejani-Butt et al., 1990; Ordway et al., 1997). Autoradiography studies of $[{}^{3}H]$ -nisoxetine binding sites in rat and human brain have reported NET expression in noradrenergic cell groups and in brain regions receiving noradrenergic dendritic and axonal projections, such as the cerebellum, medulla-pons region, midbrain, cerebral

cortex and hypothalamus. In postmortem human brains, the amount of [³H]-nisoxetine binding at any particular level of the brainstem varied considerably among individuals (Tejani-Butt et al., 1990; Tejani-Butt and Ordway, 1992; Ordway et al., 1997). [³H]-nisoxetine labeling in the dorsal raphe nucleus, where many serotonergic cell bodies are located, was suggested to reside on the terminals of noradrenergic fibers that are known to innervate this brain region (Donnan et al., 1991; Tejani-Butt, 1992). Low labeling with [³H]-nisoxetine has been detected in the substantia nigra (Ordway et al., 1997). [³H]-nisoxetine binding to NET is virtually eliminated by treatment with noradrenergic neurotoxins, such as 6-hydroxydopamine (Tejani-Butt et al., 1990; Ordway, 1995).

Immunohistochemical studies based on NET antibodies have reported NET protein expression in noradrenergic somata and efferent projections in the same brain regions where NET was observed with autoradiography. In the brainstem noradrenergic somata, NET immunoreactivity has been reported to locate intracellularly and to be absent from the plasma membrane. NET labeling in the axonal projections has appeared non-uniform and enriched in varicosities (Schroeter et al., 2000; Miner et al., 2003). No NET immunoreactivity has been reported in glia cells (Schroeter et al., 2000). In the periphery, NET protein expression is present in sympathetic neurons, adrenal chromaffin cells and in the maternal-facing membranes of the human placenta (Ramamoorthy et al., 1993; Cubells et al., 1995; Ungerer et al., 1996; Schroeter et al., 2000; Backs et al., 2001; Li et al., 2001). In the placenta, NET and other monoamine transporters have been suggested to control the concentrations of circulating monoamines, thus attenuating vasoconstriction of the placental blood vessels and helping to secure stable blood flow to the fetus (Bottalico et al., 2004). NET protein expression has also been detected in cultured neuroendocrine tumor cell lines, such as SKN-SH-SY5Y cells and rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells (Bonisch and Bruss, 1994).

The subcellular distribution of NET has been investigated with immunogold techniques and electron microscopy (Miner et al., 2003). In rat prefrontocortical terminals, NET immunoreactivity was unexpectedly observed predominantly in the cytoplasm and only occasionally on the plasma membranes. Intracellularly located NET was mainly associated with small vesicles, likely to represent synaptic vesicles (Miner et al., 2003). Thus, the subcellular localization of NET differs from SERT and DAT that are mainly localized in plasma membranes in the prefrontal cortex and striatum, respectively (Nirenberg et al., 1996; Hersch et al., 1997; Miner et al., 2000). Dual immunogold labeling of NET and D β H in the prefrontal cortex demonstrated co-localization of the two noradrenergic marker proteins in the same axonal profiles, whereas a remarkably small proportion, approximately 10 % of NET immunoreactive terminals, were dually labeled for NET and TH (Miner et al., 2003). The small fraction of NET immunoreactive terminals also containing TH in the rat prefrontal cortex might be ascribed to the experimental procedures (e.g. inadequate sensitivity of TH labeling), or maybe the TH antiserum labeled predominantly DA axons in the cortical areas receiving both NE and DA innervation. In situ hybridization studies to visualize NET mRNA have mainly reported NET gene expression in the brainstem, supporting the

notion that synthesis of the transporter protein takes place predominantly in the noradrenergic somata and proximal dendrites (Lorang et al., 1994; Eymin et al., 1995).

The ontogeny of NET expression during embryonic and postnatal development has been investigated in rodents. NET is expressed already in the young embryo (Sieber-Blum and Ren, 2000), and its expression remains high in the brainstem in the early postnatal period but decreases significantly during maturation (Sanders et al., 2005). In contrast, NET expression in forebrain structures increases during maturation, i.e. NET binding sites increase approximately five-fold from postnatal day 10 to day 15, to similar levels as generally found in the adult brain (10 fmol/mg tissue) (Sanders et al., 2005). The developmental alterations in NET expression levels suggest an important role for the transporter in the development of the brain and its noradrenergic functions (Hu et al., 2009); still, NET KO mice are viable and no major abnormalities have been detected in their neuroanatomy.

2.5.4 NET protein structure

NET and the other highly homologous proteins of the SLC6 gene family share a common structure of 12 transmembrane helical segments with intracellularly located N- and C-termini (Figure 4). The first high resolution crystal structures of a prokaryotic homolog of the SLC6 transporters, a leucine transporter (LeuT) from the hyperthermophilic bacterium Aquifex aeolicus, confirmed this overall tertiary structure and identified the primary substrate and ion binding sites between TMDs 1, 3, 6 and 8, approximately halfway across the membrane-spanning region (Yamashita et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2007; Singh et al., 2008; Penmatsa and Gouaux, 2014). Recently, the first high resolution crystal structures of the human SERT (Coleman et al., 2016) and eukaryotic Drosophila melanogaster DAT (dDAT) in complex with both substrates and inhibitors (Penmatsa et al., 2013a, b, 2015; Wang et al., 2015) have further increased the understanding of the structure-function relationships of the monoamine transporters. The dDAT crystal structures confirmed that the central binding site of the monoamine transporters is formed by the "hinge-like" regions of TMDs 1 and 6 together with residues of TMDs 3 and 8 (Figure 4). All dDAT substrates and inhibitors with varying sizes and shapes bind to the central binding site, suggesting high plasticity of the region. Furthermore, an X-ray structure of human SERT identified an allosteric site 'above' the central binding site at the periphery of the extracellular vestibule obstructing ligand dissociation from the central site, providing an explanation how allosteric ligands can reduce the off-rate of inhibitors bound to the central site of SERT (Coleman et al., 2016).

Three residues in the large second extracellular loop of NET have been identified as canonical N-linked glycosylation sites (Pacholczyk et al., 1991) (Figure 4). Two major forms of the NET protein with glycosylation extensions have been identified: immature and mature (migrating at 54 kDa and 80 kDa, respectively) (Melikian et al., 1994; Kippenberger et al., 1999). Metabolic pulse-chase labeling experiments have suggested that the immature NET (54 kDa) is a short-lived metabolic intermediate that is further

processed or degraded in a few hours (Melikian et al., 1996). Only a small fraction of the fully glycosylated NET (80 kDa) was detected at the cell surface in PC12 cells, whereas fully glycosylated NET (80 kDa) was highly enriched at the plasma membrane in HEK 293 and LLC cells, suggesting that NET could be targeted differently in neuronal and epithelial cells (Melikian et al., 1996; Burton et al., 1998; Kippenberger et al., 1999). For a note, also DAT and SERT have been found to undergo heterogenous N-glycosylation with regional and developmental variation (Patel et al., 1994; Qian et al., 1995). Mutation of the three canonical N-glycosylation sites of NET (NET N184,192,198Q) has been shown to decrease transporter stability and significantly reduce the uptake capacity compared to WT NET. However, the residual surface-expressed NET N184,192,198Q exhibits similar pharmacology to WT NET (Melikian et al., 1996; Nguyen and Amara, 1996). The half-life $(t_{1/2})$ of mature NET, as determined by pulse-chase analysis in transfected HeLa and COS cells, has been estimated to be approximately 24 h (Melikian et al., 1996), whereas the half-lives of DAT and SERT, as determined in vivo in rat brain with intraventricular administration of irreversible inhibitors, were estimated to be 2 and 3.4 days, respectively (Vicentic et al., 1999; Kimmel et al., 2000).

2.5.5 Mechanism of transport

NET-mediated substrate transport is saturable and dependent on the Na⁺ gradient across the plasma membrane that is maintained by Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity (Kristensen et al., 2011). NET is believed to translocate one positively charged NE molecule with one Na⁺ ion and one Cl⁻ ion (stoichiometry of 1 NE⁺: 1 Na⁺: 1 Cl⁻) (Figure 5). Thus, NE transport by NET is electrogenic with a positive charge (Trendelenburg et al., 1991). Kinetic studies of NE transport suggest that binding of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ is necessary for the substrate to bind to the transporter (Trendelenburg et al., 1991; Bonisch and Bruss, 1994). The transport turnover rate has been variably estimated to range from 1-2.5 transport cycles per second (Gu et al., 1996) to 0.4-0.6 transport cycles per second (Bonisch and Harder, 1986; Galli et al., 1995; Sucic and Bryan-Lluka, 2005).

The translocation of substrates across the plasma membrane has been suggested to function *via* an alternating access model, where the inner and outer gates of NET are predicted to open alternately trough successive conformational changes (Jardetzky, 1966) (Figure 5). According to this classical simple allosteric model for membrane pumps, substrate molecules and ions bind to the central binding pocket in the 'outward open' conformation, where the extracellular gate is open, the binding sites are exposed to the extracellular environment and the intracellular gate is closed. Binding of the substrate and ions will trigger the closure of the outer gate ('outward-occluded' conformation), and induce the opening of the intracellular gate ('inward open' conformation), allowing the substrate and return to an 'outward open' conformation (Kristensen et al., 2011) (Figure 5). The crystal structures of LeuT in different conformations support this model (Penmatsa and Gouaux, 2014), but the precise mechanism of the transport is still debated. In addition to the secondary active transport

of its substrate across the plasma membrane, NET has been reported to have rapid channel-like activity, with the formation of an adequate actual pore through the transporter protein during the transport cycle (Galli et al., 1996). This hypothesis is supported by studies on amphetamine that can induce reversal of NE transport by NET that occurs both in slow carrier-like mode and in rapid channel-like mode (Robertson et al., 2009).



Figure 5. NET-mediated transport of substrate and ions is believed to follow an alternating access model. NE binds together with one sodium ion and one chloride ion to the central binding pocket of the transporter in the outward open conformation initating the transport cycle, which involves closing of the extracellular gate and opening of the internal gate via the outward occluded and inward occluded intermediate conformations. Opening of the intracellular gate exposes the binding site to the cytoplasm and allows dissociation of substrate and ions (modified from Kristensen et al., 2011)

2.5.6 NET substrates and inhibitors

NET transports all three endogenous catecholamines, DA, NE and EPI, but with different affinities ($K_m 0.1 \mu M$ for DA, 0.5-0.8 μM for NE and 3 μM for EPI) (Buck and Amara, 1994; Giros et al., 1994; Apparsundaram et al., 1997; Gu et al., 2001). The maximal velocity (V_{max}) for DA transport is approximately four-fold higher than for NE (Giros et al., 1994); thus, NET transports DA more efficiently than NE when evaluated by the V_{max}/K_m ratio that is commonly used as an indicator of the catalytic efficiency of the translocation. *In vivo*, NET has been shown to mediate cellular uptake of DA in those brain regions where NET is more concentrated than DAT, such as in the frontal cortex (Moron et al., 2002). NET also transports other monoamines, such as serotonin and many indirectly acting sympathomimetic amines, such as tyramine and *d*-amphetamine.

Besides its physiological function as a regulator of monoamine levels in the brain, NET constitutes an important target for the treatment of several neuropsychiatric disorders,

such as depression and ADHD. Thus, many selective NET inhibitors have been developed in spite of its high structural homology with DAT and other members of the SLC6 protein family and the similar structures of their endogenous substrates (Tatsumi et al., 1997; Eshleman et al., 1999). Widely used tricyclic antidepressant drugs, such as amitryptiline and desipramine, inhibit the action of NET, SERT and DAT with varying affinities, whereas the newer selective NE reuptake inhibitors (NRIs), such as reboxetine and atomoxetine, inhibit the action of NET at nanomolar concentrations (Owens et al., 1997; Burrows et al., 1998; Sacchetti et al., 1999; Hajos et al., 2004). Inhibition of NET and other neurotransmitter transporters and receptors by antidepressants increases the synaptic levels of NE, 5-HT and DA, which is believed to underlie the mechanism of antidepressant actions (Zhao et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2009). However, the therapeutic antidepressant effect becomes apparent after several weeks of daily treatment, and the molecular mechanisms of actions during long-term exposure to antidepressants are not fully understood.

NET is also targeted by several psychostimulants that elevate synaptic NE levels by different mechanisms of action (Ritz et al., 1990; Pacholczyk et al., 1991; Wall et al., 1995). Cocaine and its derivatives inhibit the reuptake activity of NET and other monoamine transporters by binding competitively to the central binding site and by thus preventing the binding and subsequent uptake of NE (Beuming et al., 2008). Amphetamine and its derivatives also competitively inhibit the binding of the endogenous substrates to NET and to other monoamine transporters, but in addition, they are also substrates of the monoamine transporters and are therefore actively transported into monoaminergic neurons (Robertson et al., 2009). Inside the neuron, amphetamine and its derivatives is further taken up into synaptic vesicles and they translocate NE, as well as DA and 5-HT, from the vesicles into the cytoplasm. Furthermore, amphetamine evokes reverse transport of monoamines out of neurons via the monoamine transporters, which further elevates the extracellular levels of monoamines (Zhu et al., 2000). The precise molecular mechanisms of amphetamine evoked efflux are not fully understood but they have been proposed to involve a channel-like transporter mode or facilitated exchange diffusion (Wall et al., 1995; Sulzer et al., 2005). The main behavioral effects of cocaine, amphetamine and their derivatives, i.e. reinforcement and positive subjective effects are considered to be mediated mainly through DAT, but also NET and SERT appear to be involved (Rocha et al., 1998; Sora et al., 2001). Several psychostimulants acting on monoamine transporters are currently in therapeutic use, i.e. in the management ADHD and narcolepsy (Howell and Kimmel, 2008).

2.6 Cellular regulation of NET

It was originally considered that NET has a static presence in the plasma membrane and that its function in terminating NE-mediated cellular signaling is stable. However, numerous recent studies have shown that NET, like the other members of the SLC 6 family of neurotransmitter transporters, is subject to dynamic regulation by diverse stimuli, including membrane potential changes, substrate exposure and intracellular second messengers, providing mechanisms for fine-tuning of the NE homeostasis. The next sections describe different aspects of the cellular regulation of NET.

2.6.1 NET gene expression and biosynthetic pathway

NET gene expression in noradrenergic neurons and in neurosecretory cells is regulated by physiological and pharmacological stimuli, such as neurotransmitters, growth factors and drugs, suggesting that changes in environmental demands may result in altered noradrenergic neurotransmission *via* alterations of NET gene expression (Mandela and Ordway, 2006b). For example, prolonged administration of antidepressants targeting NET has been shown to alter NET gene expression (Zhao et al., 2009). The promoter region of the NET gene has multiple transcription start sites that appear to be clustered into two subdomains preceded by a TATA-like sequence motif (Kim et al., 1999). However, the mechanisms of transcriptional regulation of NET are still poorly understood. Some transcription factors, such as the Paired mesoderm homeobox protein 2 (Phox2), have been shown to regulate NET gene expression (Kim et al., 1999; Esler et al., 2006; Fan et al., 2011). In addition, the promoter region of the NET gene is rich in CpG dinucleotides, suggesting that the NET promoter is a target for DNA methylation-related gene silencing (Esler et al., 2006).

Newly synthesized proteins are folded in the ER from where they then are passed forward via the Golgi compartment towards their sites of action, or targeted to ERassociated degradation (Ellgaard and Helenius, 2003) (Figure 6). Both intrinsic sorting signals expressed in the cytoplasmic domains of NET and NET oligomerization are suggested to be important for the ER exit of NET and transit of the transporter through the Golgi compartment to the plasma membrane. Evidence from research on NET splice variants indicates that the NET C-terminal sequence is important for correct targeting and surface expression of the transporter; the two splice variants with exon 15 sequences, hNET-Ex15L and hNET-Ex15S, are unable to efficiently complete their transit through the Golgi compartment and accumulate as immature proteins (Bauman and Blakely, 2002). However, ER retention of immature splice variants might involve additional mechanisms specific to exon 15 sequences. Artificial truncations of the NET C-terminus, including loss of the terminal isoleucine alone (hNET- $\Delta 617$), or deletion of the last three hydrophobic amino acids (hNET- Δ LAI) that comprise a type II PSD95/Discs-large/ZO-1 (PDZ)-binding domain (see section 2.6.5.), result in significant increases in protein degradation and diminish the levels of surface NET in neuronal SK-N-MC cells. This phenotype is significantly less severe in HEK 293 cells, suggesting that the biosynthetic processing of NET is dependent on the host cell type (Bauman and Blakely, 2002). Complete deletion of the NET C-terminus (residues 575-617) abolishes NE transport activity, suggesting that efficient maturation, surface targeting and acquisition of transport capacity require the recognition of the C-terminal residues of NET (Bauman and Blakely, 2002). Similarly, C-terminal deletion mutants of DAT and SERT demonstrate the importance of an intact C-terminus for proper surface expression of the monoamine transporters (Torres et al., 2001; Bjerggaard et al., 2004; Larsen et al., 2006). However, in polarized epithelial cells, the basolateral

sorting signal of NET has been shown to be located in the N-terminus, whereas DAT was predominantly located in the apical plasma membrane, and insertion of the NET N-terminus to DAT directed this transporter to the basolateral membrane (Gu et al., 2001). Also the apical localization signal of the GABA transporter 1 (GAT1) appears to reside in the N-terminus of the protein, although the basolateral localization signal for GAT2 was reported to be located in the C-terminus (Perego et al., 1997; Muth et al., 1998; Brown et al., 2004). The biosynthetic processing of the monoamine transporters has been suggested to be regulated also by transporter oligomerization (Kilic and Rudnick, 2000; Hastrup et al., 2001; Scholze et al., 2002; Hahn et al., 2003; Kocabas et al., 2003; Sorkina et al., 2003; Torres et al., 2003b; Sitte et al., 2004). NET has been shown to form homo-oligomers in heterologous cell lines, and oligomerization has been suggested to be important for the transport of the cargo from the ER to the plasma membrane (Hahn et al., 2003).

Several lines of evidence suggest that Golgi-derived NET is mainly transported to the plasma membrane in a regulated manner. Depolarization has been shown to increase NET function and surface expression in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner (Savchenko et al., 2003; Mandela and Ordway, 2006a). In neurosecretory cells, such as PC12 and chromaffin cells, NET has been suggested to traffic to the plasma membrane in secretory vesicles (equivalent to dense core vesicles) since NET colocalizes with markers of large dense core granules (Kippenberger et al., 1999; Schroeter et al., 2000). Little association of NET has been observed with markers of synaptic vesicles, such as VMAT2 and synaptophysin, in dissociated sympathetic neurons in culture whereas in cortical brain slices, terminal NET was shown to colocalize with markers of synaptic vesicles (Matthies et al., 2009). Also, NET surface expression and function is reduced by suppression of the SNARE (soluble *N*-ethylmaleimide-sensitive attachment factor receptors) protein syntaxin 1A (Sung et al., 2003; Dipace et al., 2007; Sung and Blakely, 2007), suggesting that NET is at least partly located in small synaptic vesicles.

2.6.2 Lipid rafts

Growing evidence indicates that membrane proteins, including the monoamine transporters, might be segregated into distinct plasma membrane domains with high cholesterol density, suggested to represent lipid rafts. Lipid rafts (also called membrane rafts) are small (\emptyset 10 - 200 nM), sterol- and sphingolipid-enriched regions of the plasma membrane with a tight lipid packing (Adkins et al., 2007; Cremona et al., 2011). Lipid rafts are believed to compartmentalize cellular processes, act as sites of endocytosis and modulate cytoskeletal networks (Brown and London, 1998, 2000; Allen et al., 2007; Otto and Nichols, 2011). Recently, it was shown that the lipid environment might even act as an allosteric modulator of some membrane proteins (Dawaliby et al., 2015). In placental trophoblasts, a fraction of plasma membrane resident NET has been suggested to associate with lipid rafts, and rafts to mediate NET endocytosis in a clahtrin-independent manner (Jayanthi et al., 2004). A fraction of NET was also shown to localize in lipid rafts in SCG neurons and to colocalize with

syntaxin 1A, possibly suggesting involvement of lipid rafts in NET exocytosis in SCG neurons (Matthies et al., 2009). In addition, evidence suggests that other SLC6 family transporters, such DAT, SERT and excitatory amino acid transporter 2 (EAAT2), associate with lipid rafts, even if the precise significance of the associations has not been elucidated (Samuvel et al., 2005; Adkins et al., 2007; Foster et al., 2008; Cremona et al., 2011).

2.6.3 Constitutive internalization of NET

The modulation of monoamine transporters occurs largely through redistribution of the transporter proteins from the cell surface rather than changes in the intrinsic transport activity. Thus, it has been hypothesized that endocytic trafficking is the major means by which SLC6 transporters are functionally regulated (Beckman and Quick, 1998; Blakely et al., 1998). A substantial proportion of neuronal NET resides in intracellular vesicles within the somato-dendritic region and in axon terminals (Leitner et al., 1999; Schoroeter et al., 2000; Miner et al., 2003, 2006), indirectly suggesting that the transporter is dynamically shuffled between intracellular compartments and the plasma membrane. Several SLC6 family transporters, such as DAT, SERT and the glycine transporter, have been shown to undergo constitutive internalization (Loder and Melikian, 2003; Fornes et al., 2008; Eriksen et al., 2009; Eriksen et al., 2010a; Rahbek-Clemmensen et al., 2014b). However, the constitutive trafficking properties of NET have not been investigated in detail.

From the plasma membrane, proteins may be endocytosed in a clathrin-dependent or independent manner into early endosomes, from where they are sorted either into recycling endosomes or into degradation pathways (Bonifacino and Glick, 2004) (Figure 6). The endosomal compartments are characterized by different Rab proteins, small GTPases that have specific localizations and functions in distinct steps of endocytic trafficking (Maxfield and McGraw, 2004; Schwartz et al., 2008; Stenmark, 2009). Studies on cultured fibroblasts have shown that Rab5 regulates cargo internalization into early endosomes, whereas Rab4 contributes to the vesicular transport from early endosomes to the plasma membrane, marking the "fast recycling" pathway (Gorvel et al., 1991; Bucci et al., 1992). In contrast, Rab11 mediates cargo recycling back to the plasma membrane from the perinuclear endocytic recycling compartment, marking the "slow recycling" pathway (Ullrich et al., 1996; Chen et al., 1998). The lysosomal pathway is characterized by Rab7 which is required for vesicle transport from early endosomes to late endosomes and to lysosomes (Feng et al., 1995; Meresse et al., 1995). Dominant negative mutant forms of numerous Rab proteins have been generated to dissect the specific function of the Rab proteins in membrane trafficking.

The fate of constitutively internalized SLC6 family transporters has not been clearly defined. DAT was suggested to constitutively internalize and recycle back to the plasma membrane in rat PC12 cells, since DAT surface levels and DA transport were shown to be decreased when cells were preincubated at 18 °C (referred to as non-
trafficking conditions) compared to 37 °C (Loder and Melikian, 2003). In addition, monensin (20 μ M), a cation ionophore used as recycling inhibitor (Mollenhauer et al., 1990), was shown to time-dependently increase the intracellular accumulation of DAT in porcine aortic endothelial cells stably expressing DAT (Sorkina et al., 2005). However, more recent studies using confocal imaging and biochemical approaches support the notion that DAT, as well as SERT, is primarily targeted to Rab7 -positive late endosomes and subsequently to lysosomal degradation upon both constitutive and stimulated internalization (Daniels and Amara, 1999; Eriksen et al., 2010b; Rahbek-Clemmensen et al., 2014b). In neuroendocrine cells and in sympathetic neurons, intracellularly located NET has been shown to partly associate with markers of both lysosomes (Lamp-1) and recycling endosomes (Rab11) at steady-state conditions (Kippenberger et al., 1999; Matthies et al., 2009). However, the postendocytic sorting of constitutively internalized NET has not been characterized.

The molecular mechanisms and structural elements responsible for different internalization pathways of the SLC6 family transporters are not fully understood, but evidence suggests that residues in the N- and C-termini can influence the trafficking properties of the transporters (Distelmaier et al., 2004). A short sequence in the DAT C-terminus (FREKLAYAIA), which is only partially conserved in NET, was shown to be important for the constitutive and PKC-mediated internalization of DAT (Holton et al., 2005). Mutation of the cognate sequence (584–593) in NET to alanines (NET584–59310A) decreased the internalization rate of the transporter compared to wild-type NET (Holton et al., 2005), suggesting that the C-terminal residues are important also for NET internalization.



Figure 6. Schematic representation of the intracellular trafficking pathways of cell surface proteins. Newly synthesized membrane proteins are transported through the secretory pathway (endoplasmic reticulum (ER), ER-Golgi intermediate complex (ERGIC), Golgi and trans-Golgi network (TGN)). COPI and COPII protein complexes coat vesicles (shown in red and blue, respectively) transporting proteins between ER, ERGIC and Golgi. Endocytosis of proteins from the plasma membrane is mediated in clathrin-dependent (yellow) and -independent manners, and postendocytic sorting to recycling or lysosomal pathways takes place in early endosomes (Bonifacino and Glick, 2004).

2.6.4 Stimulated internalization of NET

Growing evidence indicates that diverse stimuli, including second messengers generated after receptor activation, can regulate the subcellular distribution and function of monoamine transporters, with possible impact on the dynamics and concentrations of monoamines present in the synaptic cleft (Zahniser and Doolen, 2001; Torres et al., 2003a; Kristensen et al., 2011). In addition, NET substrates and inhibitors have shown to influence NET distribution and function. In cellular expression systems, NE has been shown to concentration-dependently reduce NET function (Zhu and Ordway, 1997), possibly through oxidative stress pathways (Mao et al., 2004; Mao et al., 2005). Moreover, amphetamine has been shown to induce redistribution of NET from the plasma membrane in a time- and concentrationdependent manner (Zhu et al., 2000; Matthies et al., 2010). Amphetamine - mediated reductions of cell surface NET density have been shown to be both Ca²⁺- and protein kinase dependent in catecholaminergic cell lines and in rat cortical slices (Kantor and Gnegy, 1998; Kantor et al., 2001; Robertson et al., 2009; Matthies et al., 2010). Both PKC and PKA, as well as Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) have been suggested to be involved in the downstream signaling initiated by amphetamine (Robertson et al., 2009). Furthermore, amphetamine -induced downregulation of NET has been suggested to involve interactions of NET and syntaxin 1A (Dipace et al., 2007).

Repeated exposure (21 days) of rats to the tricyclic antidepressant drug desipramine has been shown to decrease [³H]-nisoxetine binding in several brain regions (Bauer and Tejani-Butt, 1992; Hebert et al., 2001), whereas NET mRNA levels were increased in response to repeated exposure to desipramine (Szot et al., 1993). Moreover, 3-day exposure to desipramine was found to reduce NET uptake capacity, binding sites and immunoreactivity in PC12 cells (Zhu and Ordway, 1997; Zhu et al., 1998; Ordway et al., 2005). A single dose of desipramine had no effects on [³H]-nisoxetine binding in the rat brain (Bauer and Tejani-Butt, 1992). Studies investigating chronic exposure to cocaine have resulted in incongruent findings. Continuous exposure to cocaine does not seem to downregulate NET in cultured cells but chronic self-administration of cocaine was found to increase NET binding sites in several brain regions of non-human primates (Zhu et al., 2000; Macey et al., 2003; Beveridge et al., 2005). Consistently with this, increased NET protein levels were reported in postmortem brains of human habitual cocaine users (Mash et al., 2005).

Amino acid sequence analysis of NET, as well as the other SLC6 family transporters, has revealed numerous consensus phosphorylation sites within the intracellular domains as well as in the N- and C-termini. Involvement of PKC in the regulation of monoamine transporter function and surface expression has been amply documented in both native preparations and in heterologous expression systems (Huff et al., 1997; Vaughan et al., 1997; Blakely et al., 1998; Apparsundaram et al., 1998b; Jayanthi et al., 2004; Eriksen et al., 2010b). In a variety of preparations, including synaptosomes, primary cells and different heterologous cell lines, application of the PKC activator, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA), has

been demonstrated to redistribute NET, DAT and SERT from the plasma membrane to intracellular compartments (Vaughan et al., 1997; Ramamoorthy et al., 1998; Apparsundaram et al., 1998a; Apparsundaram et al., 1998b; Jayanthi et al., 2004; Jayanthi et al., 2005). PMA-induced downregulation of NET is accompanied with decreases in the maximal transport velocity of NE (Apparsundaram et al., 1998a; Apparsundaram et al., 1998b; Jayanthi et al., 2004; Jayanthi, 2006). In placental trophoblasts, NET was shown to undergo clahtrin-independent and lipid raft-dependent endocytosis in response to activation of PKC by PMA (Jayanthi et al., 2004). Interestingly, clathrin-mediated and dynamin-dependent internalization is involved in the regulation of DAT and GAT1 trafficking (Deken et al., 2003; Sorkina et al., 2005; Eriksen et al., 2009). In addition, inhibition of CaMKII has been reported to reduce NE uptake in SK-N-SH cells (Apparsundaram et al., 1998a). The possible impact of intracellular levels of cyclic AMP (cAMP) and concomitant activity of cAMPdependent kinases on NET surface availability has not been clearly defined. Forskolin, a direct activator of adenylyl cyclases, has been suggested to mediate biphasic effects on NE uptake. At low concentrations (1-3 μ M), forskolin has been shown to increase NE uptake, while at higher concentrations (10-100 µM) forskolin inhibits NET function (Mandela and Ordway, 2006b). However, cAMP analogues had no effects on NE uptake in human SK-N-SH-SY5Y cells endogenously expressing NET or in COS cells transiently expressing hNET (Apparsundaram et al., 1998a; Bryan-Lluka et al., 2001).

The peptide hormone insulin has been shown to regulate monoamine transporter function and monoamine homeostasis. Insulin has been reported to inhibit NE uptake at nanomolar concentrations in PC12 cells, primary neuronal cultures, synaptosomes and hypothalamic and hippocampal brain slices (Boyd et al., 1985; Boyd et al., 1986; Masters et al., 1987; Figlewicz et al., 1993). Robertson et al. (2010) demonstrated that in mouse hippocampal slices, SCG neuronal boutons (sites of synaptic NE release) and in NET-expressing CHO cells, acute (20 min) insulin treatment (1-1000 nM) decreased NET surface levels in a concentration-dependent manner, and pretreatment with an Akt inhibitor abolished the insulin-mediated downregulation of NET (Robertson et al., 2010). Furthermore, treatment with streptozotocin that induces a type 1-like diabetic hypoinsulinemic state in mice has been reported to increase NET surface expression in hippocampal slices and to increase NE clearance in the dentate gyrus, suggesting that aberrations of insulin signaling have the potential to alter NET function and noradrenergic tone in the brain (Robertson et al., 2010; Siuta et al., 2010). Surprisingly, insulin was reported to have opposite effects on DAT: acute insulin treatment and overexpression of constitutively active phosphatidyl-inositol (PI)-3 kinase were found to increase DA uptake (Carvelli et al., 2002), and insulin-depleted rats exhibit reduced cell surface expression of DAT (Williams et al., 2007).

2.6.5 Scaffolding of NET

Scaffolding proteins play important roles in the assembly of large multi-protein complexes, affecting the localization, trafficking and function of their binding partners.

NET, as well as DAT, has been shown to interact with the scaffolding proteins PICK1 (protein interacting with C kinase 1) and Hic5 (hydrogen peroxide-inducible clone-5) (Torres et al., 2001; Carneiro et al., 2002). The focal adhesion protein Hic-5 was shown to interact with the N-terminus of DAT, and overexpression of DAT together with Hic-5 in HEK 293 cells decreased the function and surface levels of the transporter compared to cells expressing only DAT. In contrast, the interaction of NET and Hic-5 was suggested to be mediated through the C-terminus of NET (Carneiro et al., 2002), but the functional implications of this interaction still remain to be explored.

NET, similarly to DAT, contains at its extreme C-terminus a type II PDZ binding domain that has been found to interact with the PDZ domain of PICK1 in a yeast twohybrid screen (Torres et al., 2001). For DAT, the interaction with PICK1 was originally proposed to be important for the ER export of the transporter, since overexpression of PICK1 was shown to enhance DA transport, and truncation of the DAT C-terminus abolished the interaction with PICK1 and impaired the surface expression of the transporter in HEK 293 cells (Torres et al., 2001). Recently, the significance of the C-terminal PDZ domain binding sequence for DAT function was studied in knock-in mice expressing DAT mutants with disrupted PDZ binding domains, providing in vivo evidence that an intact PDZ motif of DAT is indeed crucial for proper surface expression of the transporter (Rickhag et al., 2013). However, the disrupted PDZ-binding domain did not disturb the maturation and ER-export of DAT but rather its stabilization in the presynaptic plasma membrane (Rickhag et al., 2013). Moreover, in mice with targeted deletion of the PICK1 gene, DAT distribution and protein levels were unaltered (Rickhag et al., 2013), indicating that PICK1 is not critical for synaptic DAT distribution in vivo. However, no other PDZ-domain containing proteins have been identified to interact with DAT or NET. For NET, PICK1 was shown to form intracellular clusters when co-expressed with NET in HEK 293 cells (Torres et al. 2001). However, the functional significance of the NET and PICK1 interaction is unknown.

2.7 NET and human diseases

Alterations in the noradrenergic circuitry of the brain have been associated with the pathophysiology of many neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders, such as depression, schizophrenia, ADHD, Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease (Ressler and Nemeroff, 1999). It is possible that abnormalities in NET function may lead to perturbed synaptic NE levels and increase the risk of developing neurological and psychiatric disorders, as well as diseases of the cardiovascular system (Hahn and Blakely, 2002; Hahn and Blakely, 2007). Patients suffering from major depression have demonstrated reduced expression levels of NET in the brain compared to agematched normal control subjects as measured by [³H]-nisoxetine binding sites in postmortem brain samples (Klimek et al., 1997). In addition, changes in the levels of NE and its metabolites in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma have been reported in patients with major depression (Lake et al., 1982; Yehuda et al., 1998). Furthermore, several studies have investigated the possible associations of SNPs in the hNET gene to

depression and other psychiatric disorders, but no consistent associations have been identified (Mandela and Ordway, 2006b; Hahn and Blakely, 2007). The role of catecholaminergic neurotransmission in schizophrenia has been an area of intensive research, and increased NE levels in the brain and spinal fluid have been reported in patients with schizophrenia (Sternberg et al., 1982; van Kammen and Antelman, 1984; Breier et al., 1990). Possible associations of NET SNPs with bipolar disorder or schizophrenia have been investigated, but none have so far been identified (Need et al., 2009). Based on the important role of NE for maintaining attention and vigilance, it has been suggested that disturbed NE neurotransmission might contribute to the pathological mechanisms of ADHD (Biederman and Spencer, 1999). Moreover, a polymorphism in the NET promoter region, significantly decreasing promoter function, was suggested to associate with ADHD (Kim et al., 2006).

Despite the lack of direct evidence of the causality of altered NET function in psychiatric disorders, NET constitutes a primary target for commonly prescribed therapeutic agents used in the symptomatic management of depression, ADHD and eating disorders. Commonly prescribed antidepressants include tricyclic antidepressants, such as desipramine and amitriptyline. The NRI drug atomoxetine is commonly used in both children and adults for the treatment of ADHD.

Moreover, loss of brainstem noradrenergic neurons and diminished levels of NET binding sites in the brainstem are early events in major progressive neurodegenerative disorders, such as Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease (Tejani-Butt et al., 1993; Zarow et al., 2003; Szabadi, 2013). In addition, NET could be an interesting target for both diagnosis and therapy of neuroblastoma since 90 % of neuroblastomas have been reported to express high levels of NET (Castleberry, 1997).

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The current series of studies was aimed to discover new information about the cellular regulation of NET distribution, trafficking and function. Cultured, dissociated sympathetic neurons were employed as the main test model. The goal was to elucidate the molecular mechanisms that regulate and maintain the function of NET in the plasma membrane of the noradrenergic neurons. It was hoped that such knowledge would be useful for the understanding of the spatio-temporal control of synaptic NE levels in physiological conditions, and to project how the function of NET, and therefore NE homeostasis, might be altered in different disease states.

The specific aims of this study were:

- 1. To characterize the cell surface distribution, constitutive internalization and postendocytic sorting of NET in dissociated noradrenergic neurons in culture, and to compare these properties to related transporter of dopamine in neuronal cell models.
- 2. To delineate the possible roles of protein kinases in the regulation of monoamine transporter function and to possible identify novel protein kinases involved in the regulation of function and/or distribution of monoamine transporters; and
- 3. To elucidate the involvement of the PDZ domain protein PICK1 in the regulation of NET function, and to compare the functional role of PICK1 interaction between NET and DAT.

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Outline of studies

The outlines of the present studies are summarized in Table 1.

Study	Used model system	Treatments	Aims
I	Dissociated SCG neurons in culture CAD cells	Lentivirus-mediated expression of Rab proteins Phorbol 12-myristate 13- acetate (PMA)	Characterize the constitutive internalization and postendocytic sorting of NET
II	HEK 293 cells CAD cells PC12 cells	siRNA mediated knockdown of 573 kinases	Identify kinases involved in regulation of NET, DAT and SERT function
ш	Brain slices and synaptosomes from WT and PICK1 KO mice Dissociated SCG neurons in culture CAD cells	ShRNA mediated knockdown of PICK1 Molecular replacement of endogenous PICK1 with recombinant PICK1	Determine the role of the scaffolding protein PICK1 in regulation of NET expression and function

4.2 Molecular biology

4.2.1 Plasmids and DNA cloning

Mammalian pcDNA 3.1 expression vectors containing the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter and the human NET cDNA, the synthetic human DAT cDNA and human DAT cDNA tagged with a human influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA) epitope were kindly provided by Dr. Marc G. Caron, Duke University, Dr. Jonathan A. Javich, Columbia University and Dr. Alexander Sorkina, University of Pittsburg, respectively (study I, II and III). Human SERT and HA-tagged SERT in the pcDNA 3.1 vector were generated as previously described (Rasmussen et al., 2009; Rahbek-Clemmensen et al., 2014a) (study II). A pcDNA 3.1 plasmid containing the Flag-tagged β_2 -adrenoceptor

cDNA was a kind gift from Dr. Mark von Zastrow, University of California (study II). The enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP)-tagged Rab7 and Rab11 constructs (pEGFP-Rab7 and pEGFP-Rab11) were kind gifts from Dr. Katherine W. Roche, NINDS, National Institutes of Health (study I). The plasmid pEGFP-Rab4 was a kind gift from Dr. José A. Esteban, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid (study I). The NET 1-128/DAT construct was a kind gift from Dr. Bruno Giros, Douglas Mental Health University Institute (study I). YFP-PICK1 and YFP-PICK1 A87L were generated as described (Madsen et al., 2008), and the N-terminal glutathione-S-transferase (GST) fusion construct of the rat PICK1 in the pET41a vector (Novagen) was produced as previously described (Thorsen et al., 2010) (study III). The viral vector plasmids pHsSynXW EGFP, PICK1 KD, EGFP-Rab4, -Rab7 -Rab11, - Rab11S25N, -PICK1, -PICK1A87L were generated as previously described (Eriksen et al., 2009) (study II, III). A DAT/NET590-617 chimeric construct was generated by first introducing a unique restriction site, Bsi I, to the coding sequence of NET by PCR, and by then ligating the C-terminal tail of NET into DAT using digestion with Bsi I and Xba (Table 2). Subsequently, the construct was cloned into pcDNA 3.1 (study I). DAT1-59/NET, NET/DAT593-620 and TacNET constructs were generated by a two-step PCR procedure as described in study I (Table 2). All constructs were verified by dideoxynucleotide sequencing (Eurofins Genomics, Ebersberg, Germany).

1	8 8	
Construct	Primer name	Sequence
Study I		
DAT/NET590-617	sNET_Cterm_BsiWI	CAGCAGGCGTACGGCATCACGCCAGAGAACCAG
DAT/NET590-617	asNET_Cterm (XbaI)	GGCTGATCAGCGAGCTCTAGC
DAT1-59/NET	sNET_body	GGCCCAGGACCGGGAGACCTGGGGCAAG
DAT1-59/NET	asNET_body	CACTATAGAATAGGGCCCTC
DAT1-59/NET	sDAT_Nterm	CCACTGCTTACTGGCTTATCG
DAT1-59/NET	asDAT_Nterm	<i>GGTCTCCCG</i> GTCCTGGGCCTCC
NET/DAT593-620	sNET_body	CACTATAGGGAGACCCAAGC
NET/DAT593-620	asNET_body	CGATAGCGTACGCCAGTCTCTCCCAAAGAGAGCC
NET/DAT593-620	sDAT_Cterm	GGAGAGACTGGCGTACGCTATCGCCCCCGAG
NET/DAT593-620	asDAT_Cterm	GCTGATCAGCGAGCTCTAGC
Study III		
ShControl	sSh18_remove (AfeI)	AGTAACGGATCCTTTTTCTAGCCCCAAGGGCG
ShControl	asSh18 remove (BamHI)	TCGCCGAGAAGGGACTACTTTTCCTCGCCTG

Table 2. A list of primers used for mutagenesis in studies I and III. Nucleotides that encode an artificial restriction enzyme recognition site (bold black) or overhangs (*italic*) used in the two-step PCR reactions are highlighted.

4.2.2 siRNAs and shRNAs

RNA interference (RNAi) is a biological process employed as a research tool where RNA molecules, namely small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and small hairpin RNAs (shRNAs), are used to inhibit gene expression via selective mRNA destruction. In the primary siRNA screen (study II), we used a Silencer® human siRNA kinase library (Ambion) targeting 573 human kinases, each with three individual siRNAs (Beck et al., 2010). In the secondary screen, we used the Silencer® Select custom siRNA library

(Ambion) targeting 93 kinases, each with two individual siRNAs, designed using a different algorithm. Separate siRNAs (Ambion) targeting the sequences of mouse/rat salt-inducible kinase 3 (SIK3), protein kinase X-linked (PrKX), and protein kinase A catalytic subunit α (PKA C- α) were used in the final hit validation in CAD and PC12 cells. In addition, all screens included several commercially available negative controls (siRNAs not targeting any annotated genes in the human genome) (Ambion). The dual promoter FUGW-based lentiviral vectors in which the H1 promoter drives the expression of shRNA targeting PICK1 and the ubiquitin promoter drives expression either of GFP (PICK1 KD construct) or an N-terminal GFP-fusion protein of PICK1 resistant to the shPICK1 sequence (GFP-PICK1 rescue construct) (study III) were kindly provided by Robert C. Malenka, Stanford University (Citri et al., 2010).

4.3 Thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide assay

Thiazolyl blue tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay (study II) was used to assess cell metabolic activity and viability 72h post siRNA transfections. HEK 293 and CAD cells were incubated with 0.5 mg/ml MTT for 2 h at 37 °C during which the dye is converted to water-insoluable formazon by mitochondrial dehydrogenases. Subsequently, the blue crystals were solubilized with acidic isopropanol and then intensity of converted dye was measured colorimetrically at 570 nM in a Wallac Victor 2 (Perkin Elmer).

4.4 Primary antibodies

Antibody	Company	Method and dilution
hNET	Mab Technologies (17-1)	IC 1:1000, WB 1:2500
mNET, rNET	Mab Technologies (05-1)	IC 1:1000, WB 1:2500
hDAT	Millipore (Mab369)	WB 1:1000
hDAT	Santa Cruz (sc-1433)	WB 1:500
hSERT	Santa Cruz (sc-1458)	WB 1:500
mTH	Millipore (Mab318)	IC 1:1000
mPICK1	Novus Biologicals (NBP1-42829B)	IC 1:500, WB 1:500
HA	Covance (HA.11)	ELISA 1:1000
MI (anti-FLAG)	Sigma-Aldrich (F3040)	IC 1µ/ml

Table 3. A list of primary antibodies used for immunochemical staining (IC), western blot (WB) and ELISA analysis in studies I, II and III.

4.5 Fluorescence polarization assay

Fluorescence polarization (FP) (study III) allows rapid and quantitative analysis of molecular interactions, such as protein-protein binding events. Here, the affinity of a fluorescently labeled reporter molecule (DAT C-terminal peptide coupled to OregonGreen, DAT C13-Org) to purified recombinant PICK1 was measured by saturation FP experiments. Second, competition FP experiments were performed to

determine the affinity of an unlabeled, competing molecule (NET C-terminal peptide) to the purified PICK1. Thus, the competition FP assay was carried out using a fixed, non-saturating concentration of purified PICK1 (final concentration 4 μ M), a fixed concentration of the reporter peptide DAT C13-OregonGreen (final concentration 40 nM) and increasing concentrations of the NET C-terminal peptide (final concentrations from 0.2 nM to 1 mM). The extent of FP (as arbitrary milli-Polarization units, mP) was measured using a POLARstar instrument (BMG Labtech, Ortenberg, Germany) with a 488 nm excitation filter and a 535 nm long-pass emission filter. To determine the IC₅₀-value and to estimate the equilibrium competition binding constant (K_i-value) for the NET C11 peptide (RQFQLQHWLAI), the measured FP was plotted as a function of the concentration of the NET C11 peptide and fitted using a one-site competition binding model in GraphPad PrismTM (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA).

4.6 Cell lines and primary cells

4.6.1 Cell cultures and transfections

To express proteins of interest for subsequent functional analysis, the vector-based constructs were transfected into mammalian cells (study I, II, III). Human embryonic kidney (HEK 293) cells (ATCC CRL-1573) and HEK 293 -derived cells containing the SV40 T-antigen (HEK 293T cells) (ATCC CRL-3216) were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) with HEPES and sodium bicarbonate (DMEM 1965), and differentiated CATH.a (CAD) cells (ATCC CRL-11179) were grown in a 1:1 mixture of DMEM 1965 and Ham's F12 medium (Invitrogen), all supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 0.01 mg/ml gentamicin. Rat PC12 cells (ATCC-CRL 1721) were cultured in DMEM 1965 supplemented with 10 % horse serum and 5 % FBS in the presence of 0.01 mg/ml gentamicin. The construct cDNAs and siRNAs were transfected into the cells using standard Lipofectamine 2000 protocols (Invitrogen), either 48 h (vectors) or 66 h (siRNAs) prior to actual experiments. The production of stable HEK 293 cell lines expressing DAT, HA-DAT, SERT and HA-SERT was performed as described in study II. All cell lines were cultured at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO₂.

4.6.2 Dissociated sympathetic neurons in culture

In order to investigate the cellular distribution, function and regulation of endogenous NET, dissociated rat sympathetic neurons of the superior cervical ganglia (SCG) were utilized (study I, III). These cells synthesize and secrete catecholamines and neuropeptides from their terminal sites (May et al., 1995; Zhou and Misler, 1995; Koh and Hille, 1997), and express high levels of NET (Savchenko et al., 2003; Matthies et al., 2009). Postnatally derived rat SCG neurons were dissected using a protocol modified from that of Savchenko *et al.* (Savchenko et al., 2003), and cultured on glia

cell monolayer as described in detail in study I. Cultures were grown for 12-16 days in supplemented medium prior to actual experiments.

4.7 Lentivirus production and transduction

Lentiviral vectors derived from the human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) were used to deliver genes of interest into dissociated SCG neurons in culture (study I, III). These cells are difficult to transfect and do not readily provide long-term transgene expression. Lentiviral vectors were produced in HEK 293T cells by triple transfecting the cells with essential lentiviral genes: viral structure proteins (pBR_8.91) and vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein (pMD.G), together with the gene of interest (EGFP-Rab4, -Rab7, -Rab11, - Rab11S25N, EGFP, PICK1 KD, GFP-PICK1, and GFP-PICK1 A87L expressed in the pHsSynXW vector), to allow the production of lentiviral particles. Media containing lentivirus particles were collected approximately 48 h and 72 h after transfection, filtered and concentrated as described in study I and III. The SCG neuronal cultures were infected with the lentivirus on days 4–5 of *in vitro* culture. The actual experiments were performed 8–14 days after infection.

4.8 Animals

PICK1 knockout (KO) mice (C57BL/6J genetic background) (study III) were kindly provided by Dr. Richard Huganir (Johns Hopkins University). All animal experiments were conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the Danish Animal Experimentation Inspectorate Agency in a fully AAALAC accredited facility, after approval by the local animal welfare committee (Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Copenhagen).

4.9 Analysis of monoamine transporter function

The central role of monoamine transporters is to mediate the rapid uptake of synaptically released neurotransmitter within and around synapses. The classical radiometric uptake assay is a relatively simple but powerful method to investigate transporter function. Here, the uptake experiments were carried out using 30–60 Ci/mmol [³H]-DA (NET, DAT and chimeras) or [³H]-5-HT (SERT) (PerkinElmer Life Sciences) (study I, II, III). In the uptake assay, whole cells or membrane vesicles expressing monoamine transporters were incubated with radiolabeled substrate for 3-10 minutes. Subsequently, the substrate was removed, the cells or membrane vesicles were washed and solubilized, and the accumulated amount of radioactive substrate was assessed using a two-fold dilution series of DA (final concentrations: 0.05 to 6.4 μ M) with a trace amount of [³H]-DA and CAD cells transiently expressing the transporter of interest (NET, DAT or chimeras). Uptake was initiated by adding serial dilutions of dopamine/ [³H]-dopamine and was allowed to continue for 3 min at room temperature

(RT). Nonspecific uptake was determined in the presence of 100 μ M desipramine or nomifensine. Subsequently, cells were lysed, Opti-Phase HiSafe3 scintillation fluid was added and the samples were counted in a Wallac Tri-Lux β - scintillation counter. Uptake data were analyzed with GraphPad Prism 5.0 programs.

4.10 Analysis of NET localization

4.10.1 Immunofluorescent labeling and confocal microscopy

Immunohistochemistry is widely used biological technique that combines anatomical, immunological and biochemical techniques to visualize the distribution and localization of specific antigens in cells or tissue sections by their interaction with specific antibodies tagged with a visible label. Here (study III), adult mice (PICK1 KO and WT littermates) were deeply anaesthetized and transcardially perfused with 4 % paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 0.1 M PBS. Coronal brain sections (40 µm) from the brainstem and cerebral cortex were first incubated with blocking/permeabilization buffer (5 % goat serum (GS), 1 % bovine serum albumin (BSA), 0.3 % Triton X-100 in PBS). Subsequently, mouse anti-NET antibody and chicken anti-PICK1 antibody were added into the same blocking solution and the sections were incubated overnight at 4 °C. Next day, the sections were rinsed (0.25 % BSA, 0.1 % Triton X-100 in PBS) and incubated with goat anti-mouse Alexa Fluor® 568 and goat anti-chicken Alexa Fluor® 488 secondary antibodies for 1 h. Additional rinsing was followed by mounting of coverslips and Prolong Gold antifade reagent.

For the immunocytochemical experiments (study I, III), the SCG neurons grown on glia-coated coverslips or the CAD cells transiently expressing protein(s) of interest on polyornithine-coated coverslips, were fixed and incubated with blocking and permeabilization buffer (5 % GS, 0.2 % saponin in PBS, pH 7.4). Some specimens were incubated with the fluorescent cocaine analogue JHC 1-64 (50 nM) prior fixation to visualize the surface expressed NET. The cells were immunostained using mouse anti-NET antibody, mouse anti-TH antibody or chicken anti-PICK1 antibody diluted in blocking buffer (5 % GS in PBS) for 30 min at RT. Appropriate secondary antibodies were used as above.

Confocal microscopy was performed using a Zeiss confocal laser-scanning microscope (LSM 510) equipped with an oil immersion 63x lens with 1,4 numerical aperture (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Rhodamine- conjugated JHC 1-64 and Alexa Fluor® 568 dye were excited using 543 nm laser light from a helium-neon (HeNe) laser source, and emitted fluorescent light was filtered using a 585 nm long-pass filter. Alexa Fluor® 488 dye and EGFP were excited using a 488 nm laser line from an argon-krypton laser (argon laser) and the emitted light was filtered using a long-pass 505-530 nm barrier filter. Image processing was performed with Image J (National Institutes of Health).

4.10.2 Surface ELISA

Surface ELISA (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay) utilizes enzyme-linked antibodies that detect the presence of a substance, such as an antigen, on the surface of a sample, and in response to addition of substrate produces a detectable signal. To evaluate changes in surface expression of NET (study I) upon incubation with JHC 1-64 (0.5μ M), PMA (1μ M) or vehicle (0.01% dimethyl sulfoxide, DMSO) for 1 h at 37 °C, HEK 293 cells transiently expressing Flag-tagged TacNET were seeded on 96-well plates. Accordingly, to evaluate the surface expression of DAT and SERT in response to siRNA transfections (study II), HEK 293 cells stably expressing HA-DAT or HA-SERT were seeded on 96-well plates. The cells were fixed, blocked with 5 % GS in PBS and incubated with 1 μ g/ml M1 antibody (TacNET) or mouse anti-HA antibody (HA-DAT and HA-SERT) in 5 % GS in PBS for one hour. Following washes in PBS, a secondary HRP-conjugated antibody was applied, and the enzyme activity was detected by chemiluminescence using Supersignal ELISA femto maximum sensitivity substrate and measured in a Wallac Victor2 (PerkinElmerLife Sciences).

4.10.3 Surface biotinylation

Biotinylation is a process to detect or purify proteins by covalently attaching them with biotin, and then utilizing the extremely high affinity between biotin and streptavidin/avidin. To evaluate the surface expression of NET (study III), CAD cells transiently expressing NET and PICK1 KD or control constructs were washed with cold PBS and surface biotinylated with 1.2 mg/ml disulfide-cleavable biotin for 1 hour on ice. Free biotin reagent was removed by quenching with glycine, cells were lysed in lysis buffer (25 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 % Triton X-100, 0.2 mM protease inhibitor PMSF (ThermoFisher) and 5 mM N-ethylmaleimide), centrifuged and supernatants were collected. Total fractions were reserved from all samples and mixed with an equal volume of 2x loading buffer containing 1 % SDS, 2.5 % β-mercaptoethanol and 100 mM dithiothreitol. To pull down the biotinylated proteins, the samples were incubated overnight with avidin beads at in 4 °C under constant rotation. Subsequently beads were washed and bound proteins were eluted with 2x loading buffer. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted to estimate the relative amounts of NET present in the blots. The transporter band densities were quantified with Image J software.

4.11 Analysis of NET trafficking

4.11.1 JHC 1-64 live cell imaging

Labeling of cultured SCG neurons with the rhodamine-conjugated cocaine analogue JHC 1-64, followed by confocal live imaging, allows an efficient visualization of NET surface expression and internalization, with a high signal/noise ratio (study I, III). SCG

neurons with or without lentiviral transduction were first incubated with JHC 1-64 (50 nM) for 20 min at 4 °C and either immediately imaged to visualize the surfaceexpressed transporter or incubated for 1 h at 37 °C to allow internalization and then imaged using LSM 510. To assess the effect of activation of PKC on NET internalization, SCG neurons were incubated for 1 h at 37 °C in the presence of 1 μ M PMA or vehicle (0.01 % DMSO) after surface labeling of NET with JHC 1-64 at 4 °C. To further assess the postendocytic fate of NET, we visualized lysosomes by incubating non-transduced SCG neurons with Lysotracker Green (50 nM, Invitrogen) during the last 15 min of incubation at 37 °C. To verify the specific binding of JHC 1-64 to NET, some specimens were preincubated with desipramine (100 μ M) for 20 min before labeling with JHC 1-64. Likewise, surface expression, internalization and postendocytic sorting of NET, DAT or NET-DAT chimeras were studied in CAD cells transiently expressing protein(s) of interest using JHC 1-64 as described in Paper I.

4.11.2 Antibody feeding assay (internalization assay)

Antibodies recognizing specific cell surface antigens (or epitopes) can internalize with the antigen-presenting proteins, and may be visualized by microscopy with a directly conjugated fluorophore or with a secondary conjugated fluorophore. Antibody feeding experiments (study I, III) were carried out in CAD cells transiently expressing Flagtagged TacNET together with EGFP-Rab7, EGFP-Rab11, control or PICK1 KD constructs by incubating the cells with mouse anti-Flag antibody (M1 antibody) (1 µg/ml) in DMEM at 4 °C for 30 min to label surface-expressed TacNET. Subsequently, cells were washed and incubated in pre-warmed medium for 1 h at 37 °C to allow internalization (or at 4 °C as a non-trafficking surface control). Internalization was terminated by washing the cells with ice cold PBS followed by PFA. Subsequently, the cells were permeabilized fixation in 4 % in blocking/permeabilization buffer, incubated with anti-mouse Alexa Fluor® 568 secondary antibody, washed, mounted with ProLong Gold Antifade reagent and visualized by confocal microscopy.

4.11.3 Reversible biotinylation assay (internalization assay)

To investigate the extent of transporter internalization in CAD cells transiently transfected with equal amounts of NET, DAT or NET-DAT chimeras, the cells were surface biotinylated with 1.2 mg/ml disulfide-cleavable biotin for 1 hour on ice (study I). Quenching with glycine was followed by transporter endocytosis (1 h at 37 °C) with no treatment, with leupeptin (100 μ g/ml) or with leupeptin (100 μ g/ml) and monensin (25 μ M). Control plates were kept on ice to prevent internalization. Subsequently, the biotin was dissociated from the cell surface resident proteins by incubating the cells with cold sodium-2-mercaptoethanesulfonate (MesNa, 100 mM). To determine total biotinylation, a sample of biotinylated cells was not subjected to reduction with MesNa. After washing steps, the cells were lysed in lysis buffer and the samples were handled identically to surface biotinylated samples (see chapter 4.8.3).

4.12 Quantification of mRNA and protein levels

4.12.1 qPCR analysis

Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) is a sensitive method to monitor the amplification of a target DNA molecule during the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Either specific or nonspecific fluorescent reporters may be employed. Here (study II, III), RNA from cell lysates was extracted using the Nucleospin[®] RNA kit (Macherey-Nagel), and subsequently the isolated RNA samples (0.5 - 1 μ g) were reverse transcribed to cDNA using AffinityScriptTMQPCR cDNA kit (Stratagene) (study II) or the Improm-IITM Reverse Transcription System kit (Promega) (study III). After synthesis, the cDNA was diluted ten-fold with RNAse-free H₂O and 2 μ l was used in a 20 μ l quantitative qPCR reaction containing SYBR Premix Ex Taq (TaKaRa) and 2.0 pmol of each primer. qPCR was performed using the Mx3000P instrument (Stratagene), with cycle threshold (Ct) values obtained using Stratagene Mx3000P software. TATA-binding protein (TBP) was used as a reference gene, and the data were normalized to the control sample.

4.12.2 Western blot analysis

Western blot is an analytical technique used to detect proteins in cell or tissue homogenates using antibodies targeting specific proteins. First, HEK 293 or CAD cells were transiently transfected with cDNAs encoding the protein of interest (DAT, SERT, NET or Flag- β 2AR) together with siRNAs (against SIK3, PKA C- α , PrKX or control) or ShRNAs (against PICK1 or control) (study II, III), whereas SCG neurons in culture were transduced with lentivirus encoding the protein of interest (GFP, PICK1 KD, PICK1 WT rescue or PICK1 A87L) (study III). Treatment of neuronal lysates with peptide-*N*-glycosidase F (PNGase F) was carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions (study III). Second, cells were lysed in cold lysis buffer, the lysates were centrifuged at 16 000 g for 20 min at 4 °C, and the supernatants were collected. Equal amounts of lysates were incubated with SDS loading buffer, separated by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted using primary antibodies listed in Table 3.

To estimate the relative amounts of NET in the brainstem and frontal cortex of adult WT and PICK1 KO mice (study I), the mice were decapitated, the brains were removed from the cranial cavity, chilled and sectioned. Samples of the frontal cortex and brainstem noradrenergic nuclei were dissected from the 1 mm thick coronal sections. The tissue samples were homogenized in lysis buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 % Triton-X, 0.5 % NP-40, 1 mM EDTA and protease inhibitors, and mechanically disrupted with a Teflon pestle (800 rpm, 10 x 5 s). Samples were centrifuged at 16 000 g for 20 min at 4 °C, and the supernatants were collected and processed as described above.

4.13 Data analysis

Quantification of JHC 1-64 labeled transporter internalization in SCG neurons and CAD cells (study I) was performed setting fixed minimum threshold pixel intensity in the 8-bit pictures and defining the ratio of total integrated density of internalized, JHC 1-64 labeled transporter and the total integrated density of the entire labeled transporter pool. 20-29 SCG neurons and 62-75 CAD cells from at least three independent experiments were used for quantification under each condition. Statistical analyses were carried out with one-way ANOVA, Bonferroni's multiple-comparison test using GraphPad Prism. P values smaller than 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

Quantification of colocalization (study I) was performed using Van Steensel's cross correlation function in the JaCoP (Just Another Colocalization Plugin) for Image J. Van Steensel's cross correlation function reports the Pearson cross-correlation as a function of the relative movement of the two channels with respect to each other. Structures with complete colocalization results in a cross-correlation function of 1 at Dx=0 and exclusive structures demonstrate cross-correlation function of 0 or close to 0 at Dx=0. Image acquisition and quantification under each condition was performed blinded and consisted of three to five independent experiments each containing 10-25 cells.

³H-dopamine uptake experiments of transduced SCG neurons (n=3-5) and internalization assays of NET, DAT and NET-DAT chimeras in CAD cells (reversible biotinylation, n=3-5) (study I) were analyzed using one-way ANOVA, Bonferroni's multiple-comparison test (GraphPad Prism). Surface ELISA (n=6) in HEK 293 cells were analyzed using one-way ANOVA, Dunn's multiple comparison (GraphPad Prism). *P* values smaller than 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

The results of study II were analyzed with standard methods using GraphPad Prism. Secondary siRNA screen hits were analyzed using Student's *t*-test and for simplicity not corrected for multiple testing. In addition, the effect of siRNA-mediated silencing of kinases on transporter function and expression were analyzed using Student's *t*-test. *P* values smaller than 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

The statistical analysis of NET expression and function in *ex vivo* preparations derived from WT and PICK1 KO mice (study III) were performed using Student's *t*-test. Accordingly, the effect of shRNA-mediated silencing of PICK on NET and DAT expression, function and trafficking in *in vitro* models were analyzed using Student's *t*-test. One-way ANOVA, Bonferroni's multiple comparison test was employed when the effect of PICK1 silencing and molecular replacement with recombinant PICK1 (WT or A87L mutant) on NET function, expression and trafficking was investigated in neuronal cell models. *P* values smaller than 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

5 **RESULTS**

5.1 NET trafficking

5.1.1 Motivation

It is believed that alterations in NET abundance in the plasma membrane modulate noradrenergic signaling by affecting both neurotransmitter clearance and the refilling of presynaptic storage vesicles. Endocytic trafficking has been suggested to be a major means by which NET and other SLC6 transporters are functionally regulated (Kristensen et al., 2011). This is supported by the notion that most NET is located intracellularly in noradrenergic neurons (Savchenko et al., 2003; Sung et al., 2003; Matthies et al., 2009), suggesting that NET is dynamically transported between intracellular compartments and the plasma membrane. A major goal of the present study I was to investigate the internalization and postendocytic properties of NET in noradrenergic neurons by employing several approaches, including the use of the fluorescent cocaine analogue JHC 1-64.

5.1.2 Fluorescent cocaine analogue JHC 1-64

The fluorescent cocaine analogue JHC 1-64 contains a rhodamine moiety, extending from the tropane nitrogen of the parent compound 2β -carbomethoxy- 3β -(3,4dichlorophenyl) tropane with an ethylamino linker (Cha et al., 2005). JHC 1-64 displays high apparent affinity for NET (Cha et al., 2005) and slow dissociation from the transporter as described in study I. Confocal imaging of live SCG neurons labeled with JHC 1-64 revealed a strong fluorescent signal corresponding to the plasma membrane of the somata, projections and presynaptic boutons (Fig. 7A). In general, labeling with JHC 1-64 demonstrated rather uniform distribution of the fluorescence in the plasma membrane, with strongest intensity in neuronal projections and boutons. Consistent with specific visualization of NET, no labeling was observed in the glial cell layer or in cultures preincubated with the NET inhibitor designamine (100 μ M). Co-staining of JHC 1-64-labeled SCG neurons with antibodies directed against noradrenergic cell markers, NET and TH, demonstrated clear JHC 1-64 plasma membrane labeling of neurons positive for NET and TH immunoreactivity (study I). Taken together, it was shown that JHC 1-64 may be employed as a tool to specifically label surface-resident NET in SCG neuronal cultures. Furthermore, JHC 1-64 labeling demonstrated, to our knowledge for the first time, that NET is also present on the plasma membrane of the noradrenergic somata.



Figure 7. Visualization of NET surface distribution and internalization in live, cultured sympathetic neurons with the fluorescent cocaine analogue JHC 1-64. Confocal images of representative SCG neurons incubated with 50 nM JHC 1-64 for 20 min at 4 °C that are either imaged immediately (A) or subsequently incubated at 37 °C for 1 h allowing internalization and then imaged (B). Scale bars 10 μ m. Arrows indicate intracellular fluorescent puncta representing internalized NET.

To exclude the possibility that binding of JHC 1-64 to the transporter would affect the surface expression or trafficking properties of NET, we generated a TacNET fusion construct of the single transmembrane segment protein Tac containing an extracellular Flag recognition sequence and NET. TacNET exhibited functional activity, although its maximum uptake capacity was reduced as compared to wild-type NET, and the fluorescent signal of the M1-antibody labeled TacNET was clearly detected on the plasma membrane in TacNET expressing cells. Importantly, an ELISA-based assay demonstrated that activation of PKC and other kinases by PMA (1 µM) caused a significant reduction of TacNET surface expression as expected (Apparsundaram et al., 1998b; Jayanthi et al., 2004), but incubation of the cells with a saturating concentration of JHC 1-64 (0.5 µM) for 1 h at 37 °C did not cause any change in TacNET surface expression compared to vehicle (0.01 % DMSO). Furthermore, antibody feeding experiments of CAD cells expressing TacNET together with either EGFP-Rab7 or EGFP-Rab11 demonstrated a similar postendocytic fate of the transporter as observed with JHC 1-64 -labeled NET (see section 5.1.3). Together, these results indicate that JHC 1-64 does not by itself affect NET surface expression or trafficking.

5.1.3 Constitutive internalization and postendocytic fate of NET

Surface-expressed NET in the SCG neurons was labeled with JHC 1-64 at 4 °C, followed by internalization at 37 °C for 1 h. Internalized, JHC 1-64 -labeled NET was visible as distinct intracellular vesicular structures in the somata and their proximal extensions as well as in the cytoplasm of the boutons (Fig. 7B). These structures were not observed in cells kept at a temperature (4 °C) not permissive for trafficking (Fig. 7A). Indeed, quantification of confocal sections of live SCG neurons showed significantly higher internalization of JHC 1-64 -labeled NET upon incubation at 37 °C (constitutive internalization) compared to the control cells kept at 4 °C. NET internalization was further increased by activation of PKC and other kinases by PMA (1 μ M).

To elucidate the postendocytic fate of internalized JHC 1-64 -labeled NET, cultured SCG neurons were transduced with lentivirus encoding different endosomal markers tagged with EGFP. Internalized JHC 1-64 -labeled NET demonstrated strong overlap with the signal from EGFP-Rab11, which mediates recycling of cargo back to the plasma membrane from pericentriolar recycling endosomes (Ullrich et al., 1996) and marks the "long loop" recycling pathway, both in the somata and proximal extensions, as well as in the boutons. Quantification of the colocalization of JHC 1-64 -labeled NET with the endosomal markers using Van Steensel's cross correlation analysis confirmed the strong overlap between internalized JHC 1-64 -labeled NET and EGFP-Rab11 -positive endosomes, and little overlap between internalized JHC 1-64 -labeled NET and EGFP-Rab7, marker of the late endosomes, in the somata and boutons. Moderate association of internalized JHC 1-64 -labeled NET was observed with EGFP-Rab4 -positive "fast recycling" endosomes in the somata, but this association appeared stronger in the boutons compared to the somata and proximal extensions. An antibody-based internalization assay in CAD cells expressing TacNET together with either EGFP-Rab7 or EGFP-Rab11 likewise demonstrated strong overlap of the constitutively internalized M1-antibody labeled TacNET with EGFP-Rab11 and showed little colocalization with EGFP-Rab7.

Constitutive internalization of NET and sorting to recycling was further supported by results from a biochemical internalization assay (reversible biotinylation) with pharmacological manipulation of the degradation and recycling pathways. The results obtained with NET expressing CAD cells strongly support extensive constitutive internalization of NET by revealing significantly stronger NET immunoreactivity and thus intracellular NET levels for cells incubated at 37 °C for 1 h as compared to cells kept at 4 °C (Fig. 8A). Inhibition of lysosomal degradation by the lysosomal protease inhibitor leupeptin during the internalization period did not cause any further increase in the amount of NET immunoreactivity (Fig. 8A). However, additional inhibition of recycling by monensin, a cation ionophore blocking recycling (Mollenhauer et al., 1990), caused a significant increase in intracellular NET (Fig. 8A), supporting our results from the imaging experiments that indicated that NET is primarily recycled and not targeted to degradation upon internalization.

We went on to mitigate the function of the Rab11 compartment by overexpressing the dominant negative Rab11 mutant, Rab11 S25N, in SCG neurons. The overexpression of EGFP-Rab11 S25N resulted in a significant decrease in NET transport capacity compared to neurons only overexpressing EGFP, as illustrated by reduced [³H]-DA uptake. Overexpression of EFGP-Rab11 or EGFP-Rab7 did not alter NET transport capacity. A role of the Rab11 pathway in regulation of NET function was further supported by experiments in transfected CAD cells where co-expression of NET with Rab11 S25N, caused a significant decrease in [³H]-DA uptake compared to cells co-expressing NET and wild-type Rab11. Co-expression of NET with dominant negative Rab4 (Rab4 S25N), however, did not cause any change in the NET uptake rate compared to cells expressing wild-type Rab4. Altogether, our results suggest that constitutively internalized NET is to a major extent sorted to the Rab11 recycling compartment and that impairment of the Rab11 pathway results in decreased NET function.

5.1.4 Distinct trafficking properties of NET and DAT

To directly compare NET trafficking properties with DAT, previously shown to be sorted largely to lysosomal degradation (Daniels and Amara, 1999; Eriksen et al., 2010a; Rahbek-Clemmensen et al., 2014b), we employed the JHC 1-64 internalization assay to assess the postendocytic fate of the transporters in CAD cells transiently transfected with NET or DAT together with either EGFP-Rab7 or EGFP-Rab11. Consistently with the results from cultured SCG neurons, JHC 1-64 -labeled NET colocalized prominently with EGFP-Rab11 and only to a limited extent with EGFP-Rab7. In agreement with previous findings for DAT (Eriksen et al., 2010a), JHC 1-64 - labeled DAT appeared to be more associated with EGFP-Rab7 than EGFP-Rab11. Also the results of biotinylation experiments supported that DAT is to a large degree sorted to degradation: inhibition of lysosomal degradation (with leupeptin) showed significantly increased intracellular accumulation of DAT, whereas additional inhibition of recycling (with leupetin and monensin) did not further increase the DAT immunoreactive signal (Fig. 8B).

Differences in the apparent extent of NET and DAT internalization were evident in the reversible biotinylation experiments. DAT demonstrated a significantly lesser extent of internalization compared to NET as determined with accumulated immunoreactivity during the 1 h internalization period at 37 °C, when recycling and degradation were blocked with leupeptin and monensin $(12 \pm 1 \%$ versus $41 \pm 2 \%$, respectively, n = 3-4) (Fig. 8A, B). Moreover, the confocal images demonstrated that internalized JHC 1-64 - labeled NET vesicles seemed to have a more perinuclear localization compared to internalized JHC 1-64 - labeled DAT vesicles, which were seen as smaller, more peripherally located puncta (Fig. 9A). Quantification of the distance of the brightest vesicles to the plasma membrane revealed that JHC 1-64/DAT vesicles were significantly closer to the plasma membrane compared with NET/JHC 1-64 vesicles, further supporting differential trafficking properties of the two transporters (Fig. 9C).



Figure 8. Assessing internalization and postendocytic sorting of NET, DAT and DAT/NET chimeras by reversible biotinylation experiments. A, B) Inhibition of lysosomal degradation (with leupeptin 100 μ g/ml) during the internalization period caused significant increase in DAT but not NET intracellular accumulation, whereas additional inhibition of recycling (with leupeptin 100 μ g/ml + monensin 25 μ M) caused a significant increase in the amount of NET but not DAT immunoreactivity. C, D) DAT(1–59)/NET internalization properties are more similar to those seen for wild-type DAT, whereas NET(1–128)/DAT internalization properties are more similar to those seen for wild-type NET. MesNa, sodium-2-mercaptoethanol sulfonate.



Figure 9. NET displays more constitutive internalization than DAT, and internalized NET vesicles have a more perinuclear localization than internalized DAT vesicles. A, Representative confocal live cell images of JHC 1-64 -labeled NET (top left) and DAT (bottom left) in transfected CAD cells after 1 h at 37 °C. Scales bar 10 μ m. Arrows indicate intracellular fluorescent puncta representing internalized transporter. B, Quantification of the internalization of JHC 1-64 -labeled transporters. C. Quantification of the JHC 1-64 vesicle distances from the plasma membrane.

5.1.5 Role of N-termini for NET and DAT trafficking properties

Chimeras between NET and DAT where the N- and C-termini were exchanged between the two proteins were constructed to assess whether specific intracellular domains of NET or DAT encoded information sufficient to direct the internalized transporter to a specific endosomal compartment. All chimeras were readily expressed in the plasma membrane, exhibited normal functional activity, and could be labeled with JHC 1-64 (study I). Confocal images demonstrated that introducing the DAT Nterminus into NET (DAT 1-59/NET) profoundly decreased colocalization with EGFP-Rab11 without altering the colocalization with EGFP-Rab7. Correspondingly, introducing the NET N-terminus into DAT (NET1-128/DAT) markedly increased colocalization with EGFP-Rab11 without altering the colocalization with Rab7. Introducing the DAT C-terminus into NET (NET/DAT593-620) or the NET Cterminus into DAT (DAT/NET 590-617) did not alter the postendocytic fate of the transporters. Results from the reversible biotinylation assay supported the notion that the postendocytic fate of DAT1-59/NET was more similar to that seen for wild-type DAT, i.e. primarily sorting to degradation (Fig. 8B, C) and for NET1-128/DAT we observed a postendocytic fate more similar to that seen for wild-type NET, i.e. sorting to recycling (Fig. 8A, D). In addition, the extent of internalization, as determined with recycling and degradation blocked by leupeptin and monensin, was greater for wildtype NET compared to DAT1-59/NET (41 \pm 2 % versus 16 \pm 2 %, respectively, mean \pm SEM, n = 3-4), and it was also greater for NET1-128/DAT compared to wild-type DAT $(32 \pm 8 \%$ versus $12 \pm 1 \%$, respectively, mean \pm SEM, n = 3-4) (Fig. 8). Together, these results indicate that NET displays a markedly greater extent of constitutive internalization than DAT and is to a large extent sorted to recycling whereas DAT is mainly sorted to degradation. These differential trafficking properties are determined in part by non-conserved structural elements in the intracellular N-termini of the two transporter proteins.

5.2 Kinome-wide RNAi screen

5.2.1 Motivation

Protein kinases mediate many important modifications of target protein function, localization and interactions with other proteins, and thus play crucial roles in many cellular processes. Only a limited number of protein kinases regulating the function of monoamine transporters have been identified so far (Zahniser and Doolen, 2001; Torres et al., 2003a; Kristensen et al., 2011), although monoamine transporters contain several consensus sites for protein kinase phosphorylation. PKC is the most extensively investigated kinase and activation of PKC by PMA has been shown to downregulate DAT, NET and SERT in both native preparations and in heterologous expression systems (Huff et al., 1997; Vaughan et al., 1997; Blakely et al., 1998; Apparsundaram et al., 1998a; Apparsundaram et al., 1998b; Jayanthi et al., 2004). However, little is known about the entire ensemble of kinases and kinase pathways in the control of monoamine transporter function. Here (study II), whole human kinome RNA interference (RNAi) screen was performed as an unbiased and comprehensive analysis to identify novel kinases involved in regulation of monoamine transporter function.

5.2.2 Primary, secondary and tertiary siRNA screens

A primary screen performed with siRNAs against 573 human kinases in HEK 293 cells stably expressing DAT or SERT revealed 93 kinases that caused \geq 30 % up- or down-regulation in the function of at least one of the two transporters for at least two out of the three siRNAs. The identified hits putatively regulating DAT and/or SERT function seemed to operate in various signaling pathways, supporting a notion that monoamine transporters are regulated by complex cellular signaling networks. For example, several members of the cAMP-dependent protein kinases, PI3K/Akt- and MEK/ERK pathway kinases, MAP kinases, receptor and non-receptor tyrosine kinases as well as cyclin-dependent kinases were identified to regulate the function of SERT and DAT.

All 93 hits were validated with a new set of siRNAs in a secondary screen assessing effects on DAT and SERT uptake capacity and surface expression in HEK 293 cells (Figure 10). The siRNAs with at effects at p < 0.1 (one-sample t-test, n = 3) were ranked according to effect size and a hit was defined as a kinase with >15 % (uptake) or > 10 % (ELISA) up- or down-regulation for one or both of the two siRNAs (Figure 10). Hits for which the siRNA caused significant cell death (p < 0.05, >10 %) were

excluded. The secondary screen revealed 26 kinases that potentially modulated the function and/or the surface expression of DAT and/or SERT. The uptake assays suggested that a higher number of kinases functioning in various signaling pathways regulate DAT function compared to SERT. Knock-down of some of the most prominent hits, such as SIK3 and PrKX, caused parallel increases or decreases, respectively, in transporter function and surface expression. We went on with 11 of the candidate kinases from the secondary screen with reported expression in neuronal tissue to validate the effects of depletion of these kinases in HEK 293 cells transiently expressing DAT, SERT or NET. Subsequently three kinases were selected for further validation in CAD cells and PC12 cells.



Figure 10. Secondary siRNA screen where 93 kinases identified in the primary screen were silenced with two independent siRNAs and the effects on DAT and SERT function and surface distribution were analyzed in HEK 293 cells stably expressing DAT, SERT, HA-DAT or HA-SERT. Data are means (n=3) normalized to several negative control present in each plate that are visualized in the blue boxes.

5.2.3 Validation the effect of SIK3 and PrKX knock-down on monoaminetransporter function in catecholaminergic cell lines

Knock-down of the most prominent hits from the primary and secondary siRNA screens, SIK3 (also known as QSK or KIAA 0999) and PrKX, were further investigated in the catecholaminergic CAD and PC12 cell lines. Surprisingly, knock-down of SIK3 in CAD and PC12 cells resulted in an opposite effect to that observed in HEK 293 cells, i.e. significant decreases in DAT and SERT function. Furthermore, knock-down of SIK3 caused marked transcriptional upregulation of DAT mRNA and protein levels in HEK 293 cells and significant downregulation in CAD cells. This unexpected effect of SIK3 depletion might be explained by the ability of SIK3 to regulate the CMV promoter under which the transporter was expressed in the different cell lines. CMV promoter contains several cAMP regulatory elements (CREs) and SIK has been described to modulate the transcriptional expression of the CRE regulated genes in a cell-specific manner (Takemori and Okamoto, 2008; Taub et al., 2010). We

were not able to obtain sufficient SIK3 depletion in an endogenous cell system in order to be able to investigate whether SIK3-dependent gene expression is important for the regulation of endogenous monoamine transporter function. Thus, it remained unclear whether SIK3 was a false positive hit in the kinome screen due to kinase-mediated transcriptional regulation of the CMV promoter present in the expression vector.

Knock-down of PrKX in CAD cells transiently expressing DAT, SERT or NET significantly reduced the uptake capacity of DAT and NET, and caused a statistically non-significant trend towards decreased SERT function. Our observation that silencing PrKX also decreased the surface expression of DAT and SERT, without affecting total protein levels, suggests that the reduced transporter function upon PrKX depletion, at least partly, is due to redistribution of the transporter molecules away from the plasma membrane. Together, the whole kinome siRNA screen provided insight into kinome regulation of the monoamine transporters and identified PrKX as a possible regulator of monoamine transporter function.

5.3 Regulation of NET function by scaffolding protein PICK1

5.3.1 Motivation

The activity and availability of neurotransmitter transporters at the cell membrane is important for the maintenance of neurotransmitter homeostasis, and is regulated by multiple mechanisms, including the activity of kinases and other interacting proteins. This control occurs largely through redistribution of the transporter proteins from the cell surface rather than changes in their intrinsic transport activity (Torres et al., 2003a). NET possesses a type II PDZ binding sequence at its distal C-terminus that has been shown to interact with scaffolding protein PICK1 (Torres et al., 2001), but the functional relevance of this interaction is unknown. In the present study III we investigated the role of PICK1 in relation to NET surface expression, function and trafficking to elucidate the physiological significance of the interaction of PICK1 and NET.

5.3.2 NET expression and function in PICK1 KO mice

Immunohistochemical labeling of PICK1 and NET in brain slices derived from PICK1 WT (control) mice demonstrated punctate PICK1 immunoreactivity in the brainstem noradrenergic neuronal somata that were also positive for NET immunoreactivity (Fig. 11A). PICK1 immunoreactivity was not detected in sections derived from PICK1 KO mice (Fig.11A). In the cortical sections, PICK1 immunoreactivity was prominent in the cortical cell bodies and some PICK1 clusters appeared to associate with NET immunopositive noradrenergic terminals. Genetic deletion of PICK1 significantly attenuated NET protein levels in both brainstem and frontocortical tissue lysates compared to PICK1 WT littermates (Fig. 11B). The loss of NET expression in the

noradrenergic terminals was accompanied by significantly decreased [³H]-DA uptake capacity in frontocortical synaptosomes (Fig. 11C). Together, the results support that PICK1 is expressed in central noradrenergic neurons and demonstrate that PICK1 KO mice display attenuated expression and function of NET.



Figure 11. Assessment of NET expression and function in brains of WT and PICK1 KO mice. A, Visualization of NET (red) and PICK1 (green) expression in coronal brainstem slices. Scale bar 10 μ m. B, C, Immunoblotting of brainstem and frontocortical brain lysates. D, [³H]-DA uptake capacity of frontocortical synaptosomes. * p < 0.05. Error bars indicate SEM, n = 4-6.

5.3.3 PICK1 mediated plasma membrane stabilization of NET

We went on to assess the role of PICK1 in relation to the expression and function of NET in dissociated, cultured sympathetic neurons. PICK1 immunoreactivity demonstrated punctate expression in the noradrenergic neuronal somata, and clustered labeling in the presynaptic boutons. No evident overlap of PICK1 puncta with NET immunoreactivity was detected in the neuronal somata but partial association of PICK1 with NET was evident in the neuronal boutons (study III). Next, we utilized previously

validated shRNA targeting PICK1 (Citri et al., 2010) and infected sympathetic neurons for 8-12 days with dual promoter lentiviral vectors to express either shRNA against PICK1 and GFP (PICK1 KD), or GFP alone (control). Furthermore, we also utilized dual promoter lentiviral rescue/molecular replacement constructs (Citri et al., 2010), where the H1 promoter drives the expression of anti-PICK1 shRNA and the ubiquitin promoter drives the expression of GFP-PICK1 made resistant to shRNA (GFP-PICK1 WT rescue) or GFP-PICK1 A87L (GFP-PICK1 A87L), a PICK1 PDZ domain mutant incapable of binding to its interacting partners (Madsen et al., 2005). shRNA-mediated depletion of PICK1 reduced both total and surface expressed NET compared to neurons transduced with the control vector. Consistently with this, silencing of PICK1 resulted in significantly decreased [³H]-DA transport capacity compared to neurons transduced with the control vector. The specificity of PICK1 knock-down was supported by rescue of NET uptake with recombinant shRNA-insensitive GFP-PICK1. The results demonstrated that PICK1 associates with NET in the neuronal boutons likely representing presynaptic NE release sites, and that silencing of PICK1 attenuates NET expression and function in sympathetic neurons.

Next, we investigated the role of PICK1 depletion on NET trafficking and the importance of the PICK1 PDZ domain on NET function and/or trafficking. Consistently with the previous results, the JHC 1-64 internalization assay demonstrated marked constitutive internalization of NET in control- transduced SCG neurons. However, SCG neurons with PICK1 KD or replacement with GFP-PICK1 A87L demonstrated significantly increased constitutive intracellular accumulation of NET that could be rescued with recombinant shRNA-insensitive GFP-PICK1. Together with the notion that knock-down of PICK1 markedly reduced expression and function of NET, these results substantiated the conclusion that PICK1 promotes NET function by stabilizing the transporter on the cell surface in a PDZ-dependent manner.

To test whether the C-terminus of NET indeed can bind PICK1 with high affinity, fluorescent polarization assays were performed. Competition binding experiments showed that a NET peptide corresponding to the last 11 C-terminal residues potently inhibited binding of the reporter peptide (an Oregon Green-labeled DAT C-terminal peptide) to purified PICK1 in solution, with an estimated affinity of 4.1 μ M. Substitution of the distal isoleucine with aspartic acid (NET C11 I617D), thus disrupting the NET PDZ-binding domain, completely abolished the binding to PICK1.

5.3.4 Differential regulation of NET and DAT by PICK1

In addition to NET, PICK1 is known to interact with DAT (Torres et al., 2001), even if the physiological significance of this interactions is still poorly understood (Torres et al., 2001; Bjerggaard et al., 2004; Rickhag et al., 2013). To further validate the role of PICK1 in regulation of NET and to directly compare the functional roles of PICK1 in relation to NET and DAT, CAD cells that endogenously express PICK1 were employed. CAD cells were transiently transfected to express low levels of NET or DAT together with control or PICK1 KD shRNA constructs. Silencing of endogenous PICK1 resulted in decreased total as well as plasma membrane protein levels of NET as determined by Western blotting, JHC 1-64 surface labeling and surface biotinylation. However, DAT total and plasma membrane protein levels were unaltered. Saturation uptake experiments with [³H]-DA revealed significantly reduced maximal transport velocity (V_{max}) of NET without a change in the apparent substrate affinity (K_d) upon PICK1 knock-down. Furthermore, JHC 1-64 internalization and antibody-based internalization experiments revealed significantly greater intracellular accumulation of NET in PICK1 KD CAD cells compared to control CAD cells, whereas the extent of constitutive DAT internalization was not affected by PICK1 KD.

6 **DISCUSSION**

6.1 Surface distribution and trafficking of NET

The anatomical and subcellular distributions of NET in the brain and periphery reflect its function to mediate neuronal re-uptake of NE after synaptic release. NET demonstrated uniform plasma membrane distribution in the somata, projections and presynaptic boutons of cultured, live SCG neurons, with strongest surface expression seen on the plasma membrane of the neuronal projections and the boutons. Immunocytochemical labeling of mouse brainstem sections and dissociated sympathetic neurons in culture with NET antibodies supported previous observations that a considerable fraction of NET is present in intracellular compartments, both in the neuronal somata and in terminals (Miner et al., 2003; Savchenko et al., 2003; Sung et al., 2003; Matthies et al., 2009). This indicates that the transporter is dynamically shuffled between intracellular compartments and the plasma membrane. Indeed, the study I demonstrated that NET undergoes rapid constitutive internalization in dissociated sympathetic neurons in culture. NET was shown to be actively sequestered from the plasma membrane, not only in terminal sites but also in the somatic compartment. SCG neurons transduced with different endosomal markers demonstrated that NET is mainly sorted to Rab11 -positive recycling endosomes and little association was observed with markers of late endosomes and lysosomes, suggesting that only a limited fraction of internalized NET is targeted to proteolytic degradation. We observed some colocalization of internalized JHC 1-64 -labeled NET with Rab4 in the boutons of SCG neurons, indicating that NET also to some extent might recycle via the Rab4 -dependent "fast recycling" pathway. The importance of postendocytic pathways for proper protein function was evidenced by the observation that impairment of the Rab11 pathway resulted in decreased NET function. However, these observations rely upon overexpression or dominant-negative protein expression of the regulatory proteins in cultured neurons. Matthies et al. showed by the use of a NET endodomain antibody that amphetamine can induce increased association of NET with both Rab4 and Rab11 in SCG neurons, indicating that amphetamine might increase NET internalization and sorting to both fast and slow recycling pathways (Matthies et al., 2010). Moreover, in vivo translation of the findings, by e.g. observation of NET trafficking properties in brain slice preparations ex vivo, remains to be seen. It has been reported that in spite of constitutive internalization of DAT in dissociated midbrain dopaminergic neurons (Eriksen et al., 2009), surprisingly low level of endocytic trafficking of DAT is detected in somatodendritic and terminals areas of dopaminergic neurons in vivo (Block et al., 2015). Furthermore, the association of monoamine transporter trafficking to neuropsychiatric diseases states or chronic drug use is not currently known.

6.2 Differential trafficking itineraries of NET and DAT

Following internalization, the closely related SLC6 transporters, SERT and DAT, have been shown to be sorted mainly to lysosomes for degradation (Eriksen et al., 2010b; Rahbek-Clemmensen et al., 2014b). Comparison of the trafficking properties of NET and DAT in transfected CAD cells demonstrated that the extent of constitutive internalization is significantly greater for NET compared to DAT, and whereas NET was largely sorted into Rab11 -positive recycling endosomes, DAT demonstrated sorting to degradation, as reported before. To elucidate the structural domains underlying the differential postendocytic sorting of NET and DAT, we constructed several chimeras of NET and DAT to identify intracellular domains governing postendocytic sorting and/or internalization rates. Results from confocal imaging and biochemical assays suggest that the N-termini of the transporters play critical roles in determining the internalization rate and postendocytic fate of each transporter. Accordingly, a NET N-terminus was also demonstrated to be important for the differential targeting of NET and DAT in polarized epithelial cells (Gu et al., 2001), but to what extent it directly relates to our observations remains to be investigated. NET and DAT are highly homologous but most divergent in their N-terminal sequences that also include several sites for posttranslational modifications, such as protein phosphorylation, ubiquitination or sumoylation (Kristensen et al., 2011). Whereas N-terminal ubiquitination of DAT can regulate PMA-induced DAT internalization (Sorkina et al., 2009), it appeared not to affect the constitutive internalization and sorting of DAT (Eriksen et al., 2010). Moreover, the differential trafficking of NET and DAT might also be controlled by protein-protein interactions as seen with other homologous membrane proteins. For example, the dopamine D2 and D1 receptors as well as δ - and μ - opioid receptors are differentially sorted between degradative and recycling pathways following agonist-induced endocytosis and the sorting of D2 receptors to degradation is critically dependent on binding of the receptor to G protein-coupled-associated sorting protein (Tanowitz et al., 2003; Whistler et al., 2002, Bartlett et al., 2005; Dentin et al., 2007; Vargas et al., 2004). Whereas the distinct trafficking properties of the two G-protein coupled receptors are believed to enable differential physiological adaptation to agonist exposure, for the homologous NET and DAT the distinct trafficking properties may reflect different needs to adjust transporter availability. It is possible that tighter control of NET surface availability may be required for example to ensure proper physiological responsiveness of the sympathetic nervous system.

6.3 Protein kinases mediate regulation of monoamine transporter function and surface distribution

The kinome-wide siRNA screen suggested that kinases affecting DAT, SERT and NET surface distribution and function seemed to function in several signaling pathways. This supports the current understanding that these monoamine transporters are parts of multi-protein networks and subject to dynamic regulation. For example, several members of the cAMP-dependent protein kinase family, in the PI3K/Akt- and

MEK/ERK signaling pathways, scored as positive hits in the RNAi screen. Individual kinases of these pathways have previously been associated with the regulation of monoamine transporters (Moron et al., 2003; Samuvel et al., 2005; Fog et al., 2006; Speed et al., 2010). To our surprise, PKC isoforms were not among the prominent hits in the primary and secondary RNAi screens although the phorbol ester PMA repetitively has been shown to cause rapid redistribution of DAT and SERT away from the cell surface (Huff et al., 1997; Vaughan et al., 1997; Ramamoorthy et al., 1998; Javanthi et al., 2004). This could indicate that a single PKC isoform is not alone crucial for maintaining basal surface expression of DAT and SERT. Thus, PMA-mediated effects might involve several PKC isoforms with functional redundancy, and/or other kinases than PKC that are similarly activated by PMA. It was previously observed in rodent trophoblasts that endogenous NET undergoes endocytosis in response to PMA (Jayanthi et al., 2004), and earlier studies have reported PMA-induced internalization of NET in transfected cells (Apparsundaram et al., 1998a; Apparsundaram et al., 1998b). In the present study, application of PMA (1 µM) during the internalization period enhanced intracellular accumulation of NET in dissociated sympathetic neurons, demonstrating that also neuronal NET can be subject to regulation by PKC and/or other kinases activated by phorbol esters.

SIK3 had prominent effects on the transcription of the transfected transporter constructs in a host cell -dependent manner. In HEK 293 cells and CAD cells, depletion of SIK3 caused marked increases and decreases, respectively, in monoamine transporter expression. These effects were likely produced by SIK3-mediated regulation of the CMV promoter that contains several CREs (cAMP Regulatory Element) in a tissue-specific manner (Takemori and Okamoto, 2008; Taub et al., 2010).

One of the most prominent hits in the RNAi screen was cAMP-dependent protein kinase PrKX that is highly expressed in the developing and adult brain (Klink et al., 1995). Depletion of PrKX caused simultaneous decreases in the surface expression and function of DAT without changing transporter protein levels, suggesting that PrKX stabilizes the transporter at the cell surface. The precise physiological roles of PrKX are still poorly understood but it is shown to be more sensitive to cAMP than PKA (Zimmermann et al., 1999). Thus, cAMP-dependent protein kinase effects on monoamine transporters may be partly undertaken by PrKX rather than PKA.

6.4 PICK1 mediated regulation of NET function

To date, there has been limited knowledge of the cytoplasmic domains of SLC6 family transporters and their functions driving transporter trafficking between compartments within the biosynthetic and endocytic pathways. The three distal C-terminal residues of human NET and DAT constitute classical class II PDZ motifs (φ -X- φ where φ is any hydrophobic amino acid and X is any amino acid) that are known to interact with the PDZ domain of PICK1 (Torres et al., 2001), but the physiological relevance of these interactions has remained unknown (Bjerggaard et al., 2004; Madsen et al., 2005;

Madsen et al., 2012; Rickhag et al., 2013). In the present study, genetic deletion of PICK1 significantly reduced NET expression levels in both brainstem and frontocortical brain tissue, and the loss of NET protein levels in noradrenergic terminals was accompanied by significant reductions in NET uptake capacity in frontocortical synaptosomes. These results are in contrast to the findings for DAT in PICK1 KO mice, where the expression and function of DAT have been reported to be unaltered (Rickhag et al., 2013). Nonetheless, an intact PDZ motif in DAT is indeed crucial for proper surface expression of the transporter (Rickhag et al., 2013), but the PDZ domain binding protein remains to be resolved. Lifelong knock-down of PICK1 in mice could activate compensatory mechanisms and therefore PICK1 was also acutely silenced in cultured sympathetic neurons and CAD cells to investigate the consequences for NET distribution and function. PICK1 KD markedly reduced overall and surface expression of NET with no accumulation of immature forms of the transporter in the sympathetic neurons or CAD cells. These findings argue against a role for PICK1 in the maturation or ER export of NET and rather support a role for PICK1 in forward trafficking of NET. Indeed, PICK1 KD and expression of the PICK1 PDZ domain mutant (PICK1 A87L) increased NET internalization and decreased uptake capacity in the sympathetic neurons indicating that the scaffolding protein PICK1 stabilizes the transporter in the plasma membrane. The differential role of PICK1 for NET and DAT distribution and function was also observed in CAD cells transiently expressing NET or DAT. Silencing of endogenous PICK1 decreased total and surface expression of NET but did not affect DAT expression. NET uptake rates were also decreased in PICK1 KD cells compared to WT cells while the K_m values for transport were indistinguishable, indicating that the fraction of NET remaining on the cell surface functioned normally. If PICK1 can act as an anchor to stabilize a PDZ domain binding partner on the cell surface, as indicated for the acid-sensing ion channel 1a (ASIC1a), Neph1 and the presynaptic G protein-coupled metabotropic glutamate receptor 7 (Suh et al., 2008; Hu et al., 2010; Hohne et al., 2011), it would be predicted that the protein will have the highest impact on a binding partner undergoing rapid forward trafficking. Consequently, it is possible that PICK1 might have had no measurable effect on DAT compared to NET simply due to the slower plasma membrane turnover kinetics of DAT.

Previous studies have established that in addition to surface stabilization of its binding partners, PICK1 can coordinate and regulate the subcellular localization of its interacting partners through divergent mechanisms (Iwakura et al., 2001; Hanley and Henley, 2005; Lin and Huganir, 2007; Rocca et al., 2008). Considering the differential postendocytic sorting of NET and DAT, it can be hypothesized that PICK1 could promote surface expression of NET by facilitating NET recycling. However, this is in conflict with previous evidence that PICK1 can inhibit recycling of binding partners sorted to the Rab11-positive compartment and thereby reduce surface expression of the binding partner (Madsen et al., 2012). It is possible that the surface stabilizing effect of PICK1 in case of NET simply overrules any other putative effects on the recycling pathway. Otherwise, we have no explanation for this apparent discrepancy, but it further underscores the remarkably versatile and context-dependent functions of PICK1 that conceivably derive from a complex interplay between the properties of the

binding partners, the cellular environment and PICK1 itself. Altogether, we show here the first evidence that PICK1 function is required for maintaining NET expression and function in noradrenergic neurons, possibly revealing a previously unappreciated role of PICK1 in monoamine homeostasis. These findings moreover substantiate that the strikingly different trafficking patterns of NET and DAT are differentially regulated by PICK1.

6.5 Methodological considerations

6.5.1 Cell models

Heterologous cellular models, where recombinant proteins of interest are stably or transiently overexpressed in different host cells, are commonly utilized to investigate complex biological processes in an isolated system. Compared to cells naturally expressing the protein of interest, heterologous cellular models can have some disadvantages. For example, the repertoire of regulatory proteins might differ in the host cell line from that of the "natural" enviroment, or the transcriptional regulation of the promoters present in the expression vectors can mislead the interpretations, as was seen in the present study (study II). In the current series of studies, sympathetic neurons derived from postnatal rat superior cervical ganglia were chosen as a primary cell culture model to investigate the function and regulation of NET. The motivation to employ an endogenous neuronal cell model was derived from previous reports indicating that the biosynthetic processing, distribution and trafficking of NET are dependent on the host cell type, *i.e.* the cellular regulation of NET appears to be distinct in fibroblast or epithelial cell models compared to neuronal cell environments (Melikian et al., 1996; Burton et al., 1998; Kippenberger et al., 1999; Bauman and Blakely, 2002). Thus, primary noradrenergic neurons expressing high levels of NET were considered to provide a more physiological environment than e.g. transfected fibroblasts to investigate the cellular regulation of NET. SCG neurons are known to synthesize catecholamines and neuropeptides and to secrete them from their terminal sites (May et al., 1995; Zhou and Misler, 1995; Koh and Hille, 1997) and to express proteins important for NET cellular regulation (Geffen and Livett, 1971; Livett, 1973; Savchenko et al., 2003; Matthies et al., 2009). In addition, SCG neurons are well suited for trafficking studies since the neurons are characterized by large round somata and a very extensive network of neuronal projections with multiple "boutons" likely representing presynaptic NE release sites (Matthies et al., 2009).

Still, caution should be applied when interpreting results derived from cultured postnatal rat SCG neurons because of possible differences in many cellular processes *e.g.* compared to noradrenergic neurons in the brainstem of an adult animal. In addition, species differences between rat and human in their noradrenergic neuronal systems may flaw the interpretation (Sanders et al., 2005). The cellular model closest to human physiology would be primary human noradrenergic neurons. Whereas some human cell types, such as blood cells or adipocytes, are available at relative ease, it is

not since recently that human neuronal cell models can be generated. This is now due to breakthroughs in the reprogramming or direct conversion of adult somatic cells to generate neuronal cells (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Mertens et al., 2016). Furthermore, to recapture the natural environment of real nerve cells in a model system, acute brain slices and co-cultures of different neuronal and non-neuronal cell types might provide means to investigate NET regulation in more physiological environments where input signals and cross-talk of cells are present.

6.5.2 JHC 1-64

Recent studies have provided insights into the molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of Na⁺/Cl⁻-dependent neurotransmitter transporters. Their findings have emphasized that altered membrane trafficking of these transporters is an important way to regulate their function (Zahniser and Doolen, 2001). It has proven difficult to directly monitor NET trafficking due to failed efforts to develop highly specific antibodies directed to the extracellular domains of NET. Furthermore, even small modifications of the extracellular loops that were tolerated by DAT and SERT have been found to change NET expression and function and thus, extracellular epitope tagging and large fusion protein approaches to study NET trafficking have not proven successful. In the current series of studies, we employed the novel fluorescent cocaine analogue JHC 1-64, which provides a tool to directly visualize and quantify the surface distribution and internalization of endogenous NET even in single boutons of live neurons. We aimed to carefully validate the use of JHC 1-64 in study I, and therefore documented that the binding of JHC 1-64 was entirely blocked by pre-incubation of the cultures with NET inhibitor designamine, the dissociation of JHC 1-64 from the transporter was slow and excluded that the compound itself would interfere with transporter surface expression or trafficking properties. Rapid live cell imaging of JHC 1-64 -labeled SCG neurons demonstrated for the first time that NET is clearly present on the plasma membrane of SCG cell somata. Notably, NET expression in the plasma membrane of the noradrenergic somata has not been reported in previous immunolabeling studies utilizing NET antibodies (Sung et al., 2003; Matthies et al., 2009; Matthies et al., 2010). These studies and our investigations using fixation and permeabilization procedures revealed punctate NET expression in the projections and varicosities (Miner et al., 2003; Savchenko et al., 2003; Sung et al., 2003; Matthies et al., 2009) and considerable intracellular immunostaining corresponding to both somata and boutons. The presence of NET on the neuronal somata observed in study I could indicate the importance of volume transmission also for NE actions.

6.5.3 RNAi screen

Genetic screens have become powerful methods to explore biological processes without a pre-formulated exact hypothesis, and have become standard experimental tools during the last decade. A clearly defined assay that is specific and relevant for the biological process being investigated is crucial for a successful screen. Often, the ease of an assay is inversely proportional to its specificity and one needs to find the best compromise between assay feasibility (e.g. cell model, time points and technologies) and its information value. In the present RNAi screen in study II, monoclonal HEK 293 cell lines stably expressing DAT or SERT were chosen as model systems and the [³H]-DA/[³H]-5-HT uptake assays as the primary functional readouts, since both the cell lines and the assays have demonstrated robust performance (Rasmussen et al., 2009). In this end-point assay setup, the functional activity of the transporter involved several independent processes, such as transcription and translation of the transporter, biosynthetic processing and targeting of the transporter to the correct subcellular compartment as well as regulation of intrinsic transport activity and trafficking of the mature transporter. All of these sub-processes may be modified by the siRNA mediated silencing of the targeted protein kinases. Automated assay set-up and image analysis might be useful to make it possible to include several readouts in the assay. Positive and negative controls were used to optimize the assay set-up in order to achieve a reproducible and robust primary assay with a high signal and low noise. Thus, we selected the cell clones where PMA and the PI3K inhibitor LY294200, which is known to down-regulate transport activity of DAT and SERT (Lin et al., 2003; Qian et al., 1997), gave the best response window, *i.e.* the largest relative reduction in uptake and the best reproducibility of the response. These positive controls caused 20-30 % changes in the uptake capacity of the transporters at steady state, indicating that the assay might only be able to identify strong hits.

The primary screen resulted in a list of hits that scored as positive in the primary assay (>30 % up- or down-regulation in the function of at least one of the two transporters relative to plate mean). The majority of the identified hits (93) in the primary screen regulated the function of DAT, whereas notably fewer kinases altered the function of SERT. Moreover, only a small fraction of the identified hits was found to affect the function of both DAT and SERT. This surprising result might indicate different kinase-mediated regulation of the two transporters, or might also at least partly be due to variation in the sensitivity of the two cell lines and/or the reproducibility of the primary assay.

Secondary screens typically aim to eliminate false positive hits caused *e.g.* by the siRNA off-target effects or by experimental errors, and to identify hits that are relevant for the biological process investigated. Here, the 93 possible targets identified in the primary screen were analyzed both for uptake and with surface ELISA with a new set of siRNAs to increase confidence in the hits. In addition, we tested for off-target effects by monitoring cell viability. Additional tests for non-specific effects, *e.g.* effects on transcriptional regulation of the plasmid, were not included at this secondary screening phase. The secondary screen revealed 26 kinases that potentially modulated the function and/or the surface expression of DAT and/or SERT (>15 % (uptake) or > 10 % (ELISA) up- or down-regulation for one or both of the two siRNAs). Knockdown of most of the hits only affected transporter function with no effect on the transporter surface expression. This most likely represents the lower sensitivity of the ELISA assay rather than the possibility that kinases would more frequently affect transporter intrinsic activity than transporter trafficking. Three selected hits (SIK3,

PrKX, PKA C- α) were then further validated by monitoring the effects of kinase knock-down on transporter expression and function in neuronal CAD and PC12 cell lines transiently expressing DAT, SERT or NET. Despite several attempts, we did not manage to get sufficient knock-down of these kinases in primary neurons with the use of lentivirus-mediated delivery of commercial shRNA vectors.
7 CONCLUSIONS

These studies on the cellular regulation of NET surface distribution, trafficking and function allow the following conclusion:

- NET expression was clearly observed in the plasma membrane of the neuronal somata, projections and boutons. NET demonstrated extensive constitutive internalization and sorting mainly to Rab 11- positive recycling endosomes. NET displayed significantly greater extent of constitutive internalization compared to DAT in neuronal cell models, and whereas NET was largely sorted for recycling, DAT was mainly sorted for degradation. The differential trafficking of NET and DAT was determined by non-conserved structural elements in the intracellular N-termini of the transporter proteins.
- 2. The kinome-wide RNAi screen suggested that the function of monoamine transporters is subject to regulation by protein kinases operating in several signaling pathways, such as in PI3K/Akt- and MEK/ERK pathways and cAMP-dependent protein kinase pathways. PrkX was identified as a novel kinase involved in the regulation of the surface expression and function of DAT in neuronal cell models.
- 3. The PDZ domain scaffolding protein PICK1 promoted NET function in noradrenergic neurons by stabilizing NET in the plasma membrane. In neuronal cell models, it was shown that PICK1 is required to maintain NET, but not DAT, expression and function.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was a collaboration project that was carried out in the Department of Pharmacology, Drug Development and Therapeutics at the University of Turku and in the Department of Neuroscience and Pharmacology at the University of Copenhagen.

I express my deepest gratitude to my two excellent supervisors. I am sincerely grateful to Professor Mika Scheinin who guided me into world of science and provided mentoring throughout the projects. I never stop admiring his encouraging and openminded attitude, exceptionally wide knowledge of science and warm personality. I am deeply thankful to Professor Ulrik Gether, the principal supervisor of this thesis, for adopting me into his multi-disciplinary research group and showing irreplaceable interest in to my work. His enthusiasms towards science, valuable advices and support have been essential to achieve the goals of the projects.

The Drug Research Doctoral Program (DRDP) and its coordinator Eeva Valve are acknowledged for providing financial support and arranging several memorable occasions to interact with many other scientists.

I am grateful to Docent Ulla Petäjä-Repo and Docent Petteri Piepponen, the official reviewers of this thesis book, for their constructive and valuable criticism that helped me to improve the thesis manuscript.

I want to thank all the past and present colleagues in the "Gether lab" for creating such an inspiring and warm work atmosphere. I wish to express my warmest thanks to my co-authors Trine Jørgensen, Ina Ammendrup-Johnsen, Kenneth Madsen and Amy Newman for their critical exchange of ideas and support that was crucial especially in the very beginning to get my work started. My thanks go to Anette Dencker for excellent technical support. I thank most warmly my roommates Mattias Rickhag, Troels Rahbek-Clemmensen and Thorvald Andreassen for their friendship and inspiring discussions.

Moreover, I would like to thank all the past and present colleagues in "Farmis". I owe my special thanks to Professor Risto Huupponen, Professor Markku Koulu, Professor Ullamari Pesonen and Docent Eriika Savontaus for the opportunity to work in the excellent research facility. I am grateful to Anna Huhtinen, Susann Björk, Jonne Laurila, Francisco Lopez, Katariina Pohjanoksa and Ulla Uoti for all the joyful meetings and discussion along the journey. I would like to thank also my current colleagues at Orion for welcoming me into the group and for their encouragement at the final steps on this thesis work.

I am deeply grateful for my friends for their encouragement and exchange of thoughts that have had enormous influence on my life. Thank you to the beautiful ladies from Lapland, Jatta, Kaisa, Kipa, Minna and Tuula, for sharing the undercurrents and

connections to nature that have kept me balanced. All my love and thanks go to wonderful ladies, Anne and Tea for sharing the biggest joys and bumps on the road. I am grateful for my friends from study years, Aino, Anniina, Jaana, Johanna, Laura and Maria for their fellow feelings and memorable moments that have meant a lot to me, especially during the years abroad.

Words cannot describe how grateful I am for my parents Aino and Jouko who have been there for me all the way. I am blessed with and deeply grateful for the support and love of my siblings, Maria, Hanna and Mikko, and their families. I am especially thankful to Hanna who is always by my side. I am deeply thankful to my family-in-law Henriette, Leif, Anders, Maria and the whole Knudsen-klan for their support, care and always helpful spirit.

Finally, I want to express my deepest gratitude to Mikkel and to our magnificent daughter Siiri for their love and patience. You mean the world to me and your support has made it all possible.

Turku, February 2018

Anne Vuorenpää

REFERENCES

- Adkins EM, Samuvel DJ, Fog JU, Eriksen J, Jayanthi LD, Vaegter CB, Ramamoorthy S, Gether U (2007) Membrane mobility and microdomain association of the dopamine transporter studied with fluorescence correlation spectroscopy and fluorescence recovery after photobleaching. Biochemistry 46:10484-10497.
- Allen JA, Halverson-Tamboli RA, Rasenick MM (2007) Lipid raft microdomains and neurotransmitter signalling. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:128-140.
- Alreja M, Aghajanian GK (1991) Pacemaker activity of locus coeruleus neurons: whole-cell recordings in brain slices show dependence on cAMP and protein kinase A. Brain Res 556:339-343.
- Altman JD, Trendelenburg AU, MacMillan L, Bernstein D, Limbird L, Starke K, Kobilka BK, Hein L (1999) Abnormal regulation of the sympathetic nervous system in alpha2Aadrenergic receptor knockout mice. Mol Pharmacol 56:154-161.
- Amaral DG, Sinnamon HM (1977) The locus coeruleus: neurobiology of a central noradrenergic nucleus. Prog Neurobiol 9:147-196.
- Apparsundaram S, Galli A, Defelice LJ, Hartzell HC, Blakely RD (1998a) Acute Regulation of Norepinephrine Transport: I. Protein Kinase C-Linked Muscarinic Receptors Influence Transport Capacity and Transporter Density in SK-N-SH Cells. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 287:733–743.
- Apparsundaram S, Moore KR, Malone MD, Hartzell HC, Blakely RD (1997) Molecular cloning and characterization of an L-epinephrine transporter from sympathetic ganglia of the bullfrog, Rana catesbiana. J Neurosci 17:2691-2702.
- Apparsundaram S, Schroeter S, Giovanetti E, Blakely RD (1998b) Acute Regulation of Norepinephrine Transport: II. PKC-Modulated Surface Expression of Human Norepinephrine Transporter Proteins. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 287:744–751.
- Arnsten AF, Li BM (2005) Neurobiology of executive functions: catecholamine influences on prefrontal cortical functions. Biol Psychiatry 57:1377-1384.
- Aston-Jones G, Cohen JD (2005) An integrative theory of locus coeruleus-norepinephrine function: adaptive gain and optimal performance. Annu Rev Neurosci 28:403-450.
- Aston-Jones G, Rajkowski J, Cohen J (1999) Role of locus coeruleus in attention and behavioral flexibility. Biol Psychiatry 46:1309-1320.

- Aston-Jones G, Shipley MT, Chouvet G, Ennis M, van Bockstaele E, Pieribone V, Shiekhattar R, Akaoka H, Drolet G, Astier B, et al. (1991) Afferent regulation of locus coeruleus neurons: anatomy, physiology and pharmacology. Prog Brain Res 88:47-75.
- Aston-Jones G, Shipley, MT., Grzanna, R. (1995) The Locus Coeruleus, A5 and A7 noradrenergic cell groups.: Academic Press.
- Axelrod J (1971) Noradrenaline: fate and control of its biosynthesis. Science 173:598-606.
- Axelrod J, Kopin IJ (1969) The Uptake, Storage, Release and Metabolism of Noradrenaline in Sympathetic Nerves. Progress in Brain Research 31:21–32.
- Backs J, Haunstetter A, Gerber SH, Metz J, Borst MM, Strasser RH, Kubler W, Haass M (2001) The neuronal norepinephrine transporter in experimental heart failure: evidence for a posttranscriptional downregulation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 33:461-472.
- Bauer ME, Tejani-Butt SM (1992) Effects of repeated administration of desipramine or electroconvulsive shock on norepinephrine uptake sites measured by [3H]nisoxetine autoradiography. Brain Res 582:208-214.
- Bauman PA, Blakely RD (2002) Determinants within the C-terminus of the human norepinephrine transporter dictate transporter trafficking, stability, and activity. Arch Biochem Biophys 404:80-91.
- Beaudet A, Descarries L (1978) The monoamine innervation of rat cerebral cortex: synaptic and nonsynaptic axon terminals. Neuroscience 3:851-860.
- Beck H, Nahse V, Larsen MS, Groth P, Clancy T, Lees M, Jorgensen M, Helleday T, Syljuasen RG, Sorensen CS (2010) Regulators of cyclindependent kinases are crucial for maintaining genome integrity in S phase. J Cell Biol 188:629-638.
- Benarroch EE (2009) The locus ceruleus norepinephrine system: functional organization and potential clinical significance. Neurology 73:1699-1704.
- Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD (2003) The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 42:33-84.
- Beuming T, Kniazeff J, Bergmann ML, Shi L, Gracia L, Raniszewska K, Newman AH, Javitch JA,

Weinstein H, Gether U, Loland CJ (2008) The binding sites for cocaine and dopamine in the dopamine transporter overlap. Nat Neurosci 11:780-789.

- Beveridge TJ, Smith HR, Nader MA, Porrino LJ (2005) Effects of chronic cocaine selfadministration on norepinephrine transporters in the nonhuman primate brain. Psychopharmacology 80:781-788.
- Biederman J, Spencer T (1999) Attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) as a noradrenergic disorder. Biol Psychiatry 46:1234-1242.
- Bjerggaard C, Fog JU, Hastrup H, Madsen K, Loland CJ, Javitch JA, Gether U (2004) Surface targeting of the dopamine transporter involves discrete epitopes in the distal C terminus but does not require canonical PDZ domain interactions. J Neurosci 24:7024-7036.
- Blakely RD, Ramamoorthy S, Schroeter S, Qian Y, Apparsundaram S, Galli A, DeFelice LJ (1998) Regulated phosphorylation and trafficking of antidepressant-sensitive serotonin transporter proteins. Biol Psychiatry 44:169-178.
- Bohn LM, Xu F, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG (2000) Potentiated opioid analgesia in norepinephrine transporter knock-out mice. J Neurosci 20:9040-9045.
- Bonifacino JS, Glick BS (2004) The mechanisms of vesicle budding and fusion. Cell 116:153-166.
- Bonisch H, Bruss M (1994) The noradrenaline transporter of the neuronal plasma membrane. Ann N Y Acad Sci 733:193-202.
- Bonisch H, Harder R (1986) Binding of 3Hdesipramine to the neuronal noradrenaline carrier of rat phaeochromocytoma cells (PC-12 cells). Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 334:403-411.
- Booze RM, Crisostomo EA, Davis JN (1989) Species differences in the localization and number of CNS beta adrenergic receptors: rat versus guinea pig. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 249:911-920.
- Bottalico B, Larsson I, Brodszki J, Hernandez-Andrade E, Casslen B, Marsal K, Hansson SR (2004) Norepinephrine transporter (NET), serotonin transporter (SERT), vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT2) and organic cation transporters (OCT1, 2 and EMT) in human placenta from pre-eclamptic and normotensive pregnancies. Placenta 25:518-529.
- Bouret S, Sara SJ (2004) Reward expectation, orientation of attention and locus coeruleusmedial frontal cortex interplay during learning. Eur J Neurosci 20:791-802.
- Boyd FT, Jr., Clarke DW, Muther TF, Raizada MK (1985) Insulin receptors and insulin modulation of

norepinephrine uptake in neuronal cultures from rat brain. J Biol Chem 260:15880-15884.

- Boyd FT, Jr., Clarke DW, Raizada MK (1986) Insulin inhibits specific norepinephrine uptake in neuronal cultures from rat brain. Brain Res 398:1-5.
- Breier A, Wolkowitz OM, Roy A, Potter WZ, Pickar D (1990) Plasma norepinephrine in chronic schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 147:1467-1470.
- Breining P, Pedersen SB, Pikelis A, Rolighed L, Sundelin EI, Jessen N, Richelsen B (2017) High expression of organic cation transporter 3 in human BAT-like adipocytes. Implications for extraneuronal norepinephrine uptake. Mol Cell Endocrinol 5: 15-22
- Brodal P (2004) The central nervous system: Oxford University Press.
- Brown DA, London E (1998) Functions of lipid rafts in biological membranes. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 14:111-136.
- Brown DA, London E (2000) Structure and function of sphingolipid- and cholesterol-rich membrane rafts. J Biol Chem 275:17221-17224.
- Brown A, Muth T, Caplan M (2004) The COOHterminal tail of the GAT-2 GABA transporter contains a novel motif that plays a role in basolateral targeting. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 286:C1071-1077.
- Brum PC, Hurt CM, Shcherbakova OG, Kobilka B, Angelotti T (2006) Differential targeting and function of alpha2A and alpha2C adrenergic receptor subtypes in cultured sympathetic neurons. Neuropharmacology 51:397-413.
- Bryan-Lluka LJ, Paczkowski FA, Bonisch H (2001) Effects of short- and long-term exposure to c-AMP and c-GMP on the noradrenaline transporter. Neuropharmacology 40:607-617.
- Bucci C, Parton RG, Mather IH, Stunnenberg H, Simons K, Hoflack B, Zerial M (1992) The small GTPase rab5 functions as a regulatory factor in the early endocytic pathway. Cell 70:715-728.
- Bucheler MM, Hadamek K, Hein L (2002) Two alpha(2)-adrenergic receptor subtypes, alpha(2A) and alpha(2C), inhibit transmitter release in the brain of gene-targeted mice. Neuroscience 109:819-826.
- Buck KJ, Amara SG (1994) Chimeric dopaminenorepinephrine transporters delineate structural domains influencing selectivity for catecholamines and 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:12584-12588.
- Burnstock G (2004) Cotransmission. Curr Opin Pharmacol 4:47-52.
- Burrows GD, Maguire KP, Norman TR (1998) Antidepressant efficacy and tolerability of the

selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor reboxetine: a review. J Clin Psychiatry 14:4-7.

- Burton LD, Kippenberger AG, Lingen B, Bruss M, Bonisch H, Christie DL (1998) A variant of the bovine noradrenaline transporter reveals the importance of the C-terminal region for correct targeting to the membrane and functional expression. Biochem J 330:909-914.
- Cahill L, McGaugh JL (1996) Modulation of memory storage. Curr Opin Neurobiol 6:237-242.
- Carneiro AM, Ingram SL, Beaulieu JM, Sweeney A, Amara SG, Thomas SM, Caron MG, Torres GE (2002) The multiple LIM domain-containing adaptor protein Hic-5 synaptically colocalizes and interacts with the dopamine transporter. J Neurosci 22:7045-7054.
- Carvelli L, Moron JA, Kahlig KM, Ferrer JV, Sen N, Lechleiter JD, Leeb-Lundberg LM, Merrill G, Lafer EM, Ballou LM, Shippenberg TS, Javitch JA, Lin RZ, Galli A (2002) PI 3-kinase regulation of dopamine uptake. J Neurochem 81:859-869.
- Castleberry RP (1997) Neuroblastoma. Eur J Cancer 33:1430-1437; discussion 1437-1438.
- Cedarbaum JM, Aghajanian GK (1978) Afferent projections to the rat locus coeruleus as determined by a retrograde tracing technique. J Comp Neurol 178:1-16.
- Cha JH, Zou MF, Adkins EM, Rasmussen SG, Loland CJ, Schoenenberger B, Gether U, Newman AH (2005) Rhodamine-labeled 2beta-carbomethoxy-3beta-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)tropane analogues as high-affinity fluorescent probes for the dopamine transporter. J Med Chem 48:7513-7516.
- Chandler DJ, Gao WJ, Waterhouse BD (2014) Heterogeneous organization of the locus coeruleus projections to prefrontal and motor cortices. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:6816-6821.
- Chen W, Feng Y, Chen D, Wandinger-Ness A (1998) Rab11 is required for trans-golgi network-toplasma membrane transport and a preferential target for GDP dissociation inhibitor. Mol Biol Cell 9:3241-3257.
- Chiti Z, Teschemacher AG (2007) Exocytosis of norepinephrine at axon varicosities and neuronal cell bodies in the rat brain. FASEB J 21:2540-2550.
- Citri A, Bhattacharyya S, Ma C, Morishita W, Fang S, Rizo J, Malenka RC (2010) Calcium binding to PICK1 is essential for the intracellular retention of AMPA receptors underlying long-term depression. J Neurosci 30:16437-16452.
- Clavier RM, Hinkley RE (1978) Retrograde transport of horseradish peroxidase in the rat's brain during halothane anesthesia. Neurosci Lett 10:99-102.

- Coleman JA, Green EM, Gouaux E (2016) X-ray structures and mechanism of the human serotonin transporter. Nature 21:334-339
- Conrad LC, Leonard CM, Pfaff DW (1974) Connections of the median and dorsal raphe nuclei in the rat: an autoradiographic and degeneration study. J Comp Neurol 156:179-205.
- Cremona ML, Matthies HJ, Pau K, Bowton E, Speed N, Lute BJ, Anderson M, Sen N, Robertson SD, Vaughan RA, Rothman JE, Galli A, Javitch JA, Yamamoto A (2011) Flotillin-1 is essential for PKC-triggered endocytosis and membrane microdomain localization of DAT. Nat Neurosci 14:469-477.
- Cubells JF, Kim KS, Baker H, Volpe BT, Chung Y, Houpt TA, Wessel TC, Joh TH (1995) Differential in vivo regulation of mRNA encoding the norepinephrine transporter and tyrosine hydroxylase in rat adrenal medulla and locus ceruleus. J Neurochem 65:502-509.
- Dahlstrom A, Fuxe K (1964) Localization of monoamines in the lower brain stem. Experientia 20:398-399.
- Dahlstrom A, Haggendal J (1966) Some quantitative studies on the noradrenaline content in the cell bodies and terminals of a sympathetic adrenergic neuron system. Acta Physiol Scand 67:271-277.
- Daniels GM, Amara SG (1999) Regulated trafficking of the human dopamine transporter. Clathrinmediated internalization and lysosomal degradation in response to phorbol esters. J Biol Chem 274:35794-35801.
- Dawaliby R, Trubbia C, Delporte C, Masureel M, Van Antwerpen P, Kobilka BK, Govaerts C (2015) Allosteric regulation of G protein-coupled receptor activity by phospholipids. Nat Chem Biol 12:35-39
- De Potter WP, Partoens P, Strecker S (1997) Noradrenaline storing vesicles in sympathetic neurons and their role in neurotransmitter release: an historical overview of controversial issues. Neurochem Res 22:911-919.
- Deken SL, Wang D, Quick MW (2003) Plasma membrane GABA transporters reside on distinct vesicles and undergo rapid regulated recycling. J Neurosci 23:1563-1568.
- Descarries L, Mechawar N (2000) Ultrastructural evidence for diffuse transmission by monoamine and acetylcholine neurons of the central nervous system. Prog Brain Res 125:27-47.
- Descarries L, Saucier G (1972) Disappearance of the locus coeruleus in the rat after intraventricular 6-hydroxdopamine. Brain Res 37:310-316.
- Dipace C, Sung U, Binda F, Blakely RD, Galli A (2007) Amphetamine induces a calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II-

dependent reduction in norepinephrine transporter surface expression linked to changes in syntaxin 1A/transporter complexes. Mol Pharmacol 71:230-239.

- Distelmaier F, Wiedemann P, Bruss M, Bonisch H (2004) Functional importance of the C-terminus of the human norepinephrine transporter. J Neurochem 91:537-546.
- Donnan GA, Kaczmarczyk SJ, Paxinos G, Chilco PJ, Kalnins RM, Woodhouse DG, Mendelsohn FA (1991) Distribution of catecholamine uptake sites in human brain as determined by quantitative [3H] mazindol autoradiography. J Comp Neurol 304:419-434.
- Dziedzicka-Wasylewska M, Faron-Gorecka A, Kusmider M, Drozdowska E, Rogoz Z, Siwanowicz J, Caron MG, Bonisch H (2006) Effect of antidepressant drugs in mice lacking the norepinephrine transporter. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:2424-2432.
- Ellgaard L, Helenius A (2003) Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:181-191.
- Eriksen J, Jorgensen TN, Gether U (2010a) Regulation of dopamine transporter function by protein-protein interactions: new discoveries and methodological challenges. J Neurochem 113:27-41.
- Eriksen J, Bjørn-Yoshimoto W, Jørgensen T, Newman A, U G (2010b) Postendocytic Sorting of Constitutively Internalized Dopamine Transporter in Cell Lines and Dopaminergic Neurons. J Biol Chem 285:27289-27301.
- Eriksen J, Rasmussen SG, Rasmussen TN, Vaegter CB, Cha JH, Zou MF, Newman AH, Gether U (2009) Visualization of dopamine transporter trafficking in live neurons by use of fluorescent cocaine analogs. J Neurosci 29:6794-6808.
- Eshleman AJ, Carmolli M, Cumbay M, Martens CR, Neve KA, Janowsky A (1999) Characteristics of drug interactions with recombinant biogenic amine transporters expressed in the same cell type. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289:877-885.
- Esler M, Alvarenga M, Pier C, Richards J, El-Osta A, Barton D, Haikerwal D, Kaye D, Schlaich M, Guo L, Jennings G, Socratous F, Lambert G (2006) The neuronal noradrenaline transporter, anxiety and cardiovascular disease. J Psychopharmacol 20:60-66.
- Eymin C, Charnay Y, Greggio B, Bouras C (1995) Localization of noradrenaline transporter mRNA expression in the human locus coeruleus. Neurosci Lett 193:41-44.
- Fan Y, Huang J, Duffourc M, Kao RL, Ordway GA, Huang R, Zhu MY (2011) Transcription factor Phox2 upregulates expression of norepinephrine

transporter and dopamine beta-hydroxylase in adult rat brains. Neuroscience 192:37-53.

- Feng Y, Press B, Wandinger-Ness A (1995) Rab 7: an important regulator of late endocytic membrane traffic. J Cell Biol 131:1435-1452.
- Figlewicz DP, Bentson K, Ocrant I (1993) The effect of insulin on norepinephrine uptake by PC12 cells. Brain Res Bull 32:425-431.
- Fillenz M (1990) Regulation of catecholamine synthesis: Multiple mechanisms and their significance. Neurochem Int 17:303-320.
- Foote SL, Aston-Jones G, Bloom FE (1980) Impulse activity of locus coeruleus neurons in awake rats and monkeys is a function of sensory stimulation and arousal. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:3033-3037.
- Foote SL, Bloom FE, Aston-Jones G (1983) Nucleus locus ceruleus: new evidence of anatomical and physiological specificity. Physiol Rev 63:844-914.
- Foote SL, Morrison JH (1987) Extrathalamic modulation of cortical function. Annu Rev Neurosci 10:67-95.
- Fornes A, Nunez E, Palonso-Torres P, Aragon C, Lopez-Corcuera B (2008) Trafficking properties and activity regulation of the neuronal glycine transporter GLYT2 by protein kinase C. Biochem J 412:495-506
- Foster JD, Adkins SD, Lever JR, Vaughan RA (2008) Phorbol ester induced trafficking-independent regulation and enhanced phosphorylation of the dopamine transporter associated with membrane rafts and cholesterol. J Neurochem 105:1683-1699.
- Frielle T, Kobilka B, Lefkowitz RJ, Caron MG (1988) Human beta 1- and beta 2-adrenergic receptors: structurally and functionally related receptors derived from distinct genes. Trends Neurosci 11:321-324.
- Fritz JD, Jayanthi LD, Thoreson MA, Blakely RD (1998) Cloning and chromosomal mapping of the murine norepinephrine transporter. J Neurochem 70:2241-2251.
- Galli A, Blakely RD, DeFelice LJ (1996) Norepinephrine transporters have channel modes of conduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:8671-8676.
- Galli A, DeFelice LJ, Duke BJ, Moore KR, Blakely RD (1995) Sodium-dependent norepinephrineinduced currents in norepinephrine-transportertransfected HEK-293 cells blocked by cocaine and antidepressants. J Exp Biol 198:2197-2212.
- Geffen LB, Livett BG (1971) Synaptic vesicles in sympathetic neurons. Physiol Rev 51:98-157.

- Gilsbach R, Hein L (2008) Presynaptic metabotropic receptors for acetylcholine and adrenaline/noradrenaline. Handb Exp Pharmacol:261-288.
- Gilsbach R, Faron-Gorecka A, Rogoz Z, Bruss M, Caron MG, Dziedzicka-Wasylewska M, Bonisch H (2006) Norepinephrine transporter knockoutinduced up-regulation of brain alpha2A/Cadrenergic receptors. J Neurochem 96:1111-1120.
- Giros B, Wang YM, Suter S, McLeskey SB, Pifl C, Caron MG (1994) Delineation of discrete domains for substrate, cocaine, and tricyclic antidepressant interactions using chimeric dopamine-norepinephrine transporters. J Biol Chem 269:15985-15988.
- Gompf HS, Mathai C, Fuller PM, Wood DA, Pedersen NP, Saper CB, Lu J (2010) Locus ceruleus and anterior cingulate cortex sustain wakefulness in a novel environment. J Neurosci 30:14543-14551.
- Gonzalez A, Smeets WJ (1991) Comparative analysis of dopamine and tyrosine hydroxylase immunoreactivities in the brain of two amphibians, the anuran Rana ridibunda and the urodele Pleurodeles waltlii. J Comp Neurol 303:457-477.
- Gorvel JP, Chavrier P, Zerial M, Gruenberg J (1991) rab5 controls early endosome fusion in vitro. Cell 64:915-925.
- Grenhoff J, Svensson TH (1989) Clonidine modulates dopamine cell firing in rat ventral tegmental area. Eur J Pharmacol 165:11-18.
- Grundemann D, Schechinger B, Rappold GA, Schomig E (1998) Molecular identification of the corticosterone-sensitive extraneuronal catecholamine transporter. Nat Neurosci 1:349-351.
- Grzanna R, Molliver ME (1980) The locus coeruleus in the rat: an immunohistochemical delineation. Neuroscience 5:21-40.
- Grzanna R, Fritschy JM (1991) Efferent projections of different subpopulations of central noradrenaline neurons. Prog Brain Res 88:89-101.
- Gu HH, Wall S, Rudnick G (1996) Ion coupling stoichiometry for the norepinephrine transporter in membrane vesicles from stably transfected cells. J Biol Chem 271:6911-6916.
- Gu HH, Wu X, Giros B, Caplan MJ, Rudnick G (2001) The NH2-terminus of Norepinephrine Transporter Contains a Basolateral Localization Signal for Epithelial Cells. Molecular Biology of the Cell 12:3797-3807
- Guyenet PG (1991) Central noradrenergic neurons: the autonomic connection. Prog Brain Res 88:365-380.

- Haenisch B, Bilkei-Gorzo A, Caron MG, Bonisch H (2009) Knockout of the norepinephrine transporter and pharmacologically diverse antidepressants prevent behavioral and brain neurotrophin alterations in two chronic stress models of depression. J Neurochem 111:403-416.
- Hahn MK, Blakely RD (2002) Monoamine transporter gene structure and polymorphisms in relation to psychiatric and other complex disorders. Pharmacogenomics J 2:217-235.
- Hahn MK, Blakely RB (2007) The Functional Impact of SLC6 Transporter Genetic Variation. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:401–441.
- Hahn MK, Robertson D, Blakely RD (2003) A Mutation in the Human Norepinephrine Transporter Gene (SLC6A2) Associated with Orthostatic Intolerance Disrupts Surface Expression of Mutant and Wild-Type Transporters. J Neurosci 23:4470–4478.
- Hajos M, Fleishaker JC, Filipiak-Reisner JK, Brown MT, Wong EH (2004) The selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor antidepressant reboxetine: pharmacological and clinical profile. CNS Drug Rev 10:23-44.
- Hanley JG, Henley JM (2005) PICK1 is a calciumsensor for NMDA-induced AMPA receptor trafficking. EMBO J 24:3266-3278.
- Harley CW (2007) Norepinephrine and the dentate gyrus. Prog Brain Res 163:299-318.
- Hastrup H, Karlin A, Javitch JA (2001) Symmetrical dimer of the human dopamine transporter revealed by cross-linking Cys-306 at the extracellular end of the sixth transmembrane segment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:10055-10060.
- Hebert C, Habimana A, Elie R, Reader TA (2001) Effects of chronic antidepressant treatments on 5-HT and NA transporters in rat brain: an autoradiographic study. Neurochem Int 38:63-74.
- Hein L (2006) Adrenoceptors and signal transduction in neurons. Cell Tissue Res 326:541-551.
- Hein L, Altman JD, Kobilka BK (1999) Two functionally distinct alpha2-adrenergic receptors regulate sympathetic neurotransmission. Nature 402:181-184.
- Hersch SM, Yi H, Heilman CJ, Edwards RH, Levey AI (1997) Subcellular localization and molecular topology of the dopamine transporter in the striatum and substantia nigra. J Comp Neurol 388:211-227.
- Hertz L, Chen Y, Gibbs ME, Zang P, Peng L (2004) Astrocytic adrenoceptors: a major drug target in neurological and psychiatric disorders? Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord 3:239-267.
- Hieble JP, Bondinell WE, Ruffolo RR, Jr. (1995) Alpha- and beta-adrenoceptors: from the gene to

the clinic. 1. Molecular biology and adrenoceptor subclassification. J Med Chem 38:3415-3444.

- Hobson JA, McCarley RW, Wyzinski PW (1975) Sleep cycle oscillation: reciprocal discharge by two brainstem neuronal groups. Science 189:55-58.
- Hoffer BJ, Siggins GR, Woodward DJ, Bloom FE (1971) Spontaneous discharge of Purkinje neurons after destruction of catecholaminecontaining afferents by 6-hydroxydopamine. Brain Res 30:425-430.
- Hokfelt T, Fuxe K (1969) Cerebellar monoamine nerve terminals, a new type of afferent fibers to the cortex cerebelli. Exp Brain Res 9:63-72.
- Hokfelt T, Johansson O, Goldstein M (1984) Chemical anatomy of the brain. Science 225:1326-1334.
- Holton KL, Loder MK, Melikian HE (2005) Nonclassical, distinct endocytic signals dictate constitutive and PKC-regulated neurotransmitter transporter internalization. Nat Neurosci 8:881-888.
- Howell LL, Kimmel HL (2008) Monoamine transporters and psychostimulant addiction. Biochem Pharmacol 75:196-217.
- Hu YF, Caron MG, Sieber-Blum M (2009) Norepinephrine transport-mediated gene expression in noradrenergic neurogenesis. BMC Genomics 10:151.
- Huang HP, Zhu FP, Chen XW, Xu ZQ, Zhang CX, Zhou Z (2012) Physiology of quantal norepinephrine release from somatodendritic sites of neurons in locus coeruleus. Front Mol Neurosci 5:29.
- Huff RA, Vaughan RA, Kuhar MJ, Uhl GR (1997) Phorbol esters increase dopamine transporter phosphorylation and decrease transport Vmax. J Neurochem 68:225-232.
- Iversen LL (1965) The uptake of catechol amines at high perfusion concentrations in the rat isolated heart: A novel catechol amine uptake process. Br J Pharmacol Chemother 25:18-33.
- Iversen LL (1971) Role of transmitter uptake mechanisms in synaptic neurotransmission. Br J Pharmacol 41:571-591.
- Iwakura Y, Nagano T, Kawamura M, Horikawa H, Ibaraki K, Takei N, Nawa H (2001) N-methyl-Daspartate-induced alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazoleproprionic acid (AMPA) receptor down-regulation involves interaction of the carboxyl terminus of GluR2/3 with Pick1. Ligand-binding studies using Sindbis vectors carrying AMPA receptor decoys. J Biol Chem 276:40025-40032.
- Jardetzky O (1966) Simple allosteric model for membrane pumps. Nature 211:969-970.

- Jayanthi LD, Annamalai, B., Samuvel, D. J., Gether, U., Ramamoorthy S. (2006) Phosphorylation of the Norepinephrine transporter at Threonine 258 and Serine 259 Is Linked to Protein Kinase Cmediated Transporter Internalization. J Biol Chem 281:23326-23340.
- Jayanthi LD, Samuvel DJ, Blakely RD, Ramamoorthy S (2005) Evidence for biphasic effects of protein kinase C on serotonin transporter function, endocytosis, and phosphorylation. Mol Pharmacol 67:2077-2087.
- Jayanthi LD, Samuvel DJ, Ramamoorthy S (2004) Regulated Internalization and Phosphorylation of the Native Norepinephrine Transporter in Response to Phorbol Esters: EVIDENCE FOR LOCALIZATION IN LIPID RAFTS AND LIPID RAFT-MEDIATED INTERNALIZATION J Biol Chem 279:19315-19326.
- Kanner BI, Schuldiner S (1987) Mechanism of transport and storage of neurotransmitters. CRC Crit Rev Biochem 22:1-38.
- Kantor L, Gnegy ME (1998) Protein kinase C inhibitors block amphetamine-mediated dopamine release in rat striatal slices. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 284:592-598.
- Kantor L, Hewlett GH, Park YH, Richardson-Burns SM, Mellon MJ, Gnegy ME (2001) Protein kinase C and intracellular calcium are required for amphetamine-mediated dopamine release via the norepinephrine transporter in undifferentiated PC12 cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 297:1016-1024.
- Kaufman S, Friedman S (1965) Dopamine-Beta-Hydroxylase. Pharmacol Rev 17:71-100.
- Kempadoo KA, Mosharov EV, Choi SJ, Sulzer D, Kandel ER (2016) Dopamine release from the locus coeruleus to the dorsal hippocampus promotes spatial learning and memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:14835-14840.
- Kemper CM, O'Connor DT, Westlund KN (1987) Immunocytochemical localization of dopaminebeta-hydroxylase in neurons of the human brain stem. Neuroscience 23:981-989.
- Kilic F, Rudnick G (2000) Oligomerization of serotonin transporter and its functional consequences. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:3106-3111.
- Kim C-H, Hahn MK, Joung Y, Anderson SL, Steele AH, Mazei-Robinson MS, Gizer I, Teicher MH, Cohen BM, Robertson D, Waldman ID, Blakely RD, Kim K-S (2006) A polymorphism in the norepinephrine transporter gene alters promoter activity and is associated with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:19164–19169.
- Kim CH, Kim HS, Cubells JF, Kim KS (1999) A previously undescribed intron and extensive 5'

upstream sequence, but not Phox2a-mediated transactivation, are necessary for high level cell type-specific expression of the human norepinephrine transporter gene. J Biol Chem 274:6507-6518.

- Kimmel HL, Carroll FI, Kuhar MJ (2000) Dopamine transporter synthesis and degradation rate in rat striatum and nucleus accumbens using RTI-76. Neuropharmacology 39:578-585.
- Kippenberger AG, Palmer DJ, Comer AM, Lipski J, Burton LD, Christie DL (1999) Localization of the noradrenaline transporter in rat adrenal medulla and PC12 cells: evidence for its association with secretory granules in PC12 cells. J Neurochem 73:1024-1032.
- Kitayama S, Kumagai K, Morita K, Dohi T (2002) Identification and functional characterization of the novel isoforms of bovine norepinephrine transporter produced by alternative splicing. Brain Res 934:152-156.
- Kitayama S, Ikeda T, Mitsuhata C, Sato T, Morita K, Dohi T (1999) Dominant negative isoform of rat norepinephrine transporter produced by alternative RNA splicing. J Biol Chem 274:10731-10736.
- Klimek V, Stockmeier C, Overholser J, Meltzer HY, Kalka S, Dilley G, Ordway GA (1997) Reduced levels of norepinephrine transporters in the locus coeruleus in major depression. J Neurosci 17:8451-8458.
- Klink A, Schiebel K, Winkelmann M, Rao E, Horsthemke B, Ludecke HJ, Claussen U, Scherer G, Rappold G (1995) The human protein kinase gene PKX1 on Xp22.3 displays Xp/Yp homology and is a site of chromosomal instability. Hum Mol Genet 4:869-878.
- Kocabas AM, Rudnick G, Kilic F (2003) Functional consequences of homo- but not heterooligomerization between transporters for the biogenic amine neurotransmitters. J Neurochem 85:1513-1520.
- Koh DS, Hille B (1997) Modulation by neurotransmitters of catecholamine secretion from sympathetic ganglion neurons detected by amperometry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:1506-1511.
- Kristensen AS, Andersen J, Jørgensen TN, Sørensen L, Eriksen J, Loland CJ, Strømgaard K, Gether U (2011) SLC6 Neurotransmitter Transporters: Structure,Function, and Regulation. Pharmacol Rev 63:585–640.
- Kupfermann I (1991) Functional studies of cotransmission. Physiol Rev 71:683-732.
- Lake CR, Pickar D, Ziegler MG, Lipper S, Slater S, Murphy DL (1982) High plasma norepinephrine levels in patients with major affective disorder. Am J Psychiatry 139:1315-1318.

- Larsen MB, Fjorback AW, Wiborg O (2006) The Cterminus is critical for the functional expression of the human serotonin transporter. Biochemistry 45:1331-1337.
- Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK (2005) Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science 308:512-517.
- Li H, Ma SK, Hu XP, Zhang GY, Fei J (2001) Norepinephrine transporter (NET) is expressed in cardiac sympathetic ganglia of adult rat. Cell Res 11:317-320.
- Lin DT, Huganir RL (2007) PICK1 and phosphorylation of the glutamate receptor 2 (GluR2) AMPA receptor subunit regulates GluR2 recycling after NMDA receptor-induced internalization. J Neurosci 27:13903-13908.
- Lingen B, Bruss M, Bonisch H (1994) Cloning and expression of the bovine sodium- and chloridedependent noradrenaline transporter. FEBS Lett 342:235-238.
- Liu Y, Peter D, Roghani A, Schuldiner S, Prive GG, Eisenberg D, Brecha N, Edwards RH (1992) A cDNA that suppresses MPP+ toxicity encodes a vesicular amine transporter. Cell 70:539-551.
- Livett BG (1973) Histochemical visualization of peripheral and central adrenergic neurones. Br Med Bull 29:93-99.
- Loder MK, Melikian HE (2003) The Dopamine Transporter Constitutively Internalizes and Recycles in a Protein Kinase C-regulated Manner in Stably Transfected PC12 Cell Lines. J Biol Chem 278:22168-22174.
- Lorang D, Amara SG, Simerly RB (1994) Cell-typespecific expression of catecholamine transporters in the rat brain. J Neurosci 14:4903-4914.
- Luppi PH, Aston-Jones G, Akaoka H, Chouvet G, Jouvet M (1995) Afferent projections to the rat locus coeruleus demonstrated by retrograde and anterograde tracing with cholera-toxin B subunit and Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. Neuroscience 65:119-160.
- MacDonald E, Kobilka BK, Scheinin M (1997) Gene targeting--homing in on alpha 2-adrenoceptorsubtype function. Trends Pharmacol Sci 18:211-219.
- Macey DJ, Smith HR, Nader MA, Porrino LJ (2003) Chronic cocaine self-administration upregulates the norepinephrine transporter and alters functional activity in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis of the rhesus monkey. J Neurosci 23:12-16.
- Madsen KL, Thorsen TS, Rahbek-Clemmensen T, Eriksen J, Gether U (2012) Protein interacting with C kinase 1 (PICK1) reduces reinsertion rates of interaction partners sorted to Rab11-dependent

slow recycling pathway. J Biol Chem 287:12293-12308.

- Madsen KL, Beuming T, Niv MY, Chang CW, Dev KK, Weinstein H, Gether U (2005) Molecular determinants for the complex binding specificity of the PDZ domain in PICK1. J Biol Chem 280:20539-20548.
- Madsen KL, Eriksen J, Milan-Lobo L, Han DS, Niv MY, Ammendrup-Johnsen I, Henriksen U, Bhatia VK, Stamou D, Sitte HH, McMahon HT, Weinstein H, Gether U (2008) Membrane localization is critical for activation of the PICK1 BAR domain. Traffic 9:1327-1343.
- Mandela P, Ordway GA (2006a) KCl stimulation increases norepinephrine transporter function in PC12 cells. J Neurochem 98:1521-1530.
- Mandela P, Ordway GA (2006b) The norepinephrine transporter and its regulation. J Neurochem 97:310-333.
- Mao W, Iwai C, Qin F, Liang CS (2005) Norepinephrine induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and downregulation of norepinephrine transporter density in PC12 cells via oxidative stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 288:2381-2389.
- Mao W, Qin F, Iwai C, Vulapalli R, Keng PC, Liang CS (2004) Extracellular norepinephrine reduces neuronal uptake of norepinephrine by oxidative stress in PC12 cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 287:29-39.
- Mash DC, Ouyang Q, Qin Y, Pablo J (2005) Norepinephrine transporter immunoblotting and radioligand binding in cocaine abusers. J Neurosci Methods 143:79-85.
- Masters BA, Shemer J, Judkins JH, Clarke DW, Le Roith D, Raizada MK (1987) Insulin receptors and insulin action in dissociated brain cells. Brain Res 417:247-256.
- Matthies HJ, Han Q, Shields A, Wright J, Moore JL, Winder DG, Galli A, Blakely RD (2009) Subcellular localization of the antidepressantsensitive norepinephrine transporter. BMC Neurosci 10:65.
- Matthies HJ, Moore JL, Saunders C, Matthies DS, Lapierre LA, Goldenring JR, Blakely RD, Galli A (2010) Rab11 supports amphetamine-stimulated norepinephrine transporter trafficking. J Neurosci 30:7863-7877.
- Mattson MP, Bruce-Keller AJ (1999) Compartmentalization of signaling in neurons: evolution and deployment. J Neurosci Res 58:2-9.
- Maxfield FR, McGraw TE (2004) Endocytic recycling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:121-132.
- May V, Brandenburg CA, Braas KM (1995) Differential regulation of sympathetic neuron

neuropeptide Y and catecholamine content and secretion. J Neurosci 15:4580-4591.

- Melikian HE, McDonald JK, Gu H, Rudnick G, Moore KR, Blakely RD (1994) Human norepinephrine transporter. Biosynthetic studies using a site-directed polyclonal antibody. J Biol Chem 269:12290-12297.
- Melikian HE, Ramamoorthy S, Tate CG, Blakely RD (1996) Inability to N-glycosylate the human norepinephrine transporter reduces protein stability, surface trafficking, and transport activity but not ligand recognition. Mol Pharmacol 50:266-276.
- Meresse S, Gorvel JP, Chavrier P (1995) The rab7 GTPase resides on a vesicular compartment connected to lysosomes. J Cell Sci 108:3349-3358.
- Mertens J, Marchetto MC, Bardy C, Gage FH (2016) Evaluating cell reprogramming, differentiation and conversion technologies in neuroscience. Nat Rev Neurosci 17:424-437.
- Miner LH, Schroeter S, Blakely RD, Sesack SR (2000) Ultrastructural localization of the serotonin transporter in superficial and deep layers of the rat prelimbic prefrontal cortex and its spatial relationship to dopamine terminals. J Comp Neurol 427:220-234.
- Miner LH, Schroeter S, Blakely RD, Sesack SR (2003) Ultrastructural localization of the norepinephrine transporter in superficial and deep layers of the rat prelimbic prefrontal cortex and its spatial relationship to probable dopamine terminals. J Comp Neurol 466:478-494.
- Mollenhauer HH, Morre DJ, Rowe LD (1990) Alteration of intracellular traffic by monensin; mechanism, specificity and relationship to toxicity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1031:225-246.
- Moore RY, Bloom FE (1979) Central catecholamine neuron systems: anatomy and physiology of the norepinephrine and epinephrine systems. Annu Rev Neurosci 2:113-168.
- Moron JA, Brockington A, Wise RA, Rocha BA, Hope BT (2002) Dopamine Uptake through the Norepinephrine Transporter in Brain Regions with Low Levels of the Dopamine Transporter: Evidence from Knock-Out Mouse Lines. J Neurosci 22:389–395
- Murchison CF, Zhang XY, Zhang WP, Ouyang M, Lee A, Thomas SA (2004) A distinct role for norepinephrine in memory retrieval. Cell 117:131-143.
- Muth TR, Ahn J, Caplan MJ (1998) Identification of sorting determinants in the C-terminal cytoplasmic tails of the gamma-aminobutyric acid transporters GAT-2 and GAT-3. J Biol Chem 273:25616-25627.

- Nakamura S, Iwama K (1975) Antidromic activation of the rat locus coeruleus neurons from hippocampus, cerebral and cerebellar cortices. Brain Res 99:372-376.
- Nguyen TT, Amara SG (1996) N-linked oligosaccharides are required for cell surface expression of the norepinephrine transporter but do not influence substrate or inhibitor recognition. J Neurochem 67:645-655.
- Nirenberg MJ, Vaughan RA, Uhl GR, Kuhar MJ, Pickel VM (1996) The dopamine transporter is localized to dendritic and axonal plasma membranes of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons. J Neurosci 16:436-447.
- Norenberg W, Schoffel E, Szabo B, Starke K (1997) Subtype determination of soma-dendritic alpha2autoreceptors in slices of rat locus coeruleus. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 356:159-165.
- Ordway GA (1995) Effect of noradrenergic lesions on subtypes of alpha 2-adrenoceptors in rat brain. J Neurochem 64:1118-1126.
- Ordway GA, Jia W, Li J, Zhu MY, Mandela P, Pan J (2005) Norepinephrine transporter function and desipramine: residual drug effects versus shortterm regulation. J Neurosci Methods 143:217-225.
- Ordway GA, Stockmeier CA, Cason GW, Klimek V (1997) Pharmacology and distribution of norepinephrine transporters in the human locus coeruleus and raphe nuclei. J Neurosci 17:1710-1719.
- Otto GP, Nichols BJ (2011) The roles of flotillin microdomains--endocytosis and beyond. J Cell Sci 124:3933-3940.
- Owens MJ, Morgan WN, Plott SJ, Nemeroff CB (1997) Neurotransmitter receptor and transporter binding profile of antidepressants and their metabolites. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 283:1305-1322.
- Pacholczyk T, Blakely RD, Amara SG (1991) Expression cloning of a Cocaine- and Antidepressant-sensitive Human Noradrenaline Transporter. Nature 350:350-354.
- Palacios JM, Hoyer D, Cortes R (1987) alpha 1-Adrenoceptors in the mammalian brain: similar pharmacology but different distribution in rodents and primates. Brain Res 419:65-75.
- Patel AP, Cerruti C, Vaughan RA, Kuhar MJ (1994) Developmentally regulated glycosylation of dopamine transporter. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 83:53-58.
- Penmatsa A, Gouaux E (2014) How LeuT shapes our understanding of the mechanisms of sodiumcoupled neurotransmitter transporters. J Physiol 592:863-869.

- Penmatsa A, Wang KH, Gouaux E (2013a) X-ray structure of dopamine transporter elucidates antidepressant mechanism. Nature 503:85-90.
- Penmatsa A, Wang KH, Gouaux E (2015) X-ray structures of Drosophila dopamine transporter in complex with nisoxetine and reboxetine. Nat Struct Mol Biol 22:506-508.
- Perego C, Bulbarelli A, Longhi R, Caimi M, Villa A, Caplan MJ, Pietrini G (1997) Sorting of two polytopic proteins, the gamma-aminobutyric acid and betaine transporters, in polarized epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 272:6584-6592.
- Philipp M, Hein L (2004) Adrenergic receptor knockout mice: distinct functions of 9 receptor subtypes. Pharmacol Ther 101:65-74.
- Philipp M, Brede M, Hein L (2002a) Physiological significance of alpha(2)-adrenergic receptor subtype diversity: one receptor is not enough. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283:287-295.
- Philipp M, Brede ME, Hadamek K, Gessler M, Lohse MJ, Hein L (2002b) Placental alpha(2)adrenoceptors control vascular development at the interface between mother and embryo. Nat Genet 31:311-315.
- Pickel VM, Joh TH, Field PM, Becker CG, Reis DJ (1975b) Cellular localization of tyrosine hydroxylase by immunohistochemistry. J Histochem Cytochem 23:1-12.
- Pickel VM, Joh TH, Reis DJ (1975a) Ultrastructural localization of tyrosine hydroxylase in noradrenergic neurons of brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72:659-663.
- Pickel VM, Nirenberg MJ, Milner TA (1996) Ultrastructural view of central catecholaminergic transmission: immunocytochemical localization of synthesizing enzymes, transporters and receptors. J Neurocytol 25:843-856.
- Porzgen P, Bonisch H, Bruss M (1995) Molecular cloning and organization of the coding region of the human norepinephrine transporter gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 215:1145-1150.
- Porzgen P, Bonisch H, Hammermann R, Bruss M (1998) The human noradrenaline transporter gene contains multiple polyadenylation sites and two alternatively spliced C-terminal exons. Biochim Biophys Acta 1398:365-370.
- Qian Y, Melikian HE, Rye DB, Levey AI, Blakely RD (1995) Identification and characterization of antidepressant-sensitive serotonin transporter proteins using site-specific antibodies. J Neurosci 15:1261-1274.
- Rahbek-Clemmensen T, Bay T, Eriksen J, Gether U, Jørgensen TN (2014b) The Serotonin Transporter Undergoes Constitutive Internalization and Is Primarily Sorted to Late Endosomes and

Lysosomal Degradation. J Biol Chem 289:23004-23019.

- Ramamoorthy S, Giovanetti E, Qian Y, Blakely RD (1998) Phosphorylation and regulation of antidepressant-sensitive serotonin transporters. J Biol Chem 273:2458-2466.
- Ramamoorthy S, Prasad PD, Kulanthaivel P, Leibach FH, Blakely RD, Ganapathy V (1993) Expression of a cocaine-sensitive norepinephrine transporter in the human placental syncytiotrophoblast. Biochemistry 32:1346-1353.
- Rasmussen TN, Plenge P, Bay T, Egebjerg J, Gether U (2009) A single nucleotide polymorphism in the human serotonin transporter introduces a new site for N-linked glycosylation. Neuropharmacology 57:287-294.
- Ressler KJ, Nemeroff CB (1999) Role of norepinephrine in the pathophysiology and treatment of mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry 46:1219-1233.
- Rickhag M, Hansen FH, Sorensen G, Strandfelt KN, Andresen B, Gotfryd K, Madsen KL, Vestergaard-Klewe I, Ammendrup-Johnsen I, Eriksen J, Newman AH, Fuchtbauer EM, Gomeza J, Woldbye DP, Wortwein G, Gether U (2013) A C-terminal PDZ domain-binding sequence is required for striatal distribution of the dopamine transporter. Nat Commun 4:1580-1593.
- Ritz MC, Cone EJ, Kuhar MJ (1990) Cocaine inhibition of ligand binding at dopamine, norepinephrine and serotonin transporters: a structure-activity study. Life Sci 46:635-645.
- Robertson D, Flattem N, Tellioglu T, Carson R, Garland E, Shannon JR, Jordan J, Jacob G, Blakely RD, Biaggioni I (2001) Familial orthostatic tachycardia due to norepinephrine transporter deficiency. Ann N Y Acad Sci 940:527-543.
- Robertson SD, Matthies HJ, Galli A (2009) A closer look at amphetamine-induced reverse transport and trafficking of the dopamine and norepinephrine transporters. Mol Neurobiol 39:73-80.
- Robertson SD, Matthies HJ, Owens WA, Sathananthan V, Christianson NS, Kennedy JP, Lindsley CW, Daws LC, Galli A (2010) Insulin reveals Akt signaling as a novel regulator of norepinephrine transporter trafficking and norepinephrine homeostasis. J Neurosci 30:11305-11316.
- Robertson SD, Plummer NW, de Marchena J, Jensen P (2013) Developmental origins of central norepinephrine neuron diversity. Nat Neurosci 16:1016-1023.
- Rocca DL, Martin S, Jenkins EL, Hanley JG (2008) Inhibition of Arp2/3-mediated actin polymerization by PICK1 regulates neuronal

morphology and AMPA receptor endocytosis. Nat Cell Biol 10:259-271.

- Rocha BA, Fumagalli F, Gainetdinov RR, Jones SR, Ator R, Giros B, Miller GW, Caron MG (1998) Cocaine self-administration in dopaminetransporter knockout mice. Nat Neurosci 1:132-137.
- Rohrer DK, Kobilka BK (1998) Insights from in vivo modification of adrenergic receptor gene expression. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 38:351-373.
- Rosenbaum DM, Rasmussen SG, Kobilka BK (2009) The structure and function of G-protein-coupled receptors. Nature 459:356-363.
- Ross RA, Joh TH, Reis DJ (1975) Reversible changes in the accumulation and activities of tyrosine hydroxylase and dopamine-beta-hydroxylase in neurons of nucleus locus coeruleus during the retrograde reaction. Brain Res 92:57-72.
- Roussel B, Buguet A, Bobillier P, Jouvet M (1967) [Locus ceruleus, paradoxal sleep, and cerebral noradrenaline]. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil 161:2537-2541.
- Rubin RP (2007) A brief history of great discoveries in pharmacology: in celebration of the centennial anniversary of the founding of the American Society of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. Pharmacol Rev 59:289-359.
- Ruffolo RR, Jr., Hieble JP (1994) Alphaadrenoceptors. Pharmacol Ther 61:1-64.
- Russell GV (1955) The nucleus locus coeruleus (dorsolateralis tegmenti). Tex Rep Biol Med 13:939-988.
- Sacchetti G, Bernini M, Bianchetti A, Parini S, Invernizzi RW, Samanin R (1999) Studies on the acute and chronic effects of reboxetine on extracellular noradrenaline and other monoamines in the rat brain. Br J Pharmacol 128:1332-1338.
- Samuvel DJ, Jayanthi LD, Bhat NR, Ramamoorthy S (2005) A role for p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in the regulation of the serotonin transporter: evidence for distinct cellular mechanisms involved in transporter surface expression. J Neurosci 25:29-41.
- Sanders JD, Happe HK, Bylund DB, Murrin LC (2005) Development of the norepinephrine transporter in the rat CNS. Neuroscience 130:107-117.
- Sara SJ (2009) The locus coeruleus and noradrenergic modulation of cognition. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:211-223.
- Savchenko V, Sung U, Blakely RD (2003) Cell surface trafficking of the antidepressant-sensitive norepinephrine transporter revealed with an ectodomain antibody. Mol Cell Neurosci 24:1131-1150.

- Scheibner J, Trendelenburg AU, Hein L, Starke K (2001) Alpha2-adrenoceptors modulating neuronal serotonin release: a study in alpha2adrenoceptor subtype-deficient mice. Br J Pharmacol 132:925-933.
- Scholze P, Freissmuth M, Sitte HH (2002) Mutations within an intramembrane leucine heptad repeat disrupt oligomer formation of the rat GABA transporter 1. J Biol Chem 277:43682-43690.
- Schomig E, Fischer P, Schonfeld CL, Trendelenburg U (1989) The extent of neuronal re-uptake of 3Hnoradrenaline in isolated vasa deferentia and atria of the rat. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 340:502-508.
- Schroeter S, Apparsundaram S, Wiley RG, Miner LH, Sesack SR, Blakely RD (2000) Immunolocalization of the cocaine- and antidepressant-sensitive l-norepinephrine transporter. J Comp Neurol 420:211-232.
- Schwartz SL, Cao C, Pylypenko O, Rak A, Wandinger-Ness A (2008) Rab GTPases at a glance. Journal of Cell Science 121:246-246.
- Schwarz LA, Miyamichi K, Gao XJ, Beier KT, Weissbourd B, DeLoach KE, Ren J, Ibanes S, Malenka RC, Kremer EJ, Luo L (2015) Viralgenetic tracing of the input-output organization of a central noradrenaline circuit. Nature.
- Shannon JR, Flattem NL, Jordan J, Jacob G, K. BB, Biaggioni I, Blakely RD, Robertson D (2000) Orthostatic intolerance and tachycardia associated with norepinephrine-transporter deficiency. The New England Journal of Medicine 342:541-549.
- Sieber-Blum M, Ren Z (2000) Norepinephrine transporter expression and function in noradrenergic cell differentiation. Mol Cell Biochem 212:61-70.
- Simonneaux V, Ribelayga C (2003) Generation of the melatonin endocrine message in mammals: a review of the complex regulation of melatonin synthesis by norepinephrine, peptides, and other pineal transmitters. Pharmacol Rev 55:325-395.
- Singh SK, Yamashita A, Gouaux E (2007) Antidepressant binding site in a bacterial homologue of neurotransmitter transporters. Nature 448:952-956.
- Singh SK, Piscitelli CL, Yamashita A, Gouaux E (2008) A competitive inhibitor traps LeuT in an open-to-out conformation. Science 322:1655-1661.
- Sirvio J, MacDonald E (1999) Central alphaladrenoceptors: their role in the modulation of attention and memory formation. Pharmacol Ther 83:49-65.
- Sitte HH, Farhan H, Javitch JA (2004) Sodiumdependent neurotransmitter transporters:

oligomerization as a determinant of transporter function and trafficking. Mol Interv 4:38-47.

- Siuta MA, Robertson SD, Kocalis H, Saunders C, Gresch PJ, Khatri V, Shiota C, Kennedy JP, Lindsley CW, Daws LC, Polley DB, Veenstra-Vanderweele J, Stanwood GD, Magnuson MA, Niswender KD, Galli A (2010) Dysregulation of the norepinephrine transporter sustains cortical hypodopaminergia and schizophrenia-like behaviors in neuronal rictor null mice. PLoS Biol 8:e1000393.
- Smith CC, Greene RW (2012) CNS dopamine transmission mediated by noradrenergic innervation. J Neurosci 32:6072-6080.
- Solich J, Palach P, Budziszewska B, Dziedzicka-Wasylewska M (2008) Effect of two behavioral tests on corticosterone level in plasma of mice lacking the noradrenaline transporter. Pharmacol Rep 60:1008-1013.
- Solich J, Faron-Gorecka A, Kusmider M, Palach P, Gaska M, Dziedzicka-Wasylewska M (2011) Norepinephrine transporter (NET) knock-out upregulates dopamine and serotonin transporters in the mouse brain. Neurochem Int 59:185-191.
- Sora I, Hall FS, Andrews AM, Itokawa M, Li XF, Wei HB, Wichems C, Lesch KP, Murphy DL, Uhl GR (2001) Molecular mechanisms of cocaine reward: combined dopamine and serotonin transporter knockouts eliminate cocaine place preference. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:5300-5305.
- Sorkina T, Hoover BR, Zahniser NR, Sorkin A (2005) Constitutive and protein kinase C-induced internalization of the dopamine transporter is mediated by a clathrin-dependent mechanism. Traffic 6:157-170.
- Sorkina T, Doolen S, Galperin E, Zahniser NR, Sorkin A (2003) Oligomerization of dopamine transporters visualized in living cells by fluorescence resonance energy transfer microscopy. J Biol Chem 278:28274-28283.
- Spector S (1966) Inhibitors of endogenous catecholamine biosynthesis. Pharmacol Rev 18:599-609.
- Starke K (2001) Presynaptic autoreceptors in the third decade: focus on alpha2-adrenoceptors. J Neurochem 78:685-693.
- Stenmark H (2009) Rab GTPases as coordinators of vesicle traffic. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:513-525.
- Sternberg DE, Charney DS, Heninger GR, Leckman JF, Hafstad KM, Landis DH (1982) Impaired presynaptic regulation of norepinephrine in schizophrenia. Effects of clonidine in schizophrenic patients and normal controls. Arch Gen Psychiatry 39:285-289.

- Stone EA, Ariano MA (1989) Are glial cells targets of the central noradrenergic system? A review of the evidence. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 14:297-309.
- Sucic S, Bryan-Lluka LJ (2005) Roles of transmembrane domain 2 and the first intracellular loop in human noradrenaline transporter function: pharmacological and SCAM analysis. J Neurochem 94:1620-1630.
- Sulzer D, Sonders MS, Poulsen NW, Galli A (2005) Mechanisms of neurotransmitter release by amphetamines: a review. Prog Neurobiol 75:406-433.
- Sung U, Blakely RD (2007) Calcium-dependent interactions of the human norepinephrine transporter with syntaxin 1A. Mol Cell Neurosci 34:251-260.
- Sung U, Apparsundaram S, Galli A, Kahlig KM, Savchenko V, Schroeter S, Quick MW, Blakely RD (2003) A Regulated Interaction of Syntaxin 1A with the Antidepressant-Sensitive Norepinephrine Transporter Establishes Catecholamine Clearance Capacity. J Neurosci 23:1697–1709.
- Surprenant A, Horstman DA, Akbarali H, Limbird LE (1992) A point mutation of the alpha 2adrenoceptor that blocks coupling to potassium but not calcium currents. Science 257:977-980.
- Swanson LW (1976) The locus coeruleus: a cytoarchitectonic, Golgi and immunohistochemical study in the albino rat. Brain Res 110:39-56.
- Swanson LW, Hartman BK (1975) The central adrenergic system. An immunofluorescence study of the location of cell bodies and their efferent connections in the rat utilizing dopamine-betahydroxylase as a marker. J Comp Neurol 163:467-505.
- Szabadi E (2013) Functional neuroanatomy of the central noradrenergic system. J Psychopharmacol 27:659-693.
- Szot P, Ashliegh EA, Kohen R, Petrie E, Dorsa DM, Veith R (1993) Norepinephrine transporter mRNA is elevated in the locus coeruleus following short- and long-term desipramine treatment. Brain Res 618:308-312.
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663-676.
- Takahashi K, Kayama Y, Lin JS, Sakai K (2010) Locus coeruleus neuronal activity during the sleep-waking cycle in mice. Neuroscience 169:1115-1126.
- Takemori H, Okamoto M (2008) Regulation of CREB-mediated gene expression by salt inducible kinase. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 108:287-291.

- Tatsumi M, Groshan K, Blakely RD, Richelson E (1997) Pharmacological profile of antidepressants and related compounds at human monoamine transporters. Eur J Pharmacol 340:249-258.
- Taub M, Springate JE, Cutuli F (2010) Targeting of renal proximal tubule Na,K-ATPase by saltinducible kinase. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 393:339-344.
- Tejani-Butt SM (1992) [3H]nisoxetine: a radioligand for quantitation of norepinephrine uptake sites by autoradiography or by homogenate binding. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 260:427-436.
- Tejani-Butt SM, Ordway GA (1992) Effect of age on [3H]nisoxetine binding to uptake sites for norepinephrine in the locus coeruleus of humans. Brain Res 583:312-315.
- Tejani-Butt SM, Brunswick DJ, Frazer A (1990) [3H]nisoxetine: a new radioligand for norepinephrine uptake sites in brain. Eur J Pharmacol 191:239-243.
- Tejani-Butt SM, Yang J, Zaffar H (1993) Norepinephrine transporter sites are decreased in the locus coeruleus in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 631:147-150.
- Tellioglu T, Robertson D (2001) Genetic or acquired deficits in the norepinephrine transporter: current understanding of clinical implications. Expert Rev Mol Med 2001:1-10.
- Thorsen TS, Madsen KL, Rebola N, Rathje M, Anggono V, Bach A, Moreira IS, Stuhr-Hansen N, Dyhring T, Peters D, Beuming T, Huganir R, Weinstein H, Mulle C, Stromgaard K, Ronn LC, Gether U (2010) Identification of a smallmolecule inhibitor of the PICK1 PDZ domain that inhibits hippocampal LTP and LTD. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:413-418.
- Torres GE, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG (2003a) Plasma membrane monoamine transporters: structure, regulation and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 4:13-25.
- Torres GE, Carneiro A, Seamans K, Fiorentini C, Sweeney A, Yao WD, Caron MG (2003b) Oligomerization and trafficking of the human dopamine transporter. Mutational analysis identifies critical domains important for the functional expression of the transporter. J Biol Chem 278: 2731-2739.
- Torres GE, Yao WD, Mohn A, Quan H, Kim K, Levey A, Staudinger J, Caron MG (2001) Functional Interaction between Monoamine Plasma Membrane Transporters and the Synaptic PDZ Domain–Containing Protein PICK1. Neuron 30: 121–134.
- Trendelenburg AU, Norenberg W, Hein L, Meyer A, Starke K (2001) Alpha2-adrenoceptor-mediated inhibition of cultured sympathetic neurons: changes in alpha2A/D-adrenoceptor-deficient

mice. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 363:110-119.

- Trendelenburg AU, Philipp M, Meyer A, Klebroff W, Hein L, Starke K (2003) All three alpha2adrenoceptor types serve as autoreceptors in postganglionic sympathetic neurons. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 368:504-512.
- Trendelenburg U (1978) Extraneuronal uptake and metabolism of catecholamines as a site of loss. Life Sci 22:1217-1222.
- Trendelenburg U, Russ H, Schomig E (1991) Energy requirements for the basal efflux of noradrenaline and its metabolites from adrenergic varicosities. J Neural Transm Suppl 34:19-25.
- Ullrich O, Reinsch S, Urbe S, Zerial M, Parton RG (1996) Rab11 regulates recycling through the pericentriolar recycling endosome. J Cell Biol 135:913-924.
- Ungerer M, Chlistalla A, Richardt G (1996) Upregulation of cardiac uptake 1 carrier in ischemic and nonischemic rat heart. Circ Res 78:1037-1043.
- Ungerstedt U (1971) Stereotaxic mapping of the monoamine pathways in the rat brain. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 367:1-48.
- Urwin RE, Bennetts B, Wilcken B, Lampropoulos B, Beumont P, Clarke S, Russell J, Tanner S, Nunn KP (2002) Anorexia nervosa (restrictive subtype) is associated with a polymorphism in the novel norepinephrine transporter gene promoter polymorphic region. Mol Psychiatry 7:652-657.
- van Kammen DP, Antelman S (1984) Impaired noradrenergic transmission in schizophrenia? Life Sci 34:1403-1413.
- Vaughan RA, Huff RA, Uhl GR, Kuhar MJ (1997) Protein kinase C-mediated phosphorylation and functional regulation of dopamine transporters in striatal synaptosomes. J Biol Chem 272:15541-15546.
- Vicentic A, Battaglia G, Carroll FI, Kuhar MJ (1999) Serotonin transporter production and degradation rates: studies with RTI-76. Brain Res 841:1-10.
- Wall SC, Gu H, Rudnick G (1995) Biogenic amine flux mediated by cloned transporters stably expressed in cultured cell lines: amphetamine specificity for inhibition and efflux. Mol Pharmacol 47:544-550.
- Wang KH, Penmatsa A, Gouaux E (2015) Neurotransmitter and psychostimulant recognition by the dopamine transporter. Nature 521:322-327.
- Weiner N (1970) Regulation of norepinephrine biosynthesis. Annu Rev Pharmacol 10:273-290.
- Williams JM, Owens WA, Turner GH, Saunders C, Dipace C, Blakely RD, France CP, Gore JC, Daws LC, Avison MJ, Galli A (2007)

Hypoinsulinemia regulates amphetamine-induced reverse transport of dopamine. PLoS Biol 5:274-284

- Williams JT, Marshall KC (1987) Membrane properties and adrenergic responses in locus coeruleus neurons of young rats. J Neurosci 7:3687-3694.
- Williams JT, North RA, Shefner SA, Nishi S, Egan TM (1984) Membrane properties of rat locus coeruleus neurones. Neuroscience 13:137-156.
- Winder DG, Martin KC, Muzzio IA, Rohrer D, Chruscinski A, Kobilka B, Kandel ER (1999) ERK plays a regulatory role in induction of LTP by theta frequency stimulation and its modulation by beta-adrenergic receptors. Neuron 24:715-726.
- Wu LG, Hamid E, Shin W, Chiang HC (2014) Exocytosis and endocytosis: modes, functions, and coupling mechanisms. Annu Rev Physiol 76:301-331.
- Wu X, Kekuda R, Huang W, Fei YJ, Leibach FH, Chen J, Conway SJ, Ganapathy V (1998) Identity of the organic cation transporter OCT3 as the extraneuronal monoamine transporter (uptake2) and evidence for the expression of the transporter in the brain. J Biol Chem 273:32776-32786.
- Xu F, Gainetdinov RR, Wetsel WC, Jones SR, Bohn LM, Miller GW, Wang YM, Caron MG (2000) Mice lacking the norepinephrine transporter are supersensitive to psychostimulants. Nat Neurosci 3:465-471.
- Yamashita A, Singh SK, Kawate, Jin Y, Gouaux E (2005) Crystal structure of a bacterial homologue of Na1/Cl2-dependent neurotransmitter transporters. Nature 437:215-223.
- Yavich L, Lappalainen R, Sirvio J, Haapalinna A, MacDonald E (1997) Alpha2-adrenergic control of dopamine overflow and metabolism in mouse striatum. Eur J Pharmacol 339:113-119.
- Yehuda R, Siever LJ, Teicher MH, Levengood RA, Gerber DK, Schmeidler J, Yang RK (1998) Plasma norepinephrine and 3-methoxy-4hydroxyphenylglycol concentrations and severity of depression in combat posttraumatic stress disorder and major depressive disorder. Biol Psychiatry 44:56-63.
- Zahniser NR, Doolen S (2001) Chronic and acute regulation of Na+/Cl- -dependent neurotransmitter transporters: drugs, substrates, presynaptic receptors, and signaling systems. Pharmacol Ther 92:21-55.
- Zarow C, Lyness SA, Mortimer JA, Chui HC (2003) Neuronal loss is greater in the locus coeruleus than nucleus basalis and substantia nigra in Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases. Arch Neurol 60:337-341.

- Zhao Z, Baros AM, Zhang HT, Lapiz MD, Bondi CO, Morilak DA, O'Donnell JM (2008) Norepinephrine transporter regulation mediates the long-term behavioral effects of the antidepressant desipramine. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:3190-3200.
- Zhou Z, Misler S (1995) Amperometric detection of stimulus-induced quantal release of catecholamines from cultured superior cervical ganglion neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:6938-6942.
- Zhao Z, Zhang HT, Bootzin E, Millan MJ, O'Donnell JM (2009) Association of changes in norepinephrine and serotonin transporter expression with the long-term behavioral effects of antidepressant drugs. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:1467-1481.
- Zhu MY, Blakely RD, Apparsundaram S, Ordway GA (1998) Down-regulation of the human norepinephrine transporter in intact 293-hNET

cells exposed to desipramine. J Neurochem 70:1547-1555.

- Zhu MY, Shamburger S, Li J, Ordway GA (2000) Regulation of the human norepinephrine transporter by cocaine and amphetamine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 295:951-959.
- Zhu MY, Ordway GA (1997) Down-regulation of norepinephrine transporters on PC12 cells by transporter inhibitors. J Neurochem 68:134-141.
- Zigmond RE, Schwarzschild MA, Rittenhouse AR (1989) Acute regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase by nerve activity and by neurotransmitters via phosphorylation. Annu Rev Neurosci 12:415-461.
- Zimmermann B, Chiorini JA, Ma Y, Kotin RM, Herberg FW (1999) PrKX is a novel catalytic subunit of the cAMP-dependent protein kinase regulated by the regulatory subunit type I. J Biol Chem 274:5370-5378.





Turun yliopisto University of Turku

ISBN 978-951-29-7130-5 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-7131-2 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 (PRINT) | ISSN 2343-3213 (PDF)